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I. 	Request for Further Appellate Review 

Appellants Marcia, Harold and Rebecca Rhodes 

(collectively, the "Rhodes Family") hereby request 

leave for further appellate review because neither the 

trial court nor the Appeals Court applied the plain, 

unambiguous mandate of c. 93A. This statute requires 

the doubling or tripling of an underlying judgment upon 

the finding of willful and knowing violations of 

c. 176D. In this case, the underlying judgment is 

$11.3 million. Accordingly, the Rhodes Family is 

entitled to a judgment of at least $22.6 million. 

The Appeals Court properly found that National Union 

Fire Insurance Co. of Pittsburgh, PA ("National Union") 

and its agent, AIG Domestic Claims, Inc. (collectively 

"AIGDC") knowingly and willfully violated chs. 176D/93A 

both before and after judgment entered on the 

underlying jury verdict. Yet, the Court did not apply 

the statute as plainly written. Rather, without any 

statutory . basis, it ruled that the amount of the pre-

judyment damages to be multiplied on remand should be 

measured by loss of use principles. 
7t; 

In doing so, the Appeals Court turned back the 

clock to the state of the law as it existed before 

1989. At that time, the Legislature abandoned the 

method of imposing punitive damages under c. 93A based 

on the loss of use damages and determined that enhanced 

punitive damages were necessary. 
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Compounding this error, the Appeals Court affirmed 

the award of doubling loss of use damages as punitive 

damages for AIGDC's post-judgment willful and knowing 

violation. In determining that this conforms to the 

"statutory purpose," the Court: 1) relied on a 1983 

decision; 2) did not address the 1989 amendment to the 

punitive damages provision of c. 93A; 3) overlooked 

several months of post-judgment litigation activity 

that resulted from the insurer's willful and knowing 

violation;. and 4) cited this . Court's decision in RW 

Granger v. J&S Insulation with approval multiple times, 

but declined to follow its precedent. 

The Appeals Court also failed to consider that 

Zurich American Ins. Co. ("Zurich") made no response to 

the claim for over 24 months and ignored its claims 

administrator's recommendations in the first eighteen 

months after Marcia Rhodes was paralyzed. The Appeals 

Court also failed to.include emotional distress damages 

and costs of litigation in the remand order. 

That the decision is the result of a sharply 

divided panel also demonstrates the need for further 

appellate review. 

II. Statement of Prior Proceedings  

In April 2005, after receiving an $11.3 million 

judgment on a jury verdict, and while the insurers 

continued to pursue an appeal, the Rhodes Family filed 

suit against the primary and excess insurers (Zurich 

and AIGDC, respectively) for violations of chs. 176D 
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and 93A. Sixteen months after a 16-day bench trial in 

early 2007, the trial court held that despite failing 

to make any settlement offer or to tender its policy 

limits for more than two years, Zurich did not violate 

chs. 176D/93A. The trial court did find that AIGDC 

willfully and knowingly violated chs. 176D/93A by 

failing to make a reasonable settlement offer until one 

month before trial, but because the Rhodes Family would 

not have accepted an earlier hypothetical oEfer, they 

were not entitled to any damages for this violation. 

Additionally, the trial court held that AIGDC willfully 

and knowingly violated chs. 176D/93A post-trial. 

However, the trial court only awarded punitive damages 

based on the lost use of money, and refused to double 

the underlying judgment as the 1989 amendment to c. 93A 

requires. The Rhodes Family appealed the iudgment, 

citing the trial court's errors 1) in finding no 

statutory violation by Zurich; 2) in refusing to apply 

the statute as written with respect to punitive damages 

for AIGDC's pre- and - post-trial statutory violations; 

and 3) in refusing to allow recovery for emotional 

distress damages without proof of intentional 

infliction of emotional distress. 

On November 23, 2010, the Appeals Court upheld the 

trial court's ruling that Zurich is not liable. It 

also upheld the calculation of damages as a result of 

AIGDC's post-trial violations. The Appeals Court, 

however, found that AIGDC's willful and knowing pre- 
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trial violation caused actual damages to the Rhodes 

Family. Yet, •the Appeals Court nonetheless still 

refused to apply the punitive damages provision of c. 

93A as-written. Instead, it remanded to the Superior 

Court for a calculation of loss use damages from May 1, 

2004, to August 11, 2004, to be doubled or tripled. 

No party has requested a re-hearing in. the Appeals 

Court. 

III. Statement of Facts  

The Rhodes Family relies on the facts stated in 

the majority and dissenting opinions of the Appeals 

Court, as well as the Findings of Facts of the Trial 

Court (appended hereto). .In addition, the Rhodes 

Family relies on the.following facts omitted by the 

Appeals Court in its recitation of the facts: 

The Rhodes Family submitted evidence to the trial 

court supporting a finding that Zurich failed to comply 

with its internal claims guidelines in its handling of 

the Rhodes Family's claim by failing to investigate, 

reserve the claim at an appropriate level, or. colle'ct 

relevant documents on damages and other available 

insurance in a timely manner. Zurich's agents waited 

until April 2003 to request documents. Plaintiffs made 

settlement demands in August 2003 and December 2003, 

and received no response until March 30, 2004, the day 

before the pre-trial conference in the underlying 

personal injury action when Zurich made its first and 

only offer. 
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Before trial, AIGDC's only settlement offer was 

$2.75 million, later raised to $3.5 million. This was 

made at the mediation on August 11, 2004, just weeks 

before the September 7, 2004 trial date. That 

mediation took place more than two and a half years 

after the date when Marcia Rhodes was paralyzed when a 

tractor-tanker drove into the back of her stopped car. 

It was not until the close of all evidence that AIGDC 

increased its offer to $6 million. That offer was 

rejected and the jury returned cumulative verdicts 

totaling $9.412 million ($7.5 million to Marcia; $1.5 

million to Harold; $500,000 to Rebecca). After 

reducing the verdict by $550,000 for a pre-trial 

settlement with Professional Tree and adding statutory 

interest, the judgments totaled $11.3 million. 

Following entry of judgment, the defendants in the 

underlying trial filed motions for a new trial or 

alternatively for remittitur in October 2004, which the 

Rhodes Family opposed both on the papers and at a 

subsequent hearing in November. The underlying 

defendants also filed Notices of Appeal in December 

2004 after their post-trial motions were denied. The 

Rhodes Family filed a motion to dismiss the appeal for 

lack of prosecution in April 2005. In addition, the 

Rhodes Family was forced to continue litigating by 

preparing and serving 93A demands against Zurich and 

AIGDC, and preparing and filing their 93A complaint and 

accompanying discovery in April 2005. 
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The Defendants pursued their appeal until June 

2005 when AIGDC finally agreed to withdraw.the appeal 

and supplement payments made by Zurich and Professional 

Tree by paying $8.965 million for total payments of 

11.85 million, substantially all of the underlying 

judgment. Those payments were made in three 

installments, the last in September 2005. As a result, 

on September 7, 2005, the one-year anniversary date of 

the trial; the Rhodes Family filed a Satisfaction of 

Judgment; but reserved all rights with respect.to  the 

93A action in which the Rhodes Family sought punitive 

damages against both Zurich and AIGDC, each with 

billions of dollars in annual revenue. No releases 

were required or exchanged between the parties. 

IV. Points For Which Appellate Review is Sought  

Appellants seek further review with 'respect to the 

following: 

• The Appeals Court ruling that despite finding that 

AIGDC willfully and knowingly violated c. 176D 

pre-judgment, and that the Rhodes Family suffered 

actual injury as a result, the proper measure of 

punitive damages is a multiple of loss of use 

damages, rather than a multiple of the judgment 

entered in the underlying action as required by 

c. 93A; 

• The Appeals Court ruling that despite finding 

another willful and knowing violation of c. 176D 

by AIGDC post-judgment, the trial court properly 
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awarded as punitive damages a multiple of loss of 

use damages as opposed to a multiple of the 

judgment that entered in the underlying action as 

required by c. 93A; 

• The failure of the Appeals Court to address the 

proper standard of proof for an award of emotiOnal 

distress damages under c. 93A; and 

• The Appeals Court ruling that Zurich is nOt liable 

for its inexcusable two year delay in making a 

settlement offer under c. 93A. 

V. 	Substantial Reasons Affecting Public Interest or 
Interests of Justice Meriting Further Review 

A. Trial and Appeals Court Refused to Award 
Punitive Damages Mandated by Plain Language 
of c. 93A 

The trial court and Appeals Court have 

inexplicably refused to apply c. 93A as plainly 

written. In doing so, the trial court and Appeals 

Court avoided ordering $22.6 million in punitive 

damages against an insurer whose annual revenue is in 

the billions of dollars. 

As this Court, and the Appeals Court, have 

recognized in several cases, the Legislature amended 

c. 93A in 1989 precisely because aoss of use of money 

damages was not sufficiently punitive. In doing so, the 

Legislature imposed meaningful punitive awards to 

dissuade insurers from engaging in unfair settlement 

practices. See Clegg V. Butler, 424 Mass. 413, 424 

(1997) (the amendment "was apparently enacted in 
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response to cases . . . which limited those damages 

subject to multiplication under c. 93A to loss of use 

damages . . . This amendment greatly increased the 

potential liability of an insurer who willfully, 

knowingly or in bad faith engaged in unfair business 

practices"); Yeagle v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 42 Mass. 

App. Ct. 650, 655 (1997)("it is common ground that the 

amendment was inspired by multiplication cases". where 

loss use of funds was awarded, including Bertassi v. 

Allstate, Trempe v. Aetna, Wallace v. American Mfrs."). 

Despite this clear expression of legislative 

intent, both the trial court and Appeals Court refused 

to follow the mandate of the statute. Punitive damages 

of at least $22.6 million for AIGDC's willful and 

knowing violations is exactly  what the Legislature, 

intended under the plain language of c. 93A. 

Because the Legislature has clearly prescribed a 

remedy, "it is not the province of [the] court to 

decide that a different remedy would be more 

appropriate." Commonwealth v. Boe, 456 Mass. 337, 347- 

48 (2010). 

The Appeals Court's decision avoided any 

substantive analysis of statutory construction. 

Instead, it awarded punitive damages for AIGDC's 

willful and knowing pre- and post-judgment violations 

based on the language of c. 93A as it existed prior to 

1989. • 
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Inexplicably, the decision failed to confront the 

plain meaning of the 1989 amendment. That amendment 

provides that in awarding multiple damages for a 

willful or knowing violation, "the amount of actual 

damages to be multiplied by the court shall be the 

amount of the judgment on all claims arising out of the 

same and underlying transaction or occurrence . . 

The decision should be reviewed and reversed. Boone v. 

Commerce Ins. Co., 451 Mass. 192 (2008) (reversing 

trial and Appeals Court interpretations of statute 

governing auto insurers as ignoring legislative history 

and intent). 

The Appeals Court did not disturb the trial 

court's finding of a pre-judgment violation of 

c.176D/93A by AIGDC. The trial court found a violation 

based on AIGDC's willful delay in making a settlement 

offer for months after it took over the defense 

"because [AIGDC] thought it would be in a better 

strategic posture if the offer were postponed until the 

mediation and it did not wish the mediation to occur 

until trial was nearly imminent." Rhodes v. AIG 

Domestic Claims, Inc., 2010 Mass. App. LEXIS 1507, *10 

(Mass. App. Ct. Nov. 23, 2010). The Appeals Court 

majority properly concluded that "the 1989 amendment to 

c. 93A provided that the underlying tort judgment, 

rather than loss of use damages, was to be multiplied 

when 'the insurer acted in bad faith . . . and the 

plaintiff had been obligated to try to the end an 
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action on the underlying claim." Id. at *30. Yet, it 

blithely held that loss use damages were the proper 

measure of punitive damages in this case because the 

late, but reasonable (albeit low) offer was rejected by 

the Rhodes Family. 1  

Incredibly, the Appeals Court relied on Hopkins v% 

Libertylifutual Ins. Co., 434 Mass. 556 (2001) and 

Int'L Fid. Ins. CO., v. Wilson, 387 Mass. 841*(1983), 

for the proposition that AIGDC could limit its damages 

by putting an offer on the table, "even if late in 

doing so, to avoid multiplication of the underlying 

judgment." 2010 Mass. App. LEXIS 1507 at *26. 

Just as troubling is the Appeals Couit's reliance 

on the Wilson case in ignoring the 1989 amendment to c. 

93A. Wilson was not_a c. 176D case. Even more 

importantly, Wilson was decided well before c. 93A was 

amended in 1989 to provide that in calculating punitive 

damages, the amount of actual damages to be multiplied 

"shall be the amount of the judgment on all claims 

arising out of the same and underlying transaction or 

occurrence." 

In the mere two paragraphs of analyzing the 

measure of punitive damages for AIGDC's willful post-

judgment violation, the Appeals Court failed to even 

1  While the trial court was of the opinion that 
"it makes no sense to multiply the judgment" where the 
insurer's pre judgment violation did not cause any 
damages, and did not force the case to be tried and go 
to judgment," 2008 Mass. Super. LEXIS 169 at *110, the 
Appeals Court soundly rejected and reversed thiS 
ruling. 
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refer to the statutory language. Its only rationale 

for dgnoring its mandate was the "procedural posture" 

of the case, i.e., because AIGDC ultimately paid the 

Rhodes Family after entry of the $11.3 million 

judgment, and after considerable delay, it thus 

"settled" the claim. The Appeals Court did not 

question the trial judge's finding that after the $11.3 

million judgment was entered, AIGDC "did precisely what 

[c.] 176D was intended to prevent - attempt to bully 

the plaintiffs into accepting an unreasonably low 

settlement offer rather than wait the roughly two years 

for their appeal to conclude and the judgment to be 

paid." Rhodes v. AIG Domestic Claims, Inc.,  2008 Mass. 

Super. LEXIS 169, *105 (Mass. Super. Ct. 2008). The 

Appeals Court adopted the finding that AIGDC's post-

judgment offers were "not only unreasonable, but 

insulting" and that it relied on "unusually feeble" 

grounds to appeal the $11.3 million judgment. 2010 

Mass. App. LEXIS 1507 at *28-29. 

In addressing the measure of punitive damages for 

AIGDC's post-judgment violation, the Appeals Court 

relied on Hopkins for the proposition that since the 

Rhodes Family "settled" with AIGDC many months after 

the $11.3 million judgment entered and AIGDC ultimately 

"came to its senses," dismissed its appeal and agreed 
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to pay $8.95 million, 2  the case should be treated as 

one involving a settlement rather than a judgment. Of 

course, in Hopkins, there was no trial and no judgment 

in favor of Ms. Hopkins, such that lost interest on the 

amount of the late offer was the only appropriate 

measure of punitive damages in that case. 

The Appeals Court frankly admitted that by 

applying a loss of use measure, it would skirt a task 

that it apparently was loathe to perform, i.e., 

imposing a punitive damage award of at least $22.6 

million. "We therefore avoid the outcome anticipated 

by the trial judge, who expressed concern that [if the 

plaintiffs suffered even nominal damages from being 

denied a prompt settlement offer before trial] the 

plaintiffs would be entitled to receive . . . double or 

triple the amount of the judgment they received in the 

underlying personal injury case." Id. at *27. 

The Appeals Court was not required to venture into 

uncharted waters, however, to properly apply the 

statute. It cited R.W. Granger & Sons, Inc. v. J&S 

Insulation, Inc., 435 Mass. 66 (2001), no less than 

five times, correctly summarizing Granger as a case 

where "punitive damages double the amount of the 

underlying judgment properly awarded for willful and 

2  AIGDC's payment of $8.95 million reflected 
substantially all of the outstanding balance on the 
underlying judgment because Zurich had paid the Rhodes 
Family $2.3 million, representing its policy limits 
plus interest, and Professional Tree had paid $550,000 
as part of a pre-trial settlement. 
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knowing violation of c. 93A where judge found surety's 

inexplicable delay in settling after verdict against 

its principal in underlying action forced additional 

litigation on bond for nearly a year and necessitated a 

hearing at which surety put forth no viable defense." 

2010 Mass. App. LEXIS 1507 at *31 (emphasis supplied). 

If double the underlying judgment was the proper 

measure of punitive damages in Granger due to the 

continued delay and litigation activity caused by the 

insurer before "settling", then it must be the proper . 

measure of damages here. AIGDC engaged in an extended 

course of bad faith conduct marked by two willful and 

knowing violations. After the entry of the $11.3 

million judgment, AIGDC forced the Rhodes Family to 

keep litigating by: 1) directing the filing of post-

trial motions to set aside or remit the judgment and 

seek a new trial, which necessitated a hearing in the 

underlying personal injury case; 2) refusing to pay the 

judgment, which required the Plaintiffs to prepare and 

serve c.93A demand letters in November 2004; 3) 

appealing the $11.3 million judgment in December 2004; 

4) not properly prosecuting the appeal and thereby 

requiring the Rhodes Family to file a motion to dismiss 

the appeal in April 2005; 5) forcing the Rhodes Family 

to file the 93A complaint and to prepare and serve 

discovery in that action in April 2005; 6) maintaining 

its appeal through June 2005; 7) even after finally 

agreeing to dismiss the appeal and make payment on the 
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$11.3 judgment, stringing out the payments until 

September 2005; and 8) causing the Rhodes Family to 

file a Satisfaction of Judgment in the underlying 

personal injury action on September 7, 2005, one year 

after trial commenced. Nothing in the statute, nor the 

Granger decision, requires that post-verdict litigation 

activity result in an appellate decision in order for 

the punitive damages provision of c. 93A to apply. 

The refusal of both the trial court and. Appeals 

Court to apply the plain mandate of chs. 176D/93A 

necessitates review and reversal. 

B. Appeals Court Did Not Rule on Standard of 
Proof to Recover Emotional Distress Damages 
Under c.93A 

The Appeals Court adopted the finding that the 

Rhodes Family "incurred costs and suffered emotional 

distress from the uncertainties and frustrations of 

litigation as the matter dragged on past the point at 

which liability for Marcia's tort injuries became clear 

and a settlement offer . . . was statutorily due." 

2010 Mass. App. LEXIS 1507 at *13. 

The standard of proof to recover emotional 

distress damages under c. 93A is a matter of 

substantial public interest and merits further 

appellate review. 

Although the Appeals Court remanded this case on 

punitive damages, it never addresses the Rhodes 

Family's argument that the trial judge erred in ruling 

that they could not recover emotional distress damages 
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because they failed to prove intentional infliction of 

emotional distress. In addition to an assessment of 

emotional distress damages, the remand should also 

award litigation costs to the Rhodes Family. 

C. Appeals Court Did Not Address Legal or 
Factual Arguments Establishing Zurich's 
Violations of chs. 93A/176D 

Public interest requires further review of 

Zurich's failings. It cannot be the purpose of c. 93A 

or c. 176D to encourage primary insurers to adopt a 

proceSs that fails to open a claim file until seven 

months after the insurer's agent puts it on notice of 

the claim, and then compounds that inexcusable delay by 

taking no action on the claim for another twelve 

months, throughout which time the insurer's agent 

advises it that the claim is worth at least twice, if 

not five times, the primary policy limits. It also 

cannot be the law of the Commonwealth that c. 176D 

permits primary insurers, such as Zurich, to first 

ignore their own internal policies and then ignore 

claimants' settlement demands for seven months and to 

not tender to the excess carrier until two years after 

the claimant is injured. See c. 176D, § 9, Metropolitan 

Prop. and Cas. Ins. Co. V. Choukas, 47 Mass. App. Ct. 

196 (1999). 

The Appeals Court adopted, expressly or by 

silence, inappropriate standards of whose burden it is 

to investigate claims or accumulate documents; whether 

knowledge and recommendations of an insurer's agent are 



16 

imputed to that insurer; and what constitutes a 

reasonable time to either tender an inadequate primary 

policy to the excess carrier or make an offer to the 

claimant. 

The Zurich findings are also clearly erroneous 

because the record, as found by the trial court and 

cited in the dissent, establishes that Zurich's agent, 

Crawford, recommended that the $2 million policy limits 

be reserved on the claim as of April 2002 and almost 

every month thereafter. By September 2002, Crawford 

valued the claim at $5-$10 million. Zurich is bound by 

its agent and where its agent knew the claim would 

exceed $2 million in 2002, so did Zurich. As such, the 

trial court's ruling of no statutory violation by 

Zurich, upheld by the Appeals Court, must be reviewed 

and reversed. 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ M. FREDERICK PRITZKER  
M. FREDERICK PRITZKER 
BBO #406940 
DANIEL J. BROWN 
BBO #654459 
BROWN RUDNICK LLP 
One Financial Center 
Boston, Massachusetts 02111 
(617) 856-8200 

MARGARET M. PINKHAM 
BBO #561920 
PINKHAM BUSNY LLP 
42 Pleasant Street 
Woburn, Massachusetts 01801 
(781) 933-6840 

Dated: December 13, 2010 
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part). 

OPINION BY: CYPHER 

OPINION 

CYPHER, J. On January 9, 2002, plaintiff 
Marcia Rhodes (Marcia), then forty-six years old, 
stopped her car, as directed by a police officer 
conducting traffic around a tree service crew, 
whereupon she was hit from behind by an eighteen-
wheel trailer truck, leaving her instantly and 
permanently paralyzed. Marcia, along with her 
husband, Harold, and their daughter, Rebecca 
(collectively, the plaintiffs), are claimants under 
policies of insurance issued by the defendants for 
Building Materials Corp. of America (GAF) 4, to 
whom the truck driver was assigned at the time of 
the accident. The plaintiffs brought this action 
against the defendant insurers, under G. L. c. 176D, 
§ 3(9)(f), and c. 93A, §§ 2 & 9, for failure to 
effectuate prompt, fair and equitable settlements of 
the plaintiffs' [*2] tort claims. Principal among the 
issues on appeal are the plaintiffs' burden to prove 
that their damages were caused by a recalcitrant 
insurer, and the amount to be multiplied for the 
insurer's wilful and knowing violations of c. 93A. 

3 We use first names for the sake of clarity. 

4 Building Materials Corp. of America was 
doing business as GAF Materials Corp., and 
has been referred to throughout this litigation 
as "GAF." 

We recount the facts relevant to this appeal 
from the trial judge's comprehensive June 3, 2008, 
"Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order," 
summarized here and detailed further, as needed, in 
our discussion. Marcia was severely injured in 
2002, when a truck struck her car from behind on 
Route 109 in Medway. At the time she was hit, she 
had been stopped by a patrolman at the site of tree 
service work being conducted by Jerry 
MacMillian's Professional Tree Service 
(Professional Tree Service). The driver of the trailer 
truck, Carlo Zalewski, was employed by Driver 
Logistics Services (DLS), and was assigned to drive 
the truck for GAF. GAF leased the truck from 
Penske Truck Leasing Corp. (Penske). GAF carried 
a $ 2 million primary automobile insurance policy 
with Zurich [*3] American Insurance Company 
(Zurich), and a $ 50 million excess umbrella policy 
with National Union Fire Insurance Company of 
Pittsburgh, PA (National Union). MG Domestic 
Claims, Inc. (AIGDC), formerly known as MG 
Technical Services, Inc., was the claims 
administrator for National Union 5 . 

5 For simplicity's sake, we refer to both as 
AIGDC. 

GAF and Zurich used Crawford & Company 
(Crawford), as a third-party administrator for GAF's 
claims. Crawford received notice of the claim 
regarding Marcia on January 9, 2002, the day of the 
accident. Crawford characterized the claim as 
"catastrophic," and deemed it reportable to both 
GAF and Zurich. A Crawford report dated January 
30, 2002, sent to GAF, Zurich, and AIGDC, 
described the accident, and indicated both that 
Marcia was paralyzed and remained hospitalized in 
life-threatening condition, and that the claim would 
carry a high value. A second correspondence from 
Crawford to GAF, Zurich, and MGDC on April 8, 
2002, reported that Zalewski, the driver of the 
truck, was clearly liable for the accident, and that 
there was the potential for contribution from 
Penske, Professional Tree Service, and the town of 
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Medway. Crawford recommended that Zurich [*4] 
put the $ 2 million policy limits in reserve. 

On April 16, 2002, Marcia returned home for 
the first time since the accident, where she was 
confined to a wheelchair, only to be hospitalized in 
May for emergency surgery. She again returned 
home in June, 2002. On July 12, 2002, the plaintiffs 
filed a civil complaint against Zalewski, DLS, 
Penske, and GAF (the tort action), Marcia seeking 
damages for her injuries, and Harold and Rebecca 
seeking damages for loss of consortium 6 . On 
November 21, 2002, Zalewski admitted to sufficient 
facts to support a finding of guilt as to criminal 
charges stemming from the accident. 

6 The plaintiffs amended the complaint on 
August 30, 2002, to add a claim against 
Penske for negligent maintenance. 

In September, 2002, and May, 2003, Crawford 
provided Zurich and AIGDC with an estimate for 
the plaintiffs' case of between $ 5 million and $ 10 
million. On August 13, 2003, the plaintiffs sent to 
GAFs counsel a "day in the life" videotape, 
chronicling a typical day for Marcia, now a 
paraplegic, and a written demand for $ 16.5 million, 
which included summarized medical expenses of $ 
413,977.68, present value of future medical costs of 
$ 2,027,078, loss of household [*5] services of $ 
292,379, and out-of-pocket expenses of $ 
83,984.74. 

On September 11, 2003, Crawford sent Zurich a 
copy of the plaintiffs' written demand and 
accompanying documentation, including medical 
records and expenses, and the videotape. Zurich 
then set about to verify the claims, developing its 
own life care plan and conferring with GAF's 
defense counsel concerning the claims, defenses, 
and value of the plaintiffs' damages. On a 
November 19, 2003, conference call, a Zurich 
claims director told GAF's defense counsel, along 
with Crawford and AIGDC, that she would seek 
authority to tender Zurich's policy limit of $ 2 
million. GAF's defense counsel recommended that a 
$ 5 million settlement offer be made to the 
plaintiffs, but AIGDC's claims director refused, 
claiming he was new to the case and that he wanted  

to hire additional counsel to represent GAF and 
AIGDC. 

Following the conference call, Zurich's claims 
director began compiling the necessary information 
for a report that was required by Zurich to obtain 
authorization for the $ 2 million tender to AIGDC. 
On December 19, 200'3, she submitted the report, 
estimating the value of the claim in excess of $ 10 
million. The individual to [*6] whom she 
submitted the report was leaving Zurich's employ at 
the end of the year, and the request for authority 
was forwarded to her replacement. Approval came 
on January 22, 2004, and on January 23, 2004, 
Zurich verbally tendered its policy limits to 
AIGDC, which indicated that it would not accept a 
verbal tender and needed it in writing. 

In the meantime, the plaintiffs' August 13, 
2003, settlement demand went unanswered. 
AIGDC, for its part, refused to make a settlement 
offer prior to mediation and claimed more 
discovery was needed. On March 18, 2004, GAF's 
counsel sent a letter to AIGDC, stating that its 
failure to tender settlement constituted a violation 
of c. 176D, § 3(9)09, and c. 93A. MGDC continued 
to drag its feet, however, wrangling with Zurich 
over defense obligations and refusing to accept 
Zurich's tender of its primary policy limits (conduct 
described by the trial judge here as "spurious"). At 
the end of March, 2004, GAF's counsel offered the 
plaintiffs Zurich's policy limit of $ 2 million to 
settle the case, which the plaintiffs rejected. 

In mid-April, 2004, the plaintiffs agreed to 
mediation, but AIGDC refused to proceed, claiming 
the need for more discovery, including [*7] 
depositions of Marcia and Rebecca, even though the 
discovery period had closed in September, 2003. 
Again, AIGDC stalled, waiting until July 20, 2004, 
to conduct an independent medical examination of 
Marcia and eventually forgoing the deposition of 
Rebecca altogether before mediation. As the trial 
date of September 7, 2004, loomed, AJGDC finally 
agreed to schedule mediation for August 11, 2004. 
AIGDC's claims director recommended that 
authority be given to make a settlement offer at 
mediation of $ 6 million, but AIGDC's claims 
supervisor overruled him and authorized a 
settlement of only $ 4.75 , million, which included $ 
2 million from Zurich plus $ 1 million from 



Page 4 

2010 Mass. App. LEXIS 1507, * 

Professional Tree Service (the limits of its 
coverage, which AIGDC assumed it would be 
willing to pay; as it turned out, Professional Tree 
Service ultimately settled for $ 550,000). 

At the mediation on August 11, 2004, the 
plaintiffs sought $ 15 million to settle the case. 
AIGDC offered $ 3.5 million. Harold testified at 
trial that he would not have accepted a settlement 
offer of less than $ 8 million at the mediation. No 
further settlement offers were forthcoming. 

Trial on the tort action commenced before a 
jury on September [*81 7, 2004. Before trial, the 
parties stipulated to liability, and the case proceeded 
on the issue of damages only. When MGDC 
determined that the trial was proceeding more 
favorably to the plaintiffs than anticipated, AIGDC 
increased its offer to $ 6 million, which was not 
accepted. The jury returned its verdict on 
September 15, awarding the plaintiffs a total of $ 
9.412 million on their claims; with interest and 
adjustments, the amount came to approximately $ 
11.3 million. Judgment entered on the jury verdict 
on September 28, 2004. 

AIGDC filed an appeal from the tort judgment, 
arguing that the verdict was excessive and that the 
court's denial of the defendants' motion to obtain 
Marcia's psychological records during discovery 
was reversible error. On November 19, 2004, the 
plaintiffs sent a c. 93A demand letter to Zurich and 
AIGDC, demanding reasonable settlement within 
thirty days. On December 17, 2004, AIGDC offered 
$ 7 million, which included Zurich's $ 2 million, 
and required the plaintiffs to release all claims 
under c. 176D and c. 93A. Shortly thereafter, on 
December 22, Zurich paid the plaintiffs $ 
2,322,995.75, without requiring releases. The 
plaintiffs filed this action on April [*9] 8, 2005. 

On May 2, 2005, AIGDC offered the plaintiffs 
a structured settlement that, combined with the 
other defendants, totaled $ 8.62 million. On June 2, 
2005, the plaintiffs settled with AIGDC for $ 8.965 
million, paid in three monthly installments, with no 
release of the plaintiffs' c. 176D and c. 93A claims. 
Adding this to the amounts paid by the other 
defendants, the plaintiffs were paid a total of 
approximately $ 11.835 million to settle the tort 
action. 

This action for violations of c. 176D and c. 93A 
was tried to the judge over sixteen days. The judge 
found for the insurers on all but the plaintiffs' 
claims stemming from AIGDC's postverdict 
settlement conduct. He awarded the plaintiffs their 
loss of use damages for MGDC's delay in making a 
reasonable settlement offer after the jury verdict, 
which he doubled on account of AIGDC's wilful 
and knowing violations of c. 176D and c. 93A. 

On appeal, the plaintiffs argue that the judge 
erred as to the claims against MGDC in (1) finding 
no liability for MGDC's pretrial violations of c. 
176D; (2) basing the postverdict violation damages 
on loss of use, rather than on the underlying 
judgment; and (3) using the wrong dates for the 
calculation [*101 of postverdict damages. Last, the 
plaintiffs argue that the judge erred by finding 
Zurich not liable for its pretrial conduct. AIGDC 
sross-appeals, arguing that the judge erred (1) in 
holding it liable for postverdict violations of c. 
176D; and (2) in the calculation of damages. 

1. AIGDC's pretrial conduct. a. Liability. The 
judge found that AIGDC failed to effectuate a 
prompt settlement of the plaintiffs' claims once 
liability became reasonably clear, as required by 
law, and that its failure was wilful and knowing. As 
the judge explained: "AIGDC did not delay its 
settlement offer to conduct the investigation needed 
to make liability reasonably clear; it delayed it 
because it thought it would be in a better strategic 
posture if the offer were postponed until the 
mediation and it did not wish the mediation to occur 
until trial was nearly imminent." The judge found 
that liability and damages for Marcia's injuries were 
reasonably clear on December 5, 2003, and, with 
respect to AIGDC's excess policy, when Zurich 
tendered its policy limits on January 23, 2004. The 
judge concluded that, even allowing a generous 
amount of time for all the issues AIGDC claimed it 
needed to resolve, AIGDC violated [*11] its 
statutory duty by failing to make a settlement offer 
by May 1, 2004. As to the fairness of the settlement 
offer, the judge found that when AIGDC finally 
made an offer of $ 3.5 million to the plaintiffs on 
August 11, 2004, the amount was at the "low end" 
of the reasonable range for the plaintiffs' claims 7. 
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7 The plaintiffs have not challenged this 
finding on appeal, and we therefore do not 
address whether the judge's determination 
that the August 11 offer was reasonable was 
"clearly erroneous," as discussed by the 
dissent. See Mass.R.Civ.P. 52(a), as 
amended, 423 Mass. 140 (1996). Moreover, 
even if we were to conclude that we would 
have found otherwise, there is record 
evidence to support the judge's findings. See 
Hopkins v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 434 Mass. 
556, 569 & n.18, 750 N.E.2d 943 (2001) 
(question whether offer is prompt and fair is 
question of fact to be resolved by trial 
judge). 

General Laws c. 93A, § 2(a), inserted by St. 
1967, c. 813, § 1, states that "[u]nfair methods of 
competition and unfair or deceptive acts or 
practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce 
are hereby declared unlawful." General Laws c. 
176D, § 3, inserted by St. 1972, c. 543, § 1, for its 
part, prohibits "unfair or [*12] deceptive acts or 
practices in the business of insurance," including, in 
subsection (9)0, the failure "to effectuate prompt, 
fair and equitable settlements of claims in which 
liability has become reasonably clear." General 
Laws c. 93A incorporates c. 176D, thereby 
encouraging settlement of insurance claims, 
whether those of an insured or a third-party 
claimant, and discouraging insurers from forcing 
claimants into unnecessary litigation to obtain 
relief. Clegg v. Butler, 424 Mass. 413, 419, 676 
N.E.2d 1134 (1997). Hopkins v. Liberty Mut. Ins. 
Co., 434 Mass. 556, 564, 567-568, 750 N.E.2d 943 
(2001). See generally Morrison v. Toys "R" Us, 
Inc., 441 Mass. 451, 454-455, 806 NE.2d 388 
(2004) ("One obvious legislative concern was that 
entities that profit from selling insurance policies 
not abuse exclusive rights and duties to control 
litigation vested through those same policies"). 
"Together, the statutes require an insurer . . . 
'promptly to put a fair and reasonable offer on the 
table when liability and damages become clear, 
either within the thirty-day period set forth in G. L. 
c. 93A, § 9(3), or as soon thereafter as liability and 
damages make themselves apparent.' Bobick v. 
United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 439 Mass. 652, 
659, 790 N.E.2d 653 (2003), [*13] quoting from 
Hopkins v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 434 Mass. at 566. 

The judge found that the plaintiffs incurred 
costs and suffered emotional distress from the 
uncertainties and frustrations of litigation as the 
matter dragged on past the point at which liability 
for Marcia's tort injuries became clear and a 
settlement offer from AIGDC was statutorily due. 
But the judge pointed to Harold's testimony that by 
the time of the mediation, the plaintiffs would not 
have settled for less than $ 8 million, as proof that 
the plaintiffs would have rejected AIGDC's offer of 
$ 3.5 million even if it had been put forth promptly. 
Based on that finding, the judge determined that a 
timely and reasonable settlement offer would not 
have materially diminished the plaintiffs' harm 
because they would have rejected the offer, 
proceeded with litigation, and incurred the costs and 
frustrations of litigation in any event The judge 
thus concluded that the plaintiffs suffered no actual 
damages caused by AIGDC's deliberate and 
strategic delay in making an offer to settle the tort 
action. 

8 In particular, the judge acknowledged that 
the plaintiffs suffered "the emotional distress 
arising from the frustrations of litigation, 
[*14] the substantial costs of litigation, even 
in a contingent fee case, and the fear of 
financial ruin," but found that these problems 
"arose from the fact that the minimum 
settlement they were prepared to accept was 
well above the settlement that the defendants 
were prepared to offer or were required by 
Chapter 176D to offer." 

The plaintiffs challenge the judge's ruling that it 
was their burden to prove they would have accepted 
a settlement offer of $ 3.5 million, had AIGDC put 
forth that amount by May 1, 2004, in order to 
establish that they were damaged by the insurer's 
recalcitrance. They point to the admonition of the 
Supreme Judicial Court, that lain insurer's 
statutory duty to make a prompt and fair settlement 
offer does not depend on the willingness of a 
claimant to accept such an offer." Hopkins v. 
Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 434 Mass. at 567. "Even 
excessive demands on the part of a claimant . . . do 
not relieve an insurer of its statutory duty to extend 
a prompt and equitable offer of settlement once 
liability and damages are reasonably clear." Bobick 
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v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 439 Mass. at 
662. 

Our courts have recognized the frustrations and 
costs of unnecessary litigation [*15] as part of the 
injury to be averted by c. 176D and c. 93A, for 
those with meritorious claims covered by insurance 
policies. See Clegg v. Butler, 424 Mass. at 419. To 
further that objective, the statutes are "designed to 
make it 'unprofitable' for a defendant to ignore 
meritorious claims." International Fid. Ins. Co. v. 
Wilson, 387 Mass. 841, 857, 443 N.E.2d 1308 
(1983) (c. 93A). Therefore, even where the plaintiff 
initially rejected a tardy but reasonable offer of 
settlement, the Supreme Judicial Court has 
reiterated that "quantifying the damages for the 
injury incurred by the plaintiff as a result of [an 
insurer's] failure under G. L. c. 176D, § 3(9)0, 
does not turn on whether the plaintiff can show that 
she would have taken advantage of an earlier 
settlement opportunity." Hopkins v. Liberty Mut. 
Ins. Co., 434 Mass. at 567. See Bobick v. United 
States Fid. & Guar. Co., 439 Mass. at 663, and.  
cases cited (reiterating the teaching of Hopkins, 
supra). 

We believe the Supreme Judicial Court's 
discussion of the issue in Bobick supra at 662-663, 
should guide our analysis in this case, despite 
AIGDC's assertion that it constituted mere dicta 
To begin, we agree with the plaintiffs that evidence 
that they [*16] would not have settled their claims 
for less than $ 8 million at mediation, less than a 
month before trial, was speculative as proof of 
whether they would have settled their claims had 
AIGDC put forth a reasonable offer months earlier, 
and should not serve as the basis for denying 
recovery for the insurer's misconduct. Indeed, the 
judge's finding that the unlawful delay in making a 
settlement offer was strategic on AIGDC's part 
implicitly acknowledged that, at least from 
AIGDC's jaded perspective, the degree of the 
claimants' frustrations was subject to change as the 
case dragged on. AIGDC apparently was willing to 
risk a deliberate violation of the statutes in the hope 
that the plaintiffs' mounting frustrations and 
financial strain would inure to the insurer's benefit. 
The statutory multiplier serves as a deterrent to just 
that. See, e.g., Yeagle v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 42 
Mass. App. Ct. 650, 655, 679 NE.2d 248 (1997) 
("Hence the 1989 amendment [to c. 93A], which  

threatened a bad faith defendant with multiplication 
of the amount of the judgment secured by the 
plaintiff on his basic claim -- a total that might be 
many times over the interest factor"). 

9 In Bobick, the Supreme Judicial Court 
affirmed [*17] summary judgment for an 
insurer on a c. 93A claim where the insurer's 
timely offer of $ 50,000, rejected by the 
plaintiff, was some $ 10,000 less than "the 
principal amount assessed by the jury" 
against the insurer in the subsequent trial on 
the tort action. 439 Mass. at 662. 

Recognizing the damaging effects of such 
tactics by insurers, the Supreme Judicial Court said 
in Hopkins v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., supra: 

"We 	reject 	the 	defendant's 
contention that the plaintiff has not 
shown she was adversely affected or 
injured by its conduct. The 
defendant's deliberate failure -to take 
steps, as required by law, to effectuate 
a prompt and fair settlement . . . when 
the liability of its insureds was clear, 
forced the plaintiff to institute 
litigation, and in so doing, to incur the 
inevitable 'costs and frustrations that 
are encountered when litigation must 
be instituted and no settlement is 
reached." 

434 Mass. at 567, quoting from Clegg v. Butler, 
424 Mass. at 419 

10 In Hopkins, the underlying negligence 
action settled before trial. The Supreme 
Judicial Court affirmed a c. 93A damages 
award against the insurer, with both the base 
damages and the multiplication of damages 
based on the interest [*18] on the settlement 
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ultimately agreed to in the underlying 
negligence action. The court concluded that, 
even though the settlement amount was the 
same as an amount earlier offered and 
initially rejected, the plaintiff had been 
harmed because of the tardiness of the offer, 
and thus started the clock running on the c. 
93A damages award from thirty days after 
the plaintiffs c. 93A demand letter was 
received. 434 Mass. at 560-561, 566-568. 

Given the uncertainty of the effect that unfair 
settlement practices and prolonged pretrial 
maneuvering may have on the claimant's 
circumstances and outlook when a late settlement 
offer finally is made, we think the plaintiffs' 
recovery here should not turn on conjecture as to 
what they might have done had AIGDC not abused 
its position. AIGDC may have gambled that 
delaying until trial was imminent would weaken the 
claimants' resolve; the opposite may well occur ". 
Even AIGDC's posture changed considerably once 
the trial was underway, increasing its offer from $ 
3.5 million to $ 6 million in a matter of days. But 
whatever the effect of AIGDC's calculated delay on 
the plaintiffs' willingness to accept the tardy offer 
eventually put forth, we hesitate to [*19] hinge 
their recovery on a hypothetical response to a 
timely and reasonable offer, based on their actual 
response to a deliberately late one. 

11 Indeed, in finding that AIGDC's stated 
reasons to depose Marcia and Rebecca 
before making a settlement offer at 
mediation were a pretense, the judge, too, 
referred to the possibility that attitudes 
toward settlement were subject to change: 
"[T]he reason to depose them was simply to 
gauge how credible they would be at trial, 
and this reason was offset by the fear that 
deposing them would harden the plaintiffs' 
already tough position as to settlement." 

Our analysis is infouned by the purpose of the 
statutory scheme, which is not to require the insurer 
to extend an initial offer that must be accepted by 
the claimant, but, rather, to initiate the process of 
settlement negotiations promptly, and thereby 
facilitate out-of-court resolution. "The statute [G. L.  

c. 176D, § 3(9)] does not call for [a] defendant's 
final offer, but only one within the scope of 
reasonableness." Bobick v. United States Fid. & 
Guar. Co., 439 Mass. at 662. See International Fid. 
Ins. Co. v. Wilson, 387 Mass. at 857 (c. 93A). By 
initiating the settlement process in a timely fashion, 
[*20] the ordinary give and take of negotiations 
provides the opportunity to move forward toward 
resolution before costs escalate, frustrations mount, 
positions harden, and a trial looms. "Ordinary give 
and take would suggest that both would and should 
move." Forcucci v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 
11 F.3d 1, 2 (1st Cir. 1993) (describing the 
settlement process under c. 176D, § 3[9]). The 
applicable statutes were enacted to prevent the 
harmful effect on the claimant and the settlement 
process when the claimant's demand for settlement 
of a meritorious claim goes unanswered. See, e.g., 
Clegg v. Butler, 424 Mass. at 419 ("Whether a 
settlement is eventually reached or not, unjust delay 
subjects the claimant to many of the costs and 
frustrations that are encountered when litigation 
must be instituted and no settlement is reached"). 

We conclude that the causal link between 
AIGDC's unfair settlement practices and injury to 
the plaintiffs was sufficiently established by 
showing that the insurer failed to initiate the 
settlement process once the merits of the plaintiffs' 
claims were clear, thus depriving the plaintiffs of 
the opportunity to engage in a timely settlement 
process, and thereby forcing [*21] them to pursue 
recovery through the courts. See Hopkins v. Liberty 
Mut. Ins. Co., 434 Mass. at 566-567. Compare R.W. 
Granger & Sons, Inc. v. J & S Insulation, Inc., 435 
Mass. 66, 81, 754 N.E.2d 668 (2001) (unreasonable 
settlement practices after jury verdict on underlying 
claim) ' 2 . "In this context, 'injury' simply refers to 
'the invasion of any legally protected interest of 
another." Clegg v. Butler, 424 Mass. at 418, 
quoting from Leardi v. Brown, 394 Mass. 151, 159, 
474 N.E.2d 1094 (1985), and Restatement (Second) 
of Torts § 7 (1965). See generally Hershenow v. 
Enterprise Rent-A-Car Co. of Boston, 445 Mass. 
790, 799-800, 840 .N.E.2d 526 (2006) (discussing 
Leardi, supra). The record here established that the 
plaintiffs were injured when the settlement process 
was inexplicably delayed, thereby compounding 
their frustrations and fears as a result of prolonged 
and deliberate neglect of their meritorious claims. 
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See Hopkins v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 434 Mass. at 
567. Compare R.W Granger & Sons, Inc. v. J & S 
Insulation, Inc., 435 Mass. at 81 (causal link 
established between insurer's wrongful postverdict 
settlement practices and loss to plaintiff when 
plaintiffs clear right to recovery under its surety 
bond was delayed). 

12 In recognizing [*22] the harm caused by 
the insurer's unfair settlement practices in 
this situation, we do not rely upon a per se 
injury as referenced in Hershenow v. 
Enterprise Rent-a-Car Co. of Boston, 445 
Mass. 790, 798-799, 840 N.E.2d 526 (2006), 
a c. 93A case that neither involved nor 
addressed the obligations of insurers under c. 
176D. Rather, we point to the Supreme 
Judicial Court's observation that in the 
insurance context, and to a tort victim with a 
meritorious claim for coverage, the 
frustrations of being ignored by the insurer 
and being forced into unnecessary court 
action to secure the claimant's statutory right 
to a reasonable settlement, constitute an 
injury. Hopkins v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 434 
Mass. at 567. See Metropolitan Property & 
Cas. Ins. Co. v. Choukas, 47 Mass. App. Ct. 
196, 200, 711 N.E.2d 933 (1999) ("Choukas 
was adversely affected and injured by 
Metropolitan's failure to make an offer, as he 
had to go through the arbitration proceedings 
and all the subsequent court actions"), 
overruled on other grounds, Murphy v. 
National Union Fire Ins. Co., 438 Mass. 
529, 533 n.7, 781 NE.2d 1232 (2003). 

We consider the statutory purpose better served 
if evidence that the plaintiffs rejected AIGDC's $ 
3.5 million offer less than a month [*23] before 
trial, or even hoped for significantly more at that 
late date, is not relied upon to suppose that the 
settlement process was doomed from the start. The 
Legislature has placed the duty on the insurer to 
effectuate settlements by proceeding promptly with 
a reasonable settlement offer, thereby reducing the 
uncertainties and frustrations that inevitably follow 
from needless delay and the complications of 
litigation. "An insurer should not be permitted to 
benefit from its own bad faith, where, as occurred  

here, it violated G. L. c. 176D, § 3 (9) (O  by 
intentionally failing to make a prompt, fair offer of 
settlement." Hopkins v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 434 
Mass. at 568. On this record, we conclude that the 
plaintiffs established that they were harmed when 
A1GDC deliberately chose to ignore its statutory 
duty to make a prompt settlement offer when 
liability was clear, thereby denying the plaintiffs the 
opportunity to engage in the settlement process and 
exacerbating their losses. 

b. Measure of damages. While our reading of 
Hopkins v. Libero) Mut. Ins. Co., and Bobick v. 
United States Fid & Guar. Co., supra, persuades us 
that the plaintiffs' rejection of AIGDC's offer of $ 
3.5 million [*24] at mediation did not undermine 
the causal link between the insurer's delay and the 
plaintiffs' damages, it did, however, affect the 
measure of those damages. 

In Hopkins v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., supra, 
where the plaintiff accepted a late settlement offer, 
the Supreme Judicial Court explained the measure 
of damages as follows: "The so-called causation 
factor entitles a plaintiff, like the plaintiff here, to 
recover interest on the loss of use of money that 
should have been, but was not, offered in 
accordance with G. L. c. 176D, § 3(9)0), if that sum 
is in fact included in the sum finally paid to the 
plaintiff by the insurer." 434 Mass. at 567. The 
court then added by footnote: "We need not decide 
in this case whether the same measure of damages 
would apply in a case where an insurer, having 
initially violated G. L. c. 176D, § 3 (9)(,, and G. L. 
c, 93A, §§ 2 and 9, thereafter makes a fair and 
reasonable (but nevertheless tardy) offer of 
settlement, which is refused by a claimant." Id. at 
567 n.16. We read the qualification to mean that 
while the court did not reach the question whether 
the "measure of damages," that is, how the damages 
are quantified, would differ when a reasonable 
[*251 offer is made late and rejected, damages are 
nevertheless incurred in such a situation as a 
consequence of the insurer's delay. See, e.g., R.W. 
Granger & Sons, Inc. v. J & S Insulation, Inc., 435 
Mass. at 81-82 (discussing "measure of damages," 
as distinct from issue of causation, as going to 
question whether single or multiple damages should 
be awarded and amount to be multiplied). Contrary 
to AIGDC's assertion, we do not read the Hopkins 
footnote to mean that the recalcitrant insurer that 
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eventually makes an offer prior to trial might be 
relieved of all damages; that would tend to 
condone, rather than discourage, strategic delay. 
See Hopkins v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., supra at 566 
(c. 176D, § 3 [9][17, and c. 93A, § 9, "together 
require an insurer . . . promptly to put a fair and 
reasonable offer on the table when liability and 
damages become clear, either within the thirty-day 
period set forth in G. L. c. 93A, § 9[3], or as soon 
thereafter as liability and damages make themselves 
apparent"). Compare R.W. Granger & Sons, Inc. v. 
J & S Insulation, Inc., supra at 77 (c. 176D was 
intended to punish insurer that deliberately delayed 
offer to settle after jury verdict in underlying action, 
[*26] only to put forth late offer that was 
substantially less than case was worth). 

The statutory scheme still encourages the 
insurer to put the offer on the table, even if late in 
doing so, to avoid multiplication of the underlying 
judgment. "That a wilful violator can limit his 
liability by making a reasonable settlement offer 
demonstrates the critical importance of the 
settlement process." International Fid. Ins. Co. v. 
Wilson, 387 Mass. at 857. In keeping with the 
statute's purpose of fostering out-of-court resolution 
of insurance claims, we conclude that the amount of 
the damages for AIGDC's tardy but reasonable 
offer, rejected by the plaintiffs, should not be 
measured by the judgment obtained in the 
underlying tort action, as urged by the plaintiffs, 
but, rather, should be measured by loss of use 
principles. As such, damages should be calculated 
between the time AIGDC breached its duty to make 
the initial offer, and the date the reasonable offer 
finally was made and rejected; this is the same 
result to the insurer had its late but reasonable offer 
been accepted. See Hopkins v. Liberty Mut. Ins. 
Co., 434 Mass. at 567 (claimant entitled to recover 
"interest on the loss of use of money [*27] that 
should have been, but was not, offered," to remedy 
insurer's wrongdoing) Compare Yeagle v. Aetna 
Cas. & Sur. Co., 42 Mass. App. Ct. at 654-655 
(where case went to trial after failed negotiations in 
which insurer offered less than competent 
conciliator's evaluation of case value, and plaintiff 
would have accepted the amount determined by the 
conciliator, proper measure of c. 93A single 
damages award was interest on tort recovery for 
period settlement was wrongfully withheld). 

13 	We therefore avoid an outcome 
anticipated by the trial judge, who expressed 
the concern that, "if this Court, under 
Hopkins, were required to find that the 
plaintiffs suffered even nominal damages 
from being denied a prompt settlement offer 
that they certainly would have rejected, and 
if this Court were to find the violation willful 
or knowing (which it does), the plaintiffs 
would be entitled to receive not merely those 
nominal damages . : . but also double or 
triple the amount of the judgment they 
received in the underlying personal injury 
case -- that is, $ 22.6 million or $ 33.9 
million." 

We must therefore remand the matter to the 
Superior Court for a determination of loss of use 
damages on the amount [*28] of AIGDC's $ 3.5 
million settlement offer, between the date the judge 
found AIGDC clearly violated the statute, May 1, 
2004, and the date it finally made a reasonable 
offer, August 11, 2004. Because AIGDC's delay 
was found to be wilful and knowing, the amount of 
the plaintiffs' damages is subject to multiplication. 
See Hopkins v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 434 Mass. at 
561, 569. Whether the damages are to be doubled or 
trebled shall be decided on remand as well. 

2. AIGDC's postverdict conduct. The judge also 
found that AIGDC violated the applicable statutes 
by deliberately failing to make a prompt and 
reasonable settlement offer to the plaintiffs 
following the jury verdict in the underlying action. 
The judge characterized AIGDC's initial postverdict 
offer of $ 7 million, on December 17, 2004, as "not 
only unreasonable, but insulting," and found it a 
knowing and wilful violation of c. 176D. The judge 
awarded loss of use damages to the plaintiffs, which 
he doubled rather than trebled, "only because 
AIGDC later came to its senses and made a 
reasonable post-judgment offer before the appellate 
litigation began in earnest." 

a. Liability for postverdict conduct. AIGDC 
filed a cross appeal from [*29] the judge's 
determination that AIGDC violated its statutory 
duty by unreasonably delaying settlement with the 
plaintiffs after the verdict in the underlying case. In 
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particular, AIGDC argues that the judge erred in 
finding that its appeal from the judgment in the tort 
action lacked merit, without first hearing expert 
testimony addressing the issue. But where AIGDC 
conceded liability at the outset of the underlying 
trial on the tort action, we reject AIGDC's argument 
that the issues raised in its appeal from that 
judgment were so complex or involved such 
specialized knowledge that the judge required 
expert opinion as to their merits. The grounds for 
the appeal, which the judge assessed as "unusually 
feeble," involved the amount of the judgment, 
which AIGDC's own experts placed as within the 
reasonable range for the plaintiffs' claims, and a 
single evidentiary ruling made during discovery that 
denied AIGDC access to Marcia's psychological 
records. The cases relied upon by AIGDC do not 
establish that the judge required expert testimony 
regarding insurance industry practice in order to 
determine that those grounds for appeal lacked 
merit and that AIGDC's postjudgment settlement 
conduct [*30] violated the statutes. 

b. Damages for postverdict conduct. The judge 
awarded the plaintiffs loss of use damages on the $ 
8.965 million settlement ultimately agreed to, at the 
rate of one percent per month, for five months (see 
note 14, infra). 

The plaintiffs argue that the underlying tort 
judgment should serve as the amount to be 
multiplied for AIGDC's wilful and knowing delay 
in making a reasonable settlement offer postverdict 
and for its pursuit of what the judge found to be a 
meritless appeal. It is true that the 1989 amendment 
to c. 93A provided that the underlying tort 
judgment, rather than loss of use damages, was to 
be multiplied when the "insurer had acted in bad 
faith . . . and the plaintiff had been obliged to try to 
the end an action on the underlying claim." Yeagle 
v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 42 Mass. App. Ct. at 655. 
Here, however, where a settlement was reached 
postverdict, and litigation at the appellate level had 
not commenced to a significant degree at that time, 
we conclude that the statutory purpose was served 
by measuring punitive damages according to loss of 
use rather than the underlying tort judgment. 
Compare R.W. Granger & Sons, Inc. v. J & S 
Insulation, Inc., 435 Mass. at 77, 82 [*31] 
(punitive damages double the amount of the 
underlying judgment properly awarded for wilful  

and knowing violation of c. 93A where judge found 
surety's inexplicable delay in settling after verdict 
against its principal in underlying action forced 
additional litigation on bond for nearly a year and 
necessitated a hearing at which surety put forth no 
viable defense). 

Ordinarily when there has been a settlement 
before trial, damages for the time lost by the 
insurer's tardiness are calculated according to the 
interest lost on the money wrongfully withheld. See 
Clegg v. Butler, 424 Mass. at 425 ("As part of a 
statutory scheme meant to encourage out-of-court 
resolutions, [c. 93A] does not punish settling 
insurers by placing the entire settlement award at 
risk of multiplication"); Hopkins v. Liberty Mut. 
Ins. Co., 434 Mass. at 567 (in case where settlement 
occurred before trial, award was for interest for loss 
of use on amount that should have been offered 
earlier). We concur with the judge that the same 
should be true in the procedural posture of this case, 
where, despite AIGDC's ongoing, inexcusable, and 
deliberate misconduct, it made a reasonable 
settlement offer before trial, which was rejected, 
[*32] and the parties eventually settled postverdict. 
The judge, therefore, properly multiplied the loss of 
use damages for AIGDC's wilful and knowing 
violation in delaying the offer of a reasonable 
settlement after the verdict in the underlying tort 
action ". Compare id. at 560-561, 569. 

14 The judge awarded loss of use damages 
for the postverdict violation at the statutory 
rate of one percent per month, for a period of 
five months, based on his finding that if 
AIGDC had made a reasonable offer on 
December 17, 2004, instead of the 
unreasonably low offer it actually made, then 
settlement would have occurred in January, 
2005, instead of June, 2005, and the first of 
the three installment payments would have 
been paid in February, 2005, rather than, as 
actually occurred, in July, 2005. 

Both parties appeal from thiE 
determination. The plaintiffs argue that the 
judge should have calculated loss of use 
damages for the postverdict violation fron 
either the date of the underlying tor 
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judgment (September 28, 2004), or 
December 17, 2004 (the date of AIGDC's 
response to the plaintiffs' c. 93A letter). In its 
cross appeal, AIGDC argues that the 
plaintiffs agreed to forgo statutory 
postjudgment interest [*33] as part of their 
settlement of the underlying tort action, and 
that, in any event, the only evidence at trial 
regarding the measure of loss of use damages 
was the testimony of Harold that he would 
have invested the settlement funds, if paid 
earlier, in low-risk bonds, paying interest at 
the time of trial at three and one-half percent. 

AIGDC has not persuaded us that the 
plaintiffs' reservation of right to pursue their 
claims against AIGDC for violations of c. 
93A and c. 176D excluded the right to 
recover damages for those violations. 

Nor does AIGDC provide authority 
requiring that we overturn the judge's 
decision, as fact finder, to utilize the 
statutory rate for postjudgment interest as the 
measure of the plaintiffs' damages for late 
settlement. Neither have the plaintiffs 
demonstrated that the judge erred in 
awarding damages based on the date he 
found a settlement would have been reached 
if a reasonable offer had been made on 
December 17, 2004. 

3. Zurich's' pretrial conduct. The judge found 
that, as to Zurich, the existence of damages 
exceeding Zurich's $ 2 million policy limits became 
reasonably clear in October, 2003, and that 
remaining questions concerning the availability of 
other [*34] coverage were resolved by mid-
November, 2003. The judge further found that the 
steps taken by Zurich after November, 2003, to 
obtain authorization within the company to tender 
its policy limits were reasonable. Accordingly, the 
judge ruled that Zurich's tender of its full policy on 
January 23, 2004, was timely, as required under c. 
176D, § 3(9)(1). 

The plaintiffs challenge the judge's finding that 
the existence of damages exceeding Zurich's $ 2 
million limit did not become reasonably clear until 
October, 2003, and that Zurich's liability and 
damages did not become reasonably clear until 

November 19, 2003. The judge's determination of 
the reasonableness of Zurich's conduct was a 
question of fact, see Clegg v. Butler, 424 Mass. at 
422, and therefore will not be disturbed unless 
clearly erroneous. The evidence supported the 
judge's finding that information concerning 
Marcia's medical expenses was not reasonably clear 
to Zurich until the fall of 2003. The judge relied on 
the fact that the plaintiffs did not provide Zurich 
with Marcia's medical records and an accurate 
record of her medical expenses until the August 13, 
2003, demand letter. The evidence supported the 
judge's finding that [*35] Zurich acted reasonably 
and in conformity with industry standards in then 
verifying the damages, conferring with the other 
defendants regarding the availability of coverage 
and responsibility for the defense, and hiring its 
own life care expert to estimate the cost of Marcia's 
future care. 

The plaintiffs also complain that Zurich's delay 
between November, 2003, and the January, 2004, 
tender violated the statutory requirement of a 
prompt settlement offer once liability and damages 
are clear to the insurer. In contrast to AIGDC's 
delay, however, the judge found Zurich's treatment 
of the claim reasonable, given the amount of the 
offer, the hierarchy for approval, and the lack of 
availability of key personnel at Zurich during that 
period. The plaintiffs do not challenge as clearly 
erroneous the judge's subsidiary findings regarding 
Zurich's actions between November, 2003, and 
January, 2004, and we conclude that his findings 
provided adequate support for ruling in Zurich's 
favor. See, e.g., Buster v. George W. Moore, Inc., 
438 Mass. 635, 642-643, 783 N.E.2d 399 (2003) 
(burden of proof rests on appellant to show error, 
where judge's findings are supported by any 
reasonable view of evidence). 

Conclusion. Paragraph [*36] two of the 
judgment shall be modified to provide that 
AIGDC's and National Union's violation of G. L. c. 
176D, § 3(9)(f), prior to issuance of the final 
judgment in the underlying case, was wilful and 
knowing, and caused the plaintiffs to suffer actual 
damages from May 1, 2004, to August 11, 2004, as 
measured by the loss of use of $ 3.5 million during 
that period. The matter is remanded to the Superior 
Court for determination of the multiplication of the 
damages award in paragraph two of the modified 
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judgment; that is, the damages shall either be 
doubled or tripled. Paragraph six of the judgment 
shall thereupon be modified accordingly. hi all 
other respects, the judgment is affirmed. 

So ordered. 

CONCUR BY: BERRY, (In Part) 

DISSENT BY: BERRY, (In Part) 

DISSENT 

BERRY, J. (concurring in part and dissenting in 
part). With due respect, I dissent from part Lb. of 
the majority opinion, concerning the measure of 
damages for the pretrial conduct of AIG Domestic 
Claims, Inc. (AIGDC) ". I dissent because I do not 
believe that the MGDC ' 6, August 11, 2004, 
settlement offer was fair and reasonable, or that the 
low-end offer advanced by AIGDC ended the G. L. 
c. 176D, § 3(9)(0, violation ". Instead, I conclude 
that (1) by not [*37] engaging in good faith pretrial 
settlement negotiations, AIGDC in effect, forced 
the plaintiffs to go to trial; (2) AJGDC, therefore, 
remained open to damages for its G. L. c. 176D, § 
3(9)0, violation; and (3) AIGDC was vulnerable to 
potential unfair insurance practice damages, 
extending up to the full amount of the jury verdict -- 
not loss of use damages, as limited and capped by 
the majority opinion. 

15 Apart from this dissent to part 1.b., I 
concur with the majority opinion. 

16 See note 5, ante. 

17 	Respectfully, I disagree with the 
majority's passing comment in note 7, ante, 
that, in this appeal, the plaintiffs have not 
challenged the judge's finding concerning the 
$ 3.5 million. To the contrary, the heart of 
the plaintiffs' appeal is predicated on a 
challenge to the trial judge's decision to limit 
the plaintiffs' damages because the judge 

concluded that the figure of $ 3.5 million, 
albeit advanced late, was fair and reasonable, 
and, therefore, ended AIGDC's pretrial 
violation of c. 176D. This, notwithstanding 
the fact that the judge found AIGDC's 
violation was "willful and knowing." 
Accordingly, it is clear that the essential 
challenge in the plaintiffs' appeal 
encompasses both the [*38] timing and the 
amount of AIGDC's last-minute, low-ball 
offer -- appellate issues which are 
inextricably intertwined. 

Thus, I see little question, but that the 
interrelated issue of the fairness and 
reasonableness of the AIGDC $ 3.5 million 
settlement amount, and the issue of the 
fairness and reasonableness of the pretrial 
time line involving AIGDC's deliberate 
strategy to delay mediation and the 
proffering of any offer until just before trial 
are both encompassed in the plaintiffs' 
appeal and need be addressed by this court. 
Indeed, were both issues -- the timing and 
the amount of the AIGDC offer -- not before 
us, a large measure of the majority opinion 
would not need to have been written. 

1. AIGDC settlement offer not fair and 
reasonable. The information known to, and the 
records possessed by AIGDC, as well as case value 
assessments prepared by the lead insurers and their 
agents, and held within the AIGDC files, reflect a 
pretrial assessment of a high of $ 10 million as the 
quantum of damages for the plaintiffs' injuries, with 
the lowest damage assessment being $ 5 million. 
Against this backdrop, the AIGDC $ 1.5 million 
offer under its policy, late-advanced on August 11, 
2004, cannot [*39] be deemed fair and reasonable. 
Further, despite indisputable liability, AIGDC 
remained silent, advancing absolutely no settlement 
offer, except the low-end settlement offer advanced 
on the eve of trial. 

It is, in my view, important in assessing the G. 
L. c. 176D, § 3(9)( f), violation damages, that it was 
AIGDC, the insurer with the largest coverage, 
which held out from engaging in settlement 
negotiations, rendering pretrial settlement more 
difficult and unlikely. That is, notwithstanding that 
Zurich American Insurance Company (Zurich), the 
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primary insurance carrier, tendered $ 2 million (the 
full amount of the Zurich policy), AIGDC held 
back until trial was imminent before advancing any 
settlement offer under the AIGDC $ 50 million 
excess insurance coverage. 

Then, having violated G. L. c. 176D, § 3(9)(fi, 
by refusing to participate in good faith pretrial 
settlement negotiations, AIGDC emerged from the 
shadows only to put forth this $ 1.5 million low-ball 
insurance contribution to the global settlement. 
Such a de minimus offer on the AIGDC $ 50 
million excess insurance policy flies in the face of 
all of the damage estimates and settlement 
recommendations to AIGDC summarized below in 
this [*40] dissent With the low-end AIGDC 
contribution of $ 1.5 million ' 9, the total pretrial 
settlement offer was only $ 3.5 million. Indeed, 
after this low-ball AIGDC August 11 offer, and the 
plaintiffs' rejection thereof, the plaintiffs, just under 
a month later, were compelled to commence trial of 
their case, on September 7, 2004. During that trial, 
AIGDC increased its component of the global 
settlement pool from $ 1.5 million to $ 4 million, 
thereby increasing the global offer to $ 6 million. 
However, even this was too low, when one 
considers that the judge found the AIGDC 
postverdict offer of _7 million to be "unreasonable" 
and "insulting." 

18 As does the majority, I too reject the 
AIGDC argument that, by not accepting the 
$ 3.5 million settlement figure, the plaintiffs 
were divested of the right to damages under 
G. L. c. 176D, § 3(9)( 

The plaintiffs' rejection of the offer did 
not erase the AIGDC unfair settlement 
practice in refusing to tender a more timely 
and prompt offer, which remained a violation 
of G. L. c. 176D, § 3(9)0. Thus, there were 
still damages caused to the plaintiffs and an 
entitlement to recovery, as recognized in 
Hopkins v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 434 Mass. 
556, 567, 750 N.E.2d 943 (2001), [*41] 
under the "causation factor." 

19 	AIGDC's internal authorization for 
settlement was $ 3.75 million, of which $ 

1.75 million would be contributed by 
AIGDC. Thus, the offer extended by AIGDC 
to the plaintiffs was $ 250,000 less than the 
authorized amount -- a further reflection of 
AIGDC's not acting in good faith and low-
balling the damages. 

2, Judicial review in rejected settlement cases. 
In affirming the implicit determination that the 
AuguSt 11 AIGDC offer of $ 1.5 million ended the 
G. L. c. 176D, § 3(9)(f), pretrial violation, the 
majority approach, I believe, obscures the 
fundamental differences between accepted versus 
rejected pretrial settlement offer cases. This 
conflation yields the same result in cases where a 
late settlement offer is rejected, as in cases where a 
late settlement offer is accepted. However, this is 
contrary to the express reservation of the issue by 
the Supreme Judicial Court in Hopkins v. Liberty 
Mut. Ins. Co., 434 Mass. 556, 750 N.E.2d 943 
(2001). In that case„ where a tardy offer was 
accepted by the plaintiff before trial, the court 
affirmed a damages award based on the agreed-to 
settlement offer, but declined to "decide in this 
[Hopkins] case whether the same measure of 
damages [*42] would apply in a case where an 
insurer, having initially violated G. L. c. 176D, § 
3(9)0, and G. L. c. 93A, §§ 2 and 9, thereafter 
makes a fair and reasonable (but nevertheless tardy) 
offer of settlement, which is refused by a claimant" 
(emphasis supplied). Id. at 567 n.16. 

Where a settlement offer is accepted, as in 
Hopkins, a methodology for damage assessment 
based on the accepted pretrial settlement figure as 
the damage marker/calculator makes sense because 
acceptance of the offer, in and of itself, indicates 
that, although the insurer advanced the offer late, in 
violation of G. L. c. 176D, § 3(9)0, the settlement 
offer was deemed fair and reasonable by the 
plaintiff -- even if not perfect. In contrast, in a case 
of a rejected late-tendered settlement offer, such as 
that in the present case, no such fairness and 
reasonableness can be presumed, and the rejected 
offer 4iould not be the per se marker/calculator for 
the G. L. c. 1761), § 3(9)0, damage analysis. In 
other words, the Hopkins methodology -- which 
depends on the accepted settlement figure and 
calculates the loss of use of monies based on that 
figure, measured during the period within which no 
settlement offer was forthcoming [*43] -- does not 
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work in rejected settlement offer cases. As the 
Supreme Judicial Court's reservation in Hopkins 
indicates, a difference in methodology to assess 
damages in a rejected offer case is important 
because, as further discussed below, if the rejected 
late pretrial settlement figure is given too much 
weight, that rejected figure, in effect, becomes a cap 
on damages for the G. L. c. I76D, § 3(9)0, 
violation. That should not be so because, among 
other reasons, in a low-end rejected settlement case, 
a plaintiff is left with no real basis to consider 
resolution of claims by a pretrial settlement, and is 
virtually compelled to bring the case to trial to seek 
redress on the claims -- which is antagonistic to the 
protections that G. L. c. 176D, § 3(90), was 
enacted to provide for insureds. 

Furthermore, in a rejected settlement offer case, 
such as this one, AIGDC, as the insurer defending 
the G. L. c. 176D, § 3(9)0, violation: 

"bore the burden of proving that [its] 
settlement offer was reasonable and 
made in good faith in light of the 
demand and attendant circumstances. 
Kohl v. Silver Lake Motors, Inc., 369 
Mass. 795, 799, 343 NE.2d 375 
(1976). This determination required 
proof that the defendant[ [*44] ] did 
not act deliberately to derail the 
settlement process. Otherwise stated, 
a wrongdoer 'ought not wear out the 
claimant by unduly delaying 
settlement,' Miller v. Risk Mgmt. 
Foundation of Harvard Med. Insts., 
Inc., 36 Mass. App. Ct. 411, 418, 632 
N.E.2d 841 (1994), when liability, 
including causation and damages, is 
clear or highly likely. Guity v. 
Commerce Ins. Co., 36 Mass. App. Ct. 
339, 343, 631 N.E.2d 75 (1994)." 

Parker v. D'Avolio, 40 Mass. App. Ct. 394, 395- 
396, 664 N.E.2d 858 (1996) (c. 93A settlement 

Offer). Here, in light of its actions, AIGDC did not, 
I conclude, meet this burden. 

Where there is no damage marker by the figure 
in an accepted offer, and given the Hopkins 
mservation on this point, when an offer is rejected, 
such as in the present case, what then is the judicial 
review and methodology for determining whether 
an insurer has met its burden of proof, and what is 
the damage marker/calculator for the G. L. c. 176D, 
§ 3(9)0, violation? I conclude that judicial scrutiny 
of what is fair and reasonable in a rejected 
settlement offer case must -- among a host of 
factors involving the insurer's conduct in not 
engaging in pretrial settlement negotiations -- 
directly involve consideration of the insurer's 
valuation [*45] of the case, what damage 
assessment information was available to the insurer, 
and whether the effect of the insurer's actions in 
failing to advance any fair and reasonable 
settlement left the plaintiff with no real alternative 
except to litigate the matter -- which is precisely 
what G. L. c. I76D, § 3(9)0, was designed to 
protect against. 

In this case, respectfully, I see two fundamental 
omissions in the judicial review that led to 
acceptance of the AIGDC offer as being fair and 
reasonable. First, the Superior Court judge's 
conclusion, accepted by the majority, that the $ 1.5 
million advanced by AIGDC on August 11, 2004, 
was fair and reasonable does not give sufficient 
weight to the actual damage information in the 
AIGDC files. Indeed, while the Superior Court 
judge acknowledged that AIGDC's contribution of 
$ 1.5 million to the August 11 global settlement 
offer of $ 3.5 million was "at the low end of . . . 
reasonable," the judge nonetheless accepted that 
Mjected "low end" figure. But, that conclusion is 
not sustainable, when the following facts in this 
case record are weighed: (1) since close to the 
beginning of the case, AIGDC was aware that 
liability was clear and damages would [*461 be 
very high, and the $ 50 million dollar excess 
insurance policy would be invoked; (2) as of 
January 30, 2002, AIGDC was on notice that its 
third-party claims adjuster, Crawford & Company 
(Crawford), characterized the claim as involving 
"catastrophic" personal injury damages, and that the 
plaintiffs' claim would carry a high value; (3) as of 
April 8, 2002, Crawford informed AIGDC of its 
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recommendation that the full amount of the Zurich 
primary policy coverage be placed in reserve; (4) in 
September, 2002, AIGDC was provided an estimate 
of the potential value of the case as being between $ 
5 million and $ 10 million; (5) on November 21, 
2002, the driver admitted criminal guilt for the 
crash; (6) as of August, 13, 2003, counsel for the 
defendant National Union Fire Insurance Company 
of Pittsburgh, PA (National Union) (for which 
AIGDC administered the subject claim), was 
provided a "day in the life" videotape portraying the 
care Mrs. Rhodes would require as a paraplegic, 
summarized medical expenses of $ 413,977.68, 
future medical costs estimated at $ 2,027,078, and 
out-of-pocket expenses of $ 83,984.74; (7) on 
November 19, 2003, AIGDC was informed that 
authority would be sought for Zurich [*47] to 
tender the full amount of $ 2 million primary 
coverage; (8) on the same day, November 19, 2003, 
defense counsel for Building Materials Corp. of 
America (GAF; see note 4, ante), the insured 
covered by National Union, recommended a $ 5 
million settlement, but the AIGDC claims director 
rejected that recommendation; and (9) on December 
19, 2003, the Zurich claims director prepared the 
underlying documents necessary for Zurich to 
tender the primary $ 2 million in insurance, and that 
documentation valued the claim in excess of $ 10 
million 2021 . 

20 Against the backdrop of all of this record 
evidence, the judge's acceptance of the $ 1.5 
million offer as fair and reasonable deferred - 
- too heavily I think -- to the abstracted 
damage views proffered by an AIGDC 
expert. 

21 Albeit not controlling, because we are 
here reviewing the pretrial offer of AIGDC, 
it is, nonetheless, of interest in scrutinizing 
whether the August 11, 2004, pretrial 
settlement offer of $ 1.5 million was fair and 
reasonable, that AIGDC's new settlement 
offer on December 17, 2004, after the jury's 
September 15, 2004, verdict, which offer 
provided that AIGDC would contribute $ 5 
million to increase the global settlement 
[*48] to $ 7 million, was characterized by the 
judge as "not only unreasonable, but 

insulting," and a wilful violation of G. L. c. 
176D. 

A second omission in the judicial scrutiny of 
the AIGDC pretrial offer -- an omission which adds 
to my conviction that the August 11, 2004, $ 1.5 
million settlement offer late-advanced by AIGDC 
cannot be sustained as fair and reasonable -- is that 
the low-end pretrial offer, and the unfair insurance 
practices of AIGDC in refusing to engage in 
settlement negotiations until the .  eve of trial, left no 
alternative but for the plaintiffs to proceed to trial. 
This contravenes the core statutory purpose of G. L. 
c. 176D, § 3(9)09, to enforce the obligations of 
insurers to tender settlement of a case before the 
tort plaintiff has to take the case to trial. See Clegg 
v. Butler, 424 Mass. 413, 425, 676 N.E.2d 1134 
(1997). 

Judicial review of a settlement offer in a case 
such as this one, in which the insurer engaged in 
egregiously unfair settlement practices, involves not 
just pure fact review and findings concerning the 
figure in the late settlement offer by the recalcitrant 
insurer. Rather, judicial review also implicates 
questions of law concerning the seriousness of, and 
the extent [*49] of, an insurer's violations of G. L. 
c. 176D„f 3(9)0, in its actions and pretrial 
settlenient proffers n. In other words, to be 
considered is the gravity of the unfair practices of 
the insurer in refusing to participate in good faith 
pretrial settlement negotiations ". Also to be 
considered in judicial review is whether, as in this 
case, late in the day, as the trial date approached, 
the insurer engaged in a pretrial zero sum game 
strategy by advancing an offer that sought to place 
the plaintiffs at a decision intersection with the only 
choices being (i) to yield by acceptance of a low-
end, low-grade settlement, even though consistent 
neither with the plaintiffs' major injuries (as 
documented and evaluated by the involved 
insurance companies), nor with the indisputable 
liability under the subject policy; or (ii) to proceed 
to full litigation by trial of the case. 

22 Given these mixed questions of fact and 
law, in a case involving judicial review of a 
rejected pretrial settlement offer in respect to 
damages under G. L. c. 1761), § 3(9)69, and 
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G. L. c. 93A, I do not accept the majority's 
position that appellate review is limited to 
just the clearly erroneous standard, as the 
majority [*50] suggest (see note 7 , ante). 
See, e.g., R.W Granger & Sons, Inc. v. J & S 
Insulation, Inc., 435 Mass. 66, 73, 754 
N.E.2d 668 (2001), and cases cited ("A 
ruling that conduct violates G. L. c. 93A is a 
legal, not factual, determination"); Bobick v. 
United States Fid. & Guar. Trust, 439 Mass. 
652, 661, 790 N.E.2d 653 (2003), quoting 
from Peckham v. Continental Cas. Ins. Co., 
895 F.2d 830, 837 (1st Cir. 1990) ("That 
[reasonableness] is ordinarily a fact question 
does not make it invariably a fact question' 
[emphasis in original]"). 

But, in any event, even in considering 
appellate review under the "clearly 
erroneous" standard, see Mass.R.Civ.P. 
52(a), as amended, 423 Mass. 1402 (1996), a 
finding may be reversed when, "although 
there is evidence to support it, the reviewing 
court on the entire evidence is left with the 
definite and firm conviction that a mistake 
has been committed." Basis Technology 
Corp. v. Amazon.com , Inc., 71 Mass. App. 
Ct. 29, 36, 878 N.E.2d 952 (2008), quoting 
from Demoulas v. Demoulas Super Mkts., 
Inc., 424 Mass. 501, 509, 677 N.E.2d 159 
(1997). 

23 	Throughout the pretrial proceedings, 
AIGDC was recalcitrant in participating in 
settlement negotiations as required by law, 
this notwithstanding the tendering of offers 
by the primary [*51] insurer. Further, 
pretrial, ignoring its statutory obligations, 
AIGDC tendered only the bargain basement 
low-end offer of August 11. It was not until 
after the end of trial and the jury verdict, and 
after the judge had denied AIGDC's motion 
for new trial, and after receipt of the 
plaintiffs' c. 93A demand letter, that AIGDC 
finally moved to a fair and reasonable 
settlement posture. Even at this posttrial 
stage, pending appeal, AIGDC wilfully 
persisted in unfair settlement acts -- among 
other things seeking to link any settlement 
offer with a waiver of the plaintiffs' claims 
under G. L. c. 176D and G. L. c. 93A -- all of 

this, I submit, flowing in the aftermath of the 
original late low-ball offer. 

If G. L. c. I76D, § 3(9)(0 -- which is designed 
to foster pretrial settlements in lieu of litigation by 
trial -- means anything, it should mean that an 
insurer, such as AIGDC, cannot engage in such a 
zero sum pretrial game strategy by advancing a 
low-end offer which has no real nexus to the 
damage information and case evaluations possessed 
by the insurer. Such pretrial conduct by an insurer, 
in violation of G. L. c. 176D, § 3(9)0, ineluctably 
will end in a plaintiff having to proceed to [*521 
trial, as happened here. This part of AIGDC's 
egregious conduct, and the inherent legal conflict it 
Poses with the statutory purposes of G. L. c. 176D, 
§ 3(9)(J), was not, I respectfully submit, given due 
legal weight in the analysis that led to acceptance of 
the AIGDC $ 1.5 million as fair and reasonable. 

Because I believe that the AIGDC August 11 
late-advanced offer was not fair and reasonable, it 
did not end the MGDC G. L. c. 176D, § 3(9)0, 
pretrial violation. Thus, the cap and the time period 
limitations on the damages for unfair pretrial 
settlement practices under G. L. c. 176D, § 3(9)(0 
(as applied in Hopkins, 434 Mass. at 567, and as 
accepted by the majority in this appeal), should not 
protect AIGDC in this case. Rather, in my 
judgment, AIGDC was left potentially open to 
unfair insurance practice damages that may range as 
high as the jury verdict, and which, given the wilful 
violation, will either be doubled or trebled, as 
provided in G. L. c. 93A, § 9(3). 

3. Conclusion. Given the foregoing, I dissent 
from part 1.b., ante, and would rule that, as matter 
of law, AIGDC's last-minute $ 3.5 million pretrial 
settlement offer was not reasonable. I would 
therefore remand the matter [*53] to the Superior 
court for a determination of damages for AIGDC's 
pretrial violation of G. L. c. I76D, § 3(9)(f), based 
on the jury verdict, and for a determination whether 
the damages for AIGDC's wilful violation shall be 
doubled or trebled. 
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OPINION 

FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF 
LAW, AND ORDER 

The plaintiffs, Marcia Rhodes, Harold Rhodes, 
and Rebecca Rhodes (collectively, "the Rhodeses"), 
have filed this action against the defendants MG 
Domestic Claims, Inc., formerly known as MG 
Technical Services ("AIGDC"), National Union 
Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, PA 
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("National Union"), and Zurich American Insurance 
Company ("Zurich"), alleging that these insurers 
violated G.L.c. I76D, §3(9)(fi (and, in turn, G.L.c. 
93A) by failing to effectuate a prompt, fair, and 
equitable settlement of a tort claim in which 
liability was reasonably clear. This Court conducted 
a 16-day bench trial between February 5, 2007 and 
March 31, 2007, followed by extensive briefing. 
Based on the testimony at trial and the exhibits 
admitted into evidence, viewed in light of the 
governing law, this Court makes the following 
findings of fact and conclusions of law. 

FlNDINGS OF FACT 

In the early afternoon of January 9, 2002, 
Professional Tree Service was grinding tree stumps 
off Route 109 in Medway and had retained a 
Medway patrolman on paid detail to stop one lane 
of traffic at a time to protect [*2] the safety of its 
tree service truck and employee. The police officer 
stopped a Toyota driven by Marcia Rhodes, then 46 
years old. After she came to a full stop, an 18-wheel 
trailer truck driven by Carlo Zalewski struck the 
rear of Ms. Rhodes's car and pushed it off the road 
down an embankment. The tractor4railer had struck 
her car with such force that the trunk had been 
pushed into the back seat of the vehicle. Ms. 
Rhodes was conscious when the police officer ran 
over to her aid, but she had lost all feeling below 
her waist. As a result of the traffic accident, she 
suffered, among other injuries, a fractured spinal 
cord at T-12 and broken ribs. The accident left her a 
paraplegic, unable to walk. 

Zalewski at the time of the accident was 
employed by Driver Logistic Services ("DLS"), and 
had been assigned by DLS to drive the truck for 
GAF Building Corp. ("GAF"). GAF had leased the 
truck from its owner, Penske Truck Leasing Co. 
("P enske"). 

At the time of the accident, GAF had a $ 2 
million primary automobile insurance policy with 
Zurich, and a $ 50 million excess umbrella policy 
with National Union. Under the Zurich Policy, GAF 
had a self-insured retention of $ 250,000 per claim, 
including [*3] defense costs, and retained the 
authority to approve payments up to that amount. 
Zurich had to approve any settlement of a claim that 
involved payment of more than $100,000. GAF had  

retained Crawford & Company ("Crawford") as its 
Third Party Administrator ("TPA") to adjust its 
claims and Zurich also entered into a Third Party 
Administrator Agreement with Crawford to adjust 
its GAF claims. As Zurich's TPA for GAF claims, 
Crawford provided various adjustment services, 
including accepting and acknowledging proofs of 
loss, maintaining claims files, investigating all 
reported claims and evaluating their merits, 
proposing Claim Reserve guidelines, and retaining 
attorneys approved by Zurich to defend claims. 

Crawford received notice of the claim arising 
from the January 9, 2002 accident involving Ms. 
Rhodes that same day. On January 30, 2002, John 
Chaney, a Senior Liability Adjuster for Crawford, 
issued what he characterized as his First Full 
Formal Report regarding the accident. Chaney 
classified the claim as "catastrophic," and therefore 
declared that it will be reportable to both GAF and 
Zurich. Chaney had interviewed Zalewski by 
telephone on January 10, 2002, and reported that 
Zalewski [*4] said that he was descending a long 
gradual hill ori Route 109, traveling roughly at the 
speed limit of 35 miles per hour when a car 
"popped out" of an intersecting street, causing him 
to .go to his brake "vigorously." When he saw that 
this car had passed, he put his foot to the gas pedal, 
returned his eyes from that car to the road ahead, 
and saw Rhodes's car only 20-30 feet ahead. He put 
on his brakes, but they locked and he had too little 
space to stop. He said he saw no warning signs of 
work being done near the area of the accident. He 
was cited criminally for Operating Negligently to 
Endanger, and taken for drug and alcohol tests. The 
alcohol test was negative. The drug test had yet to 
be processed, but Zalewski denied that drugs or 
alcohol played any role in the accident. He said he 
was unaware of any defects in his truck. The police 
report confirmed his account, but noted that a truck 
traveling downhill in Zalewski's direction on Route 
109 to the accident scene would have had 800 feet 
of straight, clear visibility. The police report also 
noted that the truck had one inoperative brake, but 
this was not deemed a factor in the accident. 

As to damages, Chaney wrote that he was not 
fully [*5] aware of the extent of Ms. Rhodes's 
injuries, "except that we know she remains in life 
threatening condition at UMass Medical Center, is 
paralyzed, [and] suffers currently from pneumonia 
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and pancreatic infection." He opined that the case 
"will carry a high value" but that it was premature 
to estimate the ultimate exposure. 

Chaney noted that Ms. Rhodes had retained 
counsel, attorney Frederick Pritzker of the law firm 
of Brown Rudnick Freed & Gesmer, P.C. At GAF's 
suggestion, Crawford retained the law firm of 
Nixon Peabody, LLP to represent GAF. Chaney 
asked GAF to notify the excess carrier (National 
Union), which it did. Chaney provided a copy of 
this report to the Vice President for Risk 
Management at GAF, the attorney at Nixon 
Peabody representing GAF, and Zurich at its 
corporate headquarters in Shaumberg, Illinois. 

While this Court has no doubt that Chaney 
indeed did send his First Full Formal Report to 
Zurich's headquarters, the Report appears not to 
have found its way to any of Zurich's claims 
representatives, probably because Zurich had not 
earlier been notified of the claim and had 
established no claims file to which it could be sent. 
AIGDC, which served as the claims administrator 
[*61 for National Union and, for all practical 
purposes, managed National • Union's excess 
insurance claims, received a copy of this Report on 
February 4, 2002 because GAF's broker gave 
written notice to AIGDC of the claim on that date, 
enclosing both the Report and the police report. ' 

1 Since AIGDC served as National Union's 
claims administrator and managed the 
Rhodeses' excess insurance claim, this Court 
will simply refer to AIGDC when speaking 
of the excess insurer. There is no dispute 
that, if AIGDC is liable here, National Union 
is equally liable. 

Chaney's next transmittal to GAF was on April 
8, 2002, with copies sent to AIGDC and Zurich's 
postal box. 2  Chaney noted that Zalewski was 
clearly liable for Ms. Rhodes's injuries due to his 
lack of attention and he opined that Zalewsld's 
liability may be imputed to GAF. He foresaw the 
possibility of contribution from Penske for faulty 
maintenance (although he noted that this did not 
cause the accident), and from Professional Tree 
Service and the Town of Medway for not having  

placed warning signs and for poorly managing 
traffic. He awaited the legal opinion of defense 
counsel as to the potential for contribution from 
other possible tortfeasors. [*7] He recommended 
that the policy limits of $ 2 million be put in 
reserve. However, no reserve was yet put in place 
because only Zurich had the authority to set a 
reserve of greater than $ 100,000, and no one at 
Zurich yet knew of this claim. 

2 Since AIGDC had .earlier been notified of 
the claim and established a claim number, it 
received this transmittal; Zurich still had no 
claim number so this transmittal, too, was 
lost in its paperwork limbo. 

3 Chaney apparently mistakenly believed 
that Zalewski was employed by GAF; 
Zalewski was actually employed by DLS. 
GAF had retained DLS as an independent 
contractor to plovide drivers for the tracks 
GAF leased from Penske. 

The next day, on April 9, 2002, Tracey Kelley, 
whose unusual title at AIGDC was "Complex 
Director" (which at AIGDC effectively meant that 
she was assigned complex claims, defined as claims 
with a potential value of more then one million 
dollars), wrote Chaney to inform him that she was 
handling the excess claim on behalf of AIGDC. She 
asked for copies of "all pleadings, investigative 
materials regarding the accident and/or damages 
claimed, a synopsis of any medical records received 
and reviewed, deposition summaries, dispositive 
[*8] motions and all analysis of liability and/or 
damages prepared by defense counsel." 

On April 16, 2002, Ms. Rhodes, for the first 
time since the accident, returned home. She had 
undergone spinal fusion surgery at the University of 
Massachusetts Medical Center following the 
accident and remained there for a month. She was 
then released to Fairlawn Rehabilitation Hospital, 
where she had remained for two months before 
being allowed to return home. At home, she was 
confined to a wheelchair and dependent on others to 
move her from her wheelchair to her bed or to the 
toilet. In May 2002, she was hospitalized again, this 
time at Milford-Whitinsville Regional Hospital, for 
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emergency surgery to remove a gangrenous gall 
bladder. After a week of recovery, she was 
transferred to Whittier Rehabilitation Hospital, 
where she remained for two weeks before coming 
home in June 2002. Shortly thereafter, because of 
her intensive physical therapy, she developed 
tendonitis and bursitis in her arms and shoulders 
and had to stop all physical therapy to allow them 
time to heal. 

On July 3, 2002, GAF's law firm--Nixon 
Peabody--informed Penske by letter that, under 
their Lease & Service Agreement dated May 18, 
1992, [*9] Penske was an additional insured on the 
GAF liability policies. Consequently, by this time, 
GAF understood that its liability policies with 
Zurich and National Union covered Zalewski, GAF, 
DLS, and Penske with respect to the Rhodes 
accident. 

On July 12, 2002, Ms. Rhodes, Mr. Rhodes, 
and their daughter, Rebecca Rhodes, who was then 
14 years old, filed a civil complaint in Norfolk 
County Superior Court against Zalewski, DLS, 
Penske, and GAF. Ms. Rhodes sought damages for 
her injuries; Mr. Rhodes and Rebecca sought loss of 
consortium damages. The claim against Zalewski 
was premised on his negligence in causing the 
accident. The clairn against DLS was premised on 
its vicarious liability for Zalewski's negligence, 
since he was a DLS employee acting within the 
scope of his employment at the time. The claim 
against GAF alleged that it was negligent in failing 
to exercise control over the independent contractor 
to whom it entrusted its leased trucks. The claims 
against Penske alleged two distinct legal theories: 
(1) that it was negligent in failing to exercise 
control over the independent contractor to whom it 
entrusted the trucks it owned, and (2) that it was 
legally responsible under G.L.c. 231, §85A [*10] 
for the conduct of the driver who drove the truck it 
owned. 4  

4 	Under G.L.c. 231, §85A, once the 
plaintiffs prove that the truck was registered 
in the name of Penske as owner at the time of 
the accident, it is "presumed" that the truck 
was "operated, maintained, controlled or 
used by and under the control of a person for 

whose conduct [Penske] was legally 
responsible, and absence of such 
responsibility shall be an affirmative defence 
to be set up in the answer and proved by the 
defendant." G.L.c. 231, §85A. This means 
that ownership of the truck is prima facie 
evidence of control, sufficient to defeat any 
motion for summary judgment or directed 
verdict, but rebuttable with evidence to the 
contrary. 

Although Chaney's notes reflect that he sent a 
eopy of the Rhodes *complaint to Zurich at its 
Illinois headquarters on or about August 1, 2002, 
Zurich only learned of the case when it was asked 
to resolve a dispute that had arisen between GAF 
and Penske. Although GAF's attorney had informed 
Penske by letter on July 3 that Penske was an 
additional insured on GAF's policies, GAF changed 
its position after suit was brought and told Penske 
that it would neither defend nor indemnify Penske 
as to [*11] the claim. GAF also contended that 
there would be a conflict if Nixon Peabody were to 
represent Penske, and that Penske needed to retain 
Separate counsel. On August 7, 2002, Chaney sent a 
"formal letter of notification" to Zurich and, 
perhaps most importantly, telephoned David 
McIntosh, a claims director at Zurich, to inform him 
of the coverage dispute with Penske. With personal 
contact finally having been made with a Zurich 
claims director, Chaney faxed to McIntosh various 
papers in his claim file (but omitted his First Full 
Formal Report and April 8, 2002 transmittal) and 
Zurich belatedly opened a claim file on August 21, 
2002. 

Zurich did not immediately take any action as 
to the Rhodes claim apart from resolving questions 
of coverage. McIntosh referred the matter to 
Zurich's coverage counsel to determine who was 
covered under the GAF policy. Zurich ageed to 
pay for Penske's separate counsel under a 
reservation of rights. 

On August 30, 2002, the Rhodes filed an 
amended complaint which added a negligent 
maintenance claim against Penske. On September 
27, 2002, the Rhodeses served their first set of 
requests for the production of documents to all 
defendants. Little new transpired as [*12] 
discovery proceeded. Although Crawford appears to 



Page 5 

24 Mass. L. Rep. 142; 2008 Mass. Super. LEXIS 169, * 

have obtained no new information of consequence 
and had not received any of Rhodes's medical 
records, its view of the value of the case appeared 
to solidify. Chaney's transmittal letter of September 
25, 2002, which was sent directly to McIntosh at 
Zurich, estimated the potential case value as 
between $ 5 million and $ 10 million. He also 
continued to recommend that the case be reserved at 
the policy limits of $ 2 million. 

On November 21, 2002, Zalewski admitted to 
sufficient facts to support a finding of guilt as to his 
criminal charge in District Court and apologized for 
what he had done. Ms. Rhodes prepared a detailed 
written victim impact statement for his sentencing. 

On May 6, 2003, Jody Mills, who had taken 
over as adjuster, of the Rhodes file at Crawford, 
prepared a transmittal letter which noted that GAF's 
attorney in the Rhodes case had said that he did not 
expect the case to run its usual litigation course 
because of the severity of Ms. Rhodes's injuries. 
Counsel said that Ms. Rhodes's medical expenses 
would approach $ 1 million, but no demand had yet 
been made by Rhodes's counsel. Mills, like Chaney 
before her, continued to estimate [*13] the 
potential case value as between $ 5 million and $ 10 
million. 

In early June 2003, McIntosh of Zurich asked 
Mills for a full formal rcport, which she provided to 
him on June 4, 2003. Her report noted that Rhodes's 
attorney had yet to submit a demand or provide 
medical records. She also noted that she did not yet 
have a copy of Rhodes's medical records, although 
she understood that they had been provided in 
discovery to GAF's counsel. 

In a transmittal letter dated July 22, 2003, Mills 
wrote that she had been advised by GAF's counsel 
that Rhodes's attorney had made an oral settlement 
demand of $ 18.5 million, with incurred medical 
expenses estimated at $ 1.3 million and future 
medical expenses estimated at $ 2 million. He also 
told her that Rhodes's attorney would be providing 
a more detailed written demand, along with a "day 
in the life" videotape. Mills at this time had yet to 
obtain the medical records from GAF's counsel, 
even though Zurich had asked for a copy, but she 
hoped they would be included with the written 
demand. 

The written demand, along with the "day in the 
life" videotape, was provided to GAF's counsel on 
August 13, 2003, but the amount of incurred 
medical expenses ($ [*14] 413,977.68) was less 
than half of what orally had been represented. 
Perhaps as a consequence, the amount of the written 
demand ($ 16.5 million) was below the oral 
demand. This demand included special damages 
totaling $ 2,817,419.42, comprised of: incurred 
medical expenses of $ 413,977.68; the present value 
of combined future medical costs arising from her 
paraplegia of $ 2,027,078; 6  the loss of household 
services of $ 292,379; and out-of-pocket expenses 
of $ 83,984.74. The demand was carefully 
documented and included all Rhodes's medical 
records, along with Pollard's life care plan and an 
expert economist's report regarding the value of lost 
household services and present value calculations. 
The "day in the life" videotape chronicled what was 
described as a typical day for Ms. Rhodes, which 
depicted the enormous time and effort needed to 
move her from her bed to her wheelchair, to bathe 
her, to feed her, and to prepare her for bed, as well 
as the nursing care and home assistance needed to 
assist her with these mundane, everyday needs. 

5 	Carlotta Patten, the Brown, Rudnick 
associate who handled various discovery 
matters for the Rhodes litigation, 
acknowledged that Rhodes's April 2003 
[*15] answers to interrogatories declared 
that her medical expenses exceeded $ 1 
million. This figure was largely based on a 
tally provided by United Health Care, 
Rhodes's health insurer. However, when 
Patten obtained the various certified medical 
bills later in the spring of 2003, she observed 
discrepancies between these bills and the 
United Health Care totals, which she later 
learned arose from widespread duplication 
that reduced by more than half the actual 
amount of medical expenses. Rhodes's 
attorneys postponed completion of the 
written demand until they could resolve these 
discrepancies. 

6 The medical amounts were projected by 
Adele Pollard, a registered nurse with Case 
Management Associates, Inc, who first 
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estimated Ms. Rhodes's lifetime medical 
expenses assuming that she lived 34.7 more 
years (based on normal life expectancy) and 
then estimated those lifetime expenses 
assuming she lived only 24.4 more years 
(based on a lower than normal life 
expectancy arising from her injuries). The 
total relied upon was the average of these 
two estimates, reduced by present value 
calculations prepared by an economist. 

McIntosh changed his duties at Zurich in late 
August or early September 2003, [*16] so the 
Rhodes claim file was reassigned to Katherine 
Fuell. McIntosh did not brief her on the claim or 
provide her with any background; she was left to 
get up to speed on the claim based solely on the 
contents of the claims file at Zurich and her review 
of McIntosh's contemporaneous typed notes, which 
every claims director was required to make and 
which were referred to as "Z notes." The last two Z 
notes McIntosh wrote before the transfer to Fuell 
reflected his frustration with the paucity of 
investigation conducted and the information 
provided by Crawford. Under Zurich's TPA 
agreement with Crawford, it was Crawford's job to 
serve as the case manager, to manage the litigation, 
and to ensure that the insureds had an effective and 
strategically sound legal defense, but Zurich 
ultimately had to resolve the claim. His June 11, 
2003 "Z note" observed that he needed a "complete 
damage picture"--"full injury information, the 
medical costs both past and future, likewise we 
need the same for earnings." He also wanted 
defense counsel to conduct verdict research 
regarding the likely verdict in the case, and a 
litigation plan setting forth the current status of the 
case and the plan for moving [97] forward. His 
last "Z note," dated August 25, 2003, said simply, "I 
have heard nothing from the TPA." 

On September 11, 2003, Mills sent a letter to 
McIntosh (apparently still believing he was 
handling the claims file at Zurich) regarding the 
status of the case. She enclosed a copy of Rhodes's 
written demand, as well as a copy of the "day in the 
life" videotape. It is useful to summarize what 
information Fuell had in her possession once she 
received this letter and its attachments in mid-
September 2003: 

Based on the medical records 
included by Rhodes's counsel in the 
written demand, it was plain that Ms. 
Rhodes had been rendered a 
paraplegic as a result of the accident 
and that she would remain a 
paraplegic until she died. 

Based on the medical records and 
the day-in-the-life videotape, it was 
plain that Ms. Rhodes's life after the 
accident had become very confined, 
with a large share of her waking hours 
devoted to performing the mundane 
tasks that used to take her only 
minutes. It was less plain what the 
long-term prognosis was for her to 
lead a more normal life, albeit limited 
by her paraplegia, if she could lift 
herself onto a wheelchair, operate a 
motorized wheelchair, and learn to 
[4'18] drive a minivan accommodated 
to her limitations. 

The 	documented 	medical 
expenses already incurred had reached 
more than $ 410,000, and there were 
likely to be substantial future medical 
and everyday expenses arising from 
her paraplegia. 

Zalewski was nearly certain to be 
found negligent in the accident. While 
Zurich was paying for his defense 
under a reservation of rights, there 
should have been little question that 
he was covered by GAF's Zurich 
policy, since the policy covered 
anyone occupying a covered 
automobile, and a covered automobile 
included any vehicle leased for a term 
of six months or more, which included 
the tractor-trailer that GAF leased 
from Penske which was driven by .  
Zalewski. 

There was no evidence that 
Zalewski was separately covered by 
his own automobile accident policy, 
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but there was no verification yet that 
he had no other primary insurance. 
DLS, as Zalewski's employer, was 
nearly certain to be found vicariously 
liable for Zalewski's negligence. As 
with Zalewski, there was yet no 
evidence that DLS had its own 
primary insurance but there was also 
no verification that it had no primary 
insurance. GAF's coverage counsel on 
May 29, 2003 had asked in writing for 
the defense [*19] attorney jointly 
representing Zalewski and DLS to 
furnish all relevant insurance policies, 
but the defense attorney had so far 
ignored the letter and provided no 
response. • 

There was some possibility that 
Penske would be found negligent for 
its failure to maintain the brakes, but 
it did not appear that flawless brakes 
would have prevented the accident. 

Professional Tree Service had 
been deposed and defense counsel 
intended to seek leave to add it as a 
third-party defendant in the action 
because of its alleged failure to 
provide adequate warning signs 
around its work area. At the time, 
Crawford understood that it had a $ 3 
million policy. In fact, it had two 
policies, each with a $ 1 million limit, 
only one of which would provide 
coverage. 

Crawford 	was 	consistently 
recommending that the reserve be 
established at the $ 2 million policy 
limits. 

With respect to the litigation, 
Zalewski had been deposed but none 
of the three Rhodeses had yet been 
deposed. Nor had anyone asked Ms. 
Rhodes to undergo an Independent 
Medical Examination. Defense 
counsel had agreed that a defense life 
care planner should be retained to 
prepare a life care plan, which could 

then be compared with the plan 
devised by [*20] Rhodes's life care 
planner. 

On September 24, 2003, Mills prepared another 
transmittal letter that dropped the potential case 
value from $ 5-10 million to .$ 5-7 million because 
the incurred medical expenses were less than half of 
the amount that she had been told. The letter 
reflects that mediation had begun to be discussed 
among counsel, because it notes that Rhodes's 
attorney had asked for a good faith offer before he 
would agree to mediation. 

Early in October 2003, Fuell sent forms to 
Crawford asking GAF's defense counsel, Greg 
Deschenes of Nixon Peabody, to provide a case 
evaluation regarding the strength of the Rhodeses' 
case and of any legal defenses. In the second week 
of November 2003, Fuell received two documents 
that triggered her request for a conference call with 
defense counsel, Crawford, and AIGDC, which 
occurred on November 19, 2003. 

The first triggering document was a transmittal 
letter from Mills dated November 13, 2003 that 
used stronger language than any she had used 
before. Although Crawford had repeatedly 
requested that the reserve be increased to the policy 
limits, Zurich had yet to take any action, which left 
the reserve at $ 50,000--the limit of the reserve that 
[*21] Crawford alone could authorize. Mills noted 
that the inadequate reserve could be seen as 
improper if a regulatory agency examined Zurich's 
financials, and urged that the reserve be increased 
to $ 2 million "at once to keep on the correct side of 
regulators." For the first time, Mills reported that, 
according to DLS's attorney, DLS had no insurance 
coverage of its own due to an error by its insurance 
agency. Therefore, there was no indication that any 
defendant likely to be found liable, apart from the 
third-party defendant Professional Tree Service, 
held any primary insurance that could share in the 
liability. Mills reported that it was unproductive to 
continue the infighting among the defendants and 
that attention should instead be focused on moving 
to a good settlement posture. She noted that 
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Rhodes's attorney was a "successful big case 
lawyer," that his demand was not unreasonable in 
light of the special damages of nearly $ 3 million, 
and that he was "attempting to set up defendants for 
a 93A violation by making an early demand, asking 
for a good faith offer before submitting to non-
binding arbitration." She "strongly" endorsed 
surrendering Zurich's policy limits of $ 2 million 
[*22] as a good faith position prior to mediation. 
She also noted that it would be better if only one 
insurer managed the mediation and that this could 
be accomplished by tendering the policy limits, 
essentially leaving it to AIGDC to mediate the case. 

The second triggering document was 
Deschenes's case evaluation, which was sent to 
Crawford and received by Fuell at or around the 
same time as Mills's transmittal letter. Zurich did 
not waive its attorney-client privilege, so the 
content of this document remains unknown to this 
Court. However, based on Deschenes's testimony at 
trial, it is plain that Deschenes was eager to move 
the case to mediation. In June 2003, before 
receiving Rhodes's written demand, he had 
suggested to Rhodes's attorney that they stay 
discovery and proceed straight to mediation, but 
Rhodes's attorney refused to agree to a stay. 
However, he and Rhodes's attorney had agreed to 
proceed to mediation without first deposing Marcia 
and Rebecca Rhodes, sparing them the burden of 
being deposed unless the mediation failed. Late in 
October 2003, Deschenes telephoned Mills to ask 
for the authority to make an offer, since Rhodes's 
attorney had insisted upon an offer as a 
precondition [*23] to mediation. 

The participants in the conference call on 
November 19 were GAFs insurance broker, GAF's 
inside counsel and risk management vice president, 
Fuell from Zurich, Deschenes, and Nick Satriano, 
AIGDC's Complex Director. Satriano had taken 
over the Rhodes excess claims file at AIGDC in 
June 2003. 7 Deschenes reviewed with the others the 
status of the case, the theories of liability, the 
defenses, and the likely damages. Deschenes 
informed them that Rhodes's attorney had asked for 
a good faith offer as a precondition to entering into 
mediation. Fuell said that she did not personally 
have the authority at Zurich to tender the $ 2 
million policy limits, but she intended to ask her 
superiors for approval of such a tender. The  

conferees agreed that $ 2 million was not going to 
clover the settlement and that AIGDC would have to 
put up money fbr the case to settle. Deschenes 
pressed for a preliminary offer of $ 5 million prior 
to mediation. 

7 Satriano was the fifth claims director at 
AIGDC to take responsibility for this file, 
following four others who had responsibility 
for the file for roughly three months apiece. 

Satriano was unhappy about being pressed to 
put up money before he [*24] was up-to-speed on 
the case. He had only passively reviewed the claims 
file at AIGDC, and it only contained the Crawford 
reports, which he felt to be conclusory and 
unreliable. The conference call was the first time he 
had spoken to Deschenes about the case. He told the 
conferees that he was new to the file and did not 
have much of the information that was being 
discussed at the conference. He asked Deschenes to 
send him a copy of his file and all the information 
he had. He said he would study that information and 
become fully involved in the case. He also said he 
wanted to bring in associate counsel, that is, he 
wanted to add to the GAF defense team Attorney 
William Conroy from the law firm of Campbell & 
Campbell to jointly represent GAF and AIGDC in 
the lawsuit. He was challenged by others as to the 
need for associate counsel, but Satriano did not 
back down, since he did not have confidence in 
Deschenes and did not think he was sensitive to the 
needs of an excess insurer. 

Satriano vigorously disagreed with the 
1  recommendation that they should offer $ 5 million 
prior to the mediation, and refused to commit at that 
time to putting up any AIGDC money towards a 
settlement offer. Both Satriano [*25] and Fuel] 
understood from Deschenes that Rhodes's attorney 
had demanded $ 5 million as "the price ol 
admission" to mediation. In fact, Rhodes's attorney 
had never stated this or any other number; he hac 
simply insisted upon a good faith offer prior tc 
mediation to ensure that the mediation would not bc 
a waste of time. Rather, Deschenes believed the $ 
million to be a good faith preliminary offer an( 
pressed the insurers to offer it, and they conflate( 
his recommendation with Rhodes's attorne: 
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insistence upon a good faith offer. This 
misunderstanding was never corrected; Satriano and 
Fuell left the conference with the understanding that 
Rhodes's attorney had refused to enter into 
mediation unless the insurers first made an offer of 
no less than $ 5 million. 

The conference ended with Fuell committing to 
request authority within Zurich to tender the $ 2 
million policy limits, and asking Deschenes to 
provide her with the information she needed to 
make that request. Satriano committed to read the 
case materials that Deschenes was to provide him 
but did not commit to any offer. 

On November 24, 2003, Deschenes sent 
Satriano the demand letter, medical records, 
preliminary defense life care [*261 planner report, 
pleadings, case evaluations, and various reports. 
Satriano did bring in Conroy as associate counsel in 
December, and Conroy on December 24 asked 
Deschenes to send him all "correspondence, 
pleadings, depositions, and all discoverable 
documentation" for his review, but asked him to 
hold off on sending him the 10 boxes of discovery 
materials. 

Following the meeting, Fuell went to work to 
prepare the BI Claim Report, which was a 
prerequisite to her obtaining authority at Zurich to 
tender an amount as large as $ 2 million. On or 
about December 5, 2003, she had received the final 
version of the defense life care plan, prepared by 
Jane Mattson, which determined that Ms. Rhodes 
life care costs would total $ 1,239,763, which was $ 
787,315 less than the present value of Ms. Rhodes's 
combined future needs in her demand letter. g The 
primary differences between the plaintiff and 
defense life care plans were that the defense life 
care plan assumed a shorter life span for Ms. 
Rhodes (24 years vs. 28.9 years), provided fewer 
hours per week for home care aides, and assumed 
that she could reside in the Rhodes's living room 
rather than in her own modified bedroom. 

8 Mattson's preliminary [*27] life care 
plan, issued on October 2, 2003, had 
estimated the total life care costs as $ 
1,487,827. 

On December 19, 2003, Fuell submitted her BI 
Claim Report, which asked for approval before the 
end of the year to tender the $ 2 million policy 
limits to AIGDC. She stated that the probability of a 
plaintiffs verdict was 100 percent, and that there 
was no possibility of a finding of comparative 
negligence. She estimated, with respect to the 
damage award for pain and suffering, a 10 percent 
risk of an award of $ 11 million, a 50 percent risk of 
an award of $ 12.25 million, and a 10 percent risk 
of an award as high as $ 13.75 million damage. She 
gave an estimated value of the total damage award 
as nearly $ 17.88 million. Fuell, however, badly 
misstated the amount of past medical bills in her 
Report, describing them as $ 2.817 million, which 
was the total amount of special damages in the 
demand letter; the past medical bills were $ 
413,977.68. As a result, her special damages, even 
with her low end estimate, was $ 4.317 million, 
which was $ 1.5 million more than the special 
damages estimate in Rhodes's demand letter. Even 
eliminating this error, however, it is plain that Fuell 
in her Report [*28] anticipated a total damage 
award of considerably more than $ 10 million. 

Fuell had sent her Report to Kathy Langley at 
Zurich, not realizing that Langley was leaving 
Zurich at the end of that month. Langley told her 
between Christmas and New Year's Day that she 
had recommended approval of the full tender to 
Thomas Lysaught of Zurich, who was to make the 
decision, but had yet to hear from him. On January 
21 ' 2004' Fuell emailed Lysaught directly and 
asked if he had reviewed her request for authority to 
tender the $ 2 million policy limits. Lysaught gave 
his approval on January 22. 

On January 23, 2004, Fuell telephoned Satriano 
at AIGDC and verbally tendered to AIGDC the 
policy limits. Satriano said he would not accept a 
verbal tender and needed it in writing. He added 
that the writing needed to address whether Zurich 
was simply tendering its policy limits and would 
continue to pay for the defense of the case, or 
whether it was also tendering the defense 
obligation, i.e. whether it would refuse to pay any 
longer for the defense upon the tender. She told him 
she would need to review the policy to determine 
Zurich's defense obligation upon tender and would 
send him a letter incorporating [*29] the correct 
policy language. She added that, while she would 
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get him a written confirmation, Zurich intended to 
tender its policy limits and has already advised both 
the client and the broker of the tender. Satriano 
admits that, as a result of this telephone call, he 
knew that he had Zurich's $ 2 million available for 
any settlement. 

Fuell had not responded to Satriano in writing 
by February 13, 2004, and Satriano grew concerned 
about the risk of confusion as to whether Zurich 
was seeking to tender its defense obligations along 
with its policy limits. That day, he emailed Fuell 
that AIGDC had not yet received any formal offer 
of tender, that any formal offer must be in writing, 
and any written offer may not be communicated by 
email. He added that "my current understanding is 
that the primarY insurer has NOT relinquished their 
duty to defend the insured in this litigation" and that 
he expected Zurich, as primary insurer, to continue 
its obligation to defend regardless of any tender. 
Fuell replied that day by email that she had never 
stated that Zurich was "in any way relinquishing 
our defense obligations to the insured . . ." She said 
that she expected to have access to the policy when 
[*30] she returned to the office on Monday so that 
she can provide written notification to him. She 
ended by reiterating that, even without a formal 
writing, Zurich has offered the full limits of its 
policy to AIGDC, and AIGDC can rely upon that 
tender in communicating a response to plaintiffs' 
demand. 

Although he did not yet have a formal writing 
from Zurich memorializing the tender, Satriano 
certainly understood that he had Zurich's tender 
because he attended a meeting on March 4, 2004 at 
GAF's home office in New Jersey to discuss the 
case without inviting Zurich. On March 1, a few 
days before this meeting, the Rhodes had moved to 
amend their complaint against GAF to add a count 
under a federal motor carrier's statute which would 
plainly have made GAF vicariously liable for 
Zalewski's negligence. The motion to amend, over 
GAF's objection, was allowed on March 16. As a 
result, GAF, which before was defending a claim 
that it had negligently failed to supervise an 
independent contractor, was now defending a 
vicarious liability claim based on Zalewski's 
negligence, and consequently had essentially no 
chance of escaping liability. 

Present at the March 4 meeting, apart from 
Satriano, were various [*31] GAF representatives, 
Deschenes, Conroy, and GAF's insurance broker. 
At this meeting, Deschenes presented the results of 
the jury verdict and settlement research he had 
conducted, which focused on automobile accident 
capes, mostly in Massachusetts, in which liability 
wns probable or reasonably clear and which 
involved severe damages, many of them resulting in 
paraplegia. The average settlement among these 
comparable cases was $ 6,647,333; the average 
verdict was $ 9,696,437. GAF wanted to respond to 
Rhodes's demand, which had increased in 
December 2003 to $ 19.5 million. All thought that 
Rhodes's demand was too high, but no one 
suggested that it was unworthy of a response. 
Satriano, however, was adamantly opposed to 
making a $ 5 million offer prior to mediation or to 
making any offer in order to cause Rhodes's 
attorney to agree to mediation. He said he was 
willing to go to mediation but did not want to set an 
improper artificial starting point for the mediation. 
Since AIGDC was not willing to make an offer 
prior to mediation and Pritzker had earlier said that 
an offer was a precondition to mediation, this 
meeting accomplished little towards agreeing upon 
a settlement posture. At the [*32] close of the 
meeting, Satriano simply told Conroy to tell 
Pritzker that they were still working on a response 
to his settlement demand and would get back to 
him. 

The meeting, however, did provide some 
guidance regarding litigation strategy. Conroy said 
he had identified a physiatrist (an expert in physical 
medicine) to conduct an Independent Medical 
Examination ("IME") of Ms. Rhodes to determine 
the severity of her present condition and her ability 
to recover some functioning through rehabilitation. 
There was also some discussion of deposing Ms. 
Rhodes and her daughter, but no decision was made 
a$ to whether to proceed with their depositions 
before any mediation. 

For all practical purposes, the failure to develop 
a settlement position at this March 4 meeting meant 
that no reasonable settlement offer would be 
presented before the pretrial conference on April 1, 
2004, since Satriano knew at the meeting that he 
had been called to active military duty in Iraq and 
that responsibility for the Rhodes excess claim file 
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at AIGDC was to be transferred in his absence to 
Richard Mastronardo, who did not attend the 
meeting. 

GAF's coverage attorney, Anthony Bartell, was 
so frustrated by AIGDC's unwillingness [*33] to 
agree upon a settlement offer that he wrote Satriano 
on March 18 that AIGDC's failure to commence 
settlement negotiations with Rhodes's attorney 
despite his settlement demand more than seven 
months ago violated its obligation under G.L.c. 
176D, §3(9)(D "to effectuate prompt, fair and 
equitable settlements of claims in which liability 
has become reasonably clear." He also informed 
Satriano that, once Zurich formalized its tender, 
GAF would offer Zurich's $ 2 million to the Rhodes 
to settle their claims. 

Zurich did not resolve the question of its 
defense obligations upon tender until March 29, 
2004. Fuell wrote Mastronardo a formal letter 
stating that Zurich was tendering its $ 2 million 
policy limits and that its duty to defend the insured 
and additional insureds under the Policy ended with 
the tender. The letter quoted the provision of the 
Zurich Policy that declared: 

Our duty to defend or settle ends . . . 
when we tender, or pay to any 
claimant or to a court of competent 
jurisdiction, with the court's 
permission, the maximum limits 
provided under this coverage. We 
may end our duty to defend at any 
time during the course of the lawsuit 
by tendering or paying the maximum 
limits provided [*34] under this 
coverage, without the need for a 
judgment or settlement of the lawsuit 
or a release by the claimant. 

The letter stated that, effective April 5, 2004, 
Zurich was transferring all its defense obligations to 
AIGDC. The letter asked to whom the $ 2 million 
check should be made payable to and to whom it 
should be sent. 

Mastronardo orally rejected Zurich's March 29 
formal written tender because of its attempt to 
transfer to MGDC the defense obligation. He stated 
that AIGDC had no defense obligation under its 
excess policy and that the issue of legal fees needed 
to be resolved between Zurich and GAF. On April 
2, 2004, Martin Maturine, AIGDC's Complex 
Director for Excess Specialty Claims, wrote Zurich 
to confirm that it had rejected Zurich's tender of 
primary policy limits. AIGDC's rejection of the 
tender was spurious. Maturine focused on the 
provision in the National Union Policy that declared 
that National Union "shall have the right and duty 
to defend any claim or suit seeking damages 
covered by the terms and conditions of this policy" 
when the limits of all underlying insurance policies 
providing coverage to the insured "have been 
exhausted by payment of claims to which this [*35] 
policy applies" (emphasis in Maturine letter but not 
in Policy). In essence, AIGDC was declaring that its 
duty to defend commenced only upon payment of 
policy limits so it was going to reject the tender of 
those limits in order to prevent such payment from 
occurring. 

On April 2, 2004, Fuell informed GAF and all 
counsel that, in light of AIGDC's rejection of its 
tender, Zurich had made a "business decision" to 
continue to pay all defense costs in the Rhodes 
litigation. Fuell said that Zurich had offered to 
deposit its $ 2 million tender in an escrow account 
and reserved its rights to recover its defense costs 
from AIGD C. 

Soon after the formal tender on March 29, 
before the April 1 pretrial conference, Deschenes, 
on behalf of GAF, offered Pritzker $ 2 million to 
settle the Rhodes's claims and invited Pritzker to 
mediate the case. Pritzker considered the offer 
wholly inadequate, and said he wanted to mull over 
whether mediation was worth doing in light of that 
offer. A few weeks later, however, Pritzker agreed 
to mediate, and invited the defendants to select a 
mediator. 

While the Rhodes were willing by mid-April 
2004 to proceed to mediation, AIGDC did not wish 
to proceed to mediation until [*36] it had 
concluded the additional discovery it now insisted it 
needed. After Satriano left for Iraq, Maturine took 
over as the Complex Director of the Rhodes claim 
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file and Tracey Kelly, who had been the Complex 
Director in charge of the file in April 2002, was 
promoted to Complex Claims Supervisor and 
assumed supervisory authority over the case. They 
did not wish to proceed to mediation until Marcia 
and Rebecca Rhodes had been deposed, the IME of 
Marcia Rhodes had been completed, and they had 
obtained Marcia Rhodes's prior psychological 
records. They also wanted to explore various 
insurance coverage issues which they felt had not 
been adequately resolved--the amount of coverage 
carried by Professional Tree Service and whether 
Zalewski was a covered person under the Penske 
policy. 

Pritzker would not agree to hand over Ms. 
Rhodes's psychological records, so defense counsel 
filed a motion seeking such discovery, which was 
denied on June 11, 2004. Since the discovery 
deadline had passed, defense counsel also filed a 
motion on June 18, 2004 to extend discovery and 
extend the trial date. 9  On July 8, 2004, Superior 
Court Judge Elizabeth Donovan denied the motion 
but permitted the depositions [*37] of Marcia and 
Rebecca Rhodes to proceed, since Pritzker had 
earlier agreed with defense counsel that they could 
be postponed beyond the discovery deadline. 

9 A similar motion had been filed on May 
17, 2004 but it was withdrawn after GAF 
objected to the filing of that motion. GAF 
agreed to the filing of the motion only after 
Maturine warned GAF in writing that its 
continued denial of consent to its filing may 
constitute a breach of the insured's obligation 
of cooperation and may result in AIGDC 
disclaiming coverage. 

The mediation was scheduled for August 11, 
2004. The IME of Marcia Rhodes was conducted 
on July 20, 2004 by the defendants' expert 
physiatrist. Marcia Rhodes was deposed on August 
4, 2004. Rebecca was not deposed until August 25, 
2004, after mediation failed. 

Maturine left AIGDC in June 2004 so yet 
another Complex Director, Warren Nitti, was 
assigned to the Rhodes file. He was asked to 
compile a narrative report regarding the Rhodeses'  

claim, which he completed on August 3, 2004. Nitti 
recommended that authority be given to pay a 
settlement of $ 6 million, but Kelly overruled him 
and authorized a settlement of only $ 4.75 million. 
She intended to offer a structured settlement [*38] 
with an annuity to pay for Ms. Rhodes's life care 
plan, because the annuity could be obtained for less 
than the value of the life care plan and offered tax 
advantages to the Rhodes. While Kelly, on behalf of 
MGDC, gave settlement authority up to $ 4.75 
million, she understood that this would include only 
$ 1.75 million of AIGDC's monies, since $ 2 
million of the settlement was to come from Zurich's 
policy and she assumed that the remaining $ 1 
million would come from Professional Tree 
Service, who MGDC had determined had $ 1 
million in coverage arid figured would be willing to 
pay policy limits in order to avoid the risk of far 
greater exposure at trial. 

At the mediation on August 11, which was 
attended, among others, by Pritzker, Nitti, and 
Attorney Peter Hermes on behalf of Professional 
Tree Service, the Rhodeses made an initial 
settlement demand of $ 15.5 million, plus defense 
payment of Ms. Rhodes's health insurance 
premiums for the remainder of her life. Nitti, on 
behalf of the GAF-insured defendants, counter-
offered with $ 2.75 million. After further 
discussion, the Rhodeses counter-offered with $ 
15.0 million, and Nitti increased the defendants' 
counter-offer to $ 3.5 million. [*39] Meanwhile, 
Professional Tree Service reached a separate 
settlement with the Rhodeses, agreeing to pay them 
$ 550,000 for a release. Nitti never offered the full 
amount of his authority of $ 3.75 million. Nor did 
AIGDC revisit whether to increase Nitti's authority 
after it learned that the Tree Service had settled for 
$ 450,000 less than AIGDC had anticipated. In 
retrospect, it is now clear that the mediation was 
doomed to fail in view of the positions taken by the 
Rhodes and AIGDC. Mr. Rhodes, who effectively 
spoke for the family as to settlement, would not 
have accepted any settlemenf offer at mediation less 
than $ 8 million and no one involved in this case at 
AIGDC would have agreed at mediation to pay that 
amount to resolve the case. 

After the mediation, defense counsel deposed 
Rebecca Rhodes and attempted again to persuade 
the court to grant them access to Ms. Rhodes's prior 
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psychological records, asking the court to conduct 
an in camera review of those records to determine 
their relevance at trial. This motion, filed on an 
emergency basis on August 19, was denied on 
August 23. 

No settlement negotiations were conducted or 
further counter-offers communicated before trial 
commenced [*40] on September 7, 2004. Just 
prior to the trial, Zalewski, DLS, and GAF 
stipulated to their liability, meaning that the trial 
would only decide the questions of Penske's 
liability and the amount of damages suffered by the 
Rhodes. During the course of trial, the parties 
stipulated to the dismissal of all claims against 
Penske, leaving only damages to be decided by the 
jury. 

Nitti attended the trial and reported that it was 
progressing more favorably to the Rhodeses than 
AIGDC had anticipated. After the close of evidence 
but before closing arguments, Nitti, having obtained 
authority from AIGDC, increased its offer to $ 6 
million, which included Zurich's $ 2 million, but 
not the Tree Service's $ 550,000. Pritzker did not 
communicate that offer to the Rhodeses, effectively 
rejecting it. When the jury returned with its verdict 
on September 15, it awarded Ms. Rhodes $ 
7,412,000 for her injuries, Mr. Rhodes $ 1.5 million 
on his consortium claim, and Rebecca Rhodes $ 
500,000 on her consortium claim, for a total award 
of $ 9.412 million, not including the 12 percent 
simple interest that had accrued in the roughly 2 
years and two months since the complaint had been 
filed, which added roughly another [*4 1] 26 
percent to the total. Judgement entered for the 
Rhodeses on September 28, 2004. After deducting 
the $ 550,000 settlement with Professional Tree 
Service, all of which was paid to Ms. Rhodes, the 
total amount due from the GAF-insured defendants 
was roughly $ 11.3 million. 

On October 8, 2004, Nitti sought internal 
approval within AIGDC to prosecute an appeal. The 
proposed appeal had two grounds: (1) the alleged 
excessiveness of the verdict, and (2) the court's 
denial of the defendants' motions to obtain Ms. 
Rhodes's psychological records in discovery. Nitti 
declared there was a "possibility" of gaining a new 
trial based on the denial of the psychological  

records; he admitted that "[Ole chances of 
obtaining relief on remittitur are more remote." 

On October 18, 2004-, the defendants moved for 
a new trial or, in the alternative, remittitur. On 
November 10, they filed notice of appeal. Their 
new trial motions were denied on November 17. On 
November 19, the Rhodr;ses sent a Chapter 93A 
demand letter to Zurich and AIGDC, alleging that 
they had engaged in unfair settlement practices in 
violation of G.L.c. 176D, §3(9)(D by failing to 
effectuate a prompt, fair and equitable settlement. 
They demanded [*42] a .reasonable settlement 
within 30 days. 

AIGDC responded to the Chapter 93A demand 
letter on December 17, 2004 by offering $ 7.0 
million, of which $ 1.25 million would go towards 
purchasing a life care plan for Ms. Rhodes. This 
offer included Zurich's $ 2 million, but did not 
include the $ 550,000 already obtained from 
Professional Tree Service. This settlement offer 
required the Rhodeses not only to release all 
defendants as to the personal injury claims but also 
to release all claims under Chapters 93A and 176D. 
Zurich responded on December 22, 2004 by paying 
the Rhodes $ 2,322.995.75 without obtaining any 
release, which included its $ 2 million policy limits 
plus accrued post-judgtnent interest on the entirety 
of the underlying judgment from the date that 
judgment entered. The Rhodeses replied by filing 
this action on April 8, 2005. 

AIGDC increased its structured settlement offer 
on May 2, 2005 to $ 5.75 million, which, when one 
includes the amounts paid by the Tree Service and 
Zurich, brought the total amount to $ 8.62 million. 
Pritzker replied on May 12, insisting that the 
Rhodeses would settle for nothing less than the 
entirety of the settlement, plus interest. On June 2, 
2005, after [*43] further negotiations, Pritizker 
confirmed in writing the terms of the Rhodeses' 
settlement with AIGDC: AIGDC would withdraw 
the defendants' appeal and pay the Rhodes $ 8.965 
million, with $ 3 million to be paid on July 5, 
another $ 3 million to be paid on August 5, and the 
$ 2.965 million balance to be paid on September 5. 
Adding the amounts paid by Zurich and the Tree 
Service to this total, the plaintiffs obtained roughly 
$ 11.835 million in settlement of their tort action. 
The Rhodeses did not promise to dismiss their 
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AIGDC argues that, in a tort case 
such as this where the accident 
resulted in paraplegia, damages are 
not reasonably clear until the jury 
renders its verdict because the 
damages arising from the pain and 
suffering of the accident victim and 
the loss of consortium of her spouse 
and children are inherently unclear 
and unquantifiable. The Supreme 
Judicial Court has plainly rejected this  

proposition, which would effectively 
negate the statutory obligation of 
insurance companies to make a 
prompt and fair settlement offer [*45] 
in nearly all tort cases. See Clegg v. 
Butler, 424 Mass. at 421; Hopkins v. 
Liberty Mutual Insurance Company 
434 Mass. 556, 567-68. 

In Clegg, the accident victim's car 
had been struck in a head-on collision 
and he suffered serious injuries that 
certainly would have justified a 
substantial award for pain and 
suffering. 424 Mass. at 414-15. The 
Supreme Judicial Court nonetheless 
affirmed the trial judge's finding that 
it was a "100% liability case against 
the insured," and that the insurance 
company therefore was obliged to 
have made a settlement offer within 
30 days of plaintiffs Chapter 93A 
letter demanding a settlement offer. 
Id. at 421. In Hopkins, the accident 
victim's car was struck from the rear 
and pushed into the vehicle in front, 
resulting in a spinal injury that 
permanently prevented the plaintiff 
from returning to her work as a 
plumber. 434 Mass. at 557-58. Even 
though these injuries would have 
resulted in substantial pain and 
suffering, the Supreme Judicial Court 
still found that liability was 
reasonably clear and, therefore, that 
the insurance company had an 
obligation to make a settlement offer 
within 30 days of its receipt of the 
plaintiffs Chapter 93A demand letter. 
[*46] Id. at 560-61, 569. In contrast, 
in O'Leary-Alison v. Metropolitan 
Property & Cas. Ins. Co., even though 
negligence was plain because the 
plaintiff had been rear-ended by the 
defendant's car, the Appeals Court 
found that liability was not reasonably 
clear in large part because the 
independent medical examiner found 
no physical condition warranting 

Chapter 93A action against AIGDC as part of the 
settlement. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

G.L.c. 176D, §3 sets forth various acts that are 
defined as "unfair or deceptive acts or practices in 
the business of insurance," and therefore violations 
of G.L.c. 93A, §2. G.L.c. 176D, §3. Among these 
forbidden acts are various "unfair claim settlement 
practices," of which the best known is "[flailing to 
effectuate prompt, fair and equitable settlements of 
claims in which liability has become reasonably 
clear." G.L.c. 176D, §3(9)(1). As our appellate 
courts have interpreted this provision, some flesh 
has been added to the spare bones of this statutory 
obligation. These interpretations have [*44] made 
clear that: 

1. The obligations in G.L.c. I76D, §3(9)0 are 
not simply owed to the insurance company's 
policyholders, but also to those third parties making 
claims against its policyholders. See, e.g., Clegg v. 
Butler, 424 Mass. 413, 419, 676 N.E.2d 1134 
(1997). 

2. To "effectuate" a settlement means to make a 
settlement offer. See, e.g., Hopkins v. Liberty 
Mutual Insurance Company, 434 Mass. 556, 567, 
750 N.E.2d 943 (2001). 

3. The obligation to make a settlement offer is 
triggered only when "liability has become 
reasonably clear," and "liability encompasses both 
fault and damages." Clegg v. Butler, 424 Mass. at 
421; Metropolitan Property and Cas. Ins. Co. v. 
Choukas, 47 Mass.App.Ct. 196, 199, 711 NE.2d 
933 (1999). 
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treatment. 52 Mass.App.Ct. 214, 217- 
18, 752 N.E.2d 795 (2001). '° 

Therefore, when the Supreme 
Judicial Court speaks of damages 
being reasonably clear, it effectively 
means that (1) it is reasonably clear 
that the plaintiff has suffered 
substantial injury caused by the 
negligence of the defendant, and (2) 
the extent of those injuries is 
reasonably clear. It does not mean that 
it is reasonably clear how much a jury 
would award the plaintiffs for pain 
and suffering or loss of consortium, 
because juries hearing the same 
evidence plainly will differ in the 
amounts they award to compensate 
plaintiffs for these intangible losses. 

4. An insurance company is entitled to delay 
making a settlement offer until liability--negligence 
and damages--is reasonably clear and may conduct 
a diligent investigation to determine whether 
liability indeed is reasonably clear. As the [*47] 
Supreme Judicial Court declared in Clegg : 

Insurers must be given the time to 
investigate claims thoroughly to 
determine their liability. Our decisions 
interpreting the obligations contained 
within G.L.c. 176D, §3(9), in no way 
penalize insurers who delay in good 
faith when liability is not clear and 
requires fiirther investigation. 

424 Mass. at 413. A corollary to 
this principle is that an insurance 
company may not unreasonably delay 
making an offer once its investigation 
has determined that negligence and 
damages are reasonably clear. 
Nothing bars an insurance company 
from continuing its investigation in 
the hope that it will uncover new 
information that may pinpoint the 
precise amount of damages or  

disprove damages that otherwise 
appeared reasonably clear, but it may 
not postpone its settlement offer while 
it pursues these investigative 
possibilities. 

5. The reasonable clarity of damages depends on 
the amount of the policy limits. In a catastrophic 
injury where negligence is not materially disputed, 
damages are reasonably clear to the primary insurer 
with modest policy limits once it is reasonably clear 
that the amount of damages will exceed those 
policy limits, even if the total [*48] scope of 
damages is not yet reasonably clear. See Clegg, 424 
Mass. at 421-22 (since primary insurer knew or 
should have known that Clegg was permanently and 
totally disabled from work, there was no reasonable 
doubt that the damages exceeded the $ 250,000 
available under the primary policy). Consequently, 
damages may be reasonably clear to the primary 
insurer before they are reasonably clear to the 
excess insurer. 

10 The insurance company, despite the 
disputed evidence as to whether the plaintiff 
had been injured in the accident, still made a 
settlement offer of $ 20,000 in O'Leary-
Alison. Id. at 216. Therefore, the Appeals 
Court essentially found that the insurance 
company's offer was reasonable under the 
circumstances, since it did not need to 
consider whether the insurance company had 
an obligation to make an offer. 

Armed with these interpretations, this Court 
will now determine whether Zurich and/or AIGDC 
breached its statutory obligation "to effectuate 
prompt, fair and equitable settlements of claims in 
which liability has become reasonably clear." G.L.c. 
I76D, §3(9)0. 

Did Zurich Breach its Obligations as a Primary 
Insurer under G.L.c. I76D, §3(9)(9? 

In the instant case, it was [*49] reasonably 
clear by January 30, 2002, when Crawford, Zurich's 
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TPA, issued its First Full Formal Report, that 
Zalewski was negligent in causing Ms. Rhodes's 
injuries in the accident, that Ms. Rhodes was not 
comparatively negligent, and that Ms. Rhodes 
suffered catastrophic injuries from the accident. The 
scope of her damages, however, could not have 
been reasonably clear at least until August 13, 2003, 
when the Rhodes made their written settlement 
demand, which set forth the amount of medical 
expenses she had incurred. The calculation of the 
amount of medical expenses had gotten so confused 
that the Rhodes needed to delay the submission of 
this settlement demand until their attorneys could 
sort out this confusion and determine why the totals 
claimed by Ms. Rhodes's health insurer did not 
match the amount claimed in her medical bills. This 
confusion had caused the Rhodeses to declare in an 
answer to an interrogatory that her medical 
expenses exceeded $ 1 million when they totaled 
less than half that amount--$ 413,977.68--at the 
time of their settlement demand. In short, it was not 
even reasonably clear to plaintiffs' counsel how 
much Ms. Rhodes had incurred in medical bills 
until August [*50] 2002, and that calculation was 
the necessary starting point for any calculation of 
total damages. 

The life care plan for Ms. Rhodes's future 
medical needs comprised roughly $ 2.03 million of 
the roughly $ 2.8 million in special damages 
claimed by the Rhodeses in that demand letter. 
Zurich was not obliged to accept the life care plan 
estimates made by Rhodes's expert; it was entitled, 
as part of its due diligence in determining the 
amount of damages that were reasonably clear, to 
retain its own life care expert to prepare her own 
estimates and to analyze Rhodes's expert's life care 
plan. Since the Rhodes's life care plan was provided 
to the defense in mid-August, the slowest summer 
month of the year, Zurich acted with reasonable 
timeliness in obtaining Mattson's preliminary 
estimates from her life care plan on October 2, 
2003. From that estimate of roughly $ 1.49 million, 
it should have been reasonably clear that Ms. 
Rhodes's special damages alone, based solely on 
medical bills that were now in Zurich's possession 
and its own life care expert's preliminary estimate, 
totaled more than $ 1.9 million. Since there was no 
doubt that Ms. Rhodes had been rendered a 
paraplegic and that she and [*51] her family were  

entitled to substantial damages for pain and 
suffering and loss of consortium, it should have 
been reasonably clear by October 2, 2003 that the 
total damages incurred from the accident would far 
exceed the Zurich policy limits of $ 2 million. 

This does not mean, however, that by October 
2, 2003 it was reasonably clear that Zurich should 
tender its policy limits to AIGDC, GAF's excess 
insurer. While it was plain by then that Zalewski 
and DLS would be found negligent (Zalewski for 
his own negligence and DLS, as his employer, for 
its vicarious responsibility for his negligence), it 
had not yet been ascertained whether Zurich was 
the only primary insurer providing coverage for 
Zalewski's and DLS"s negligence. It was certainly 
reasonable for Zurich to seek to determine whether 
Zalewski and DLS had their own primary coverage, 
apart from the coverage GAF provided to them 
through its policy as additional insureds, and Zurich 
had 'retained coverage counsel in part to make this 
determination. While one would think that this 
question of coverage could have been resolved 
sooner, since Zurich was providing a defense for 
both Zalewski and DLS that was contingent upon 
their continued [*52] reasonable cooperation with 
Zurich, it was only on November 13, 2003 that 
Zurich obtained information on which it reasonably 
could rely--Crawford's transmittal letter reporting a 
conversation with DLS's attorney who stated that, 
because of an error by DLS's insurance agency, it 
had no primary coverage apart from Zurich's. 

Once Zurich had this information and reviewed 
the case evaluation it had sought from GAF's 
defense counsel, it should have been clear by mid-
November 2003 that: 

Zurich was the only primary insurer 
for the two defendants who certainly 
would be found liable--DLS and 
Zalewski; 

Zurich was the only primary 
insurer for another defendant, GAF; 

Penske may have had another 
primary insurer apart from Zurich, but 
it was not reasonably likely to be 
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found liable. While Penske may have 
been negligent in failing to maintain 
the brakes of Zalewski's tractor-trailer, 
there was no evidence that any 
deficiency in the brakes caused the 
accident. In addition, while Penske's 
ownership of the truck provided prima 
facie evidence under G.L.c. 231, §85A 
that Penske was legally responsible 
for Zalewski's conduct, which would 
have been sufficient to defeat a 
motion for summary judgment or 
directed [*53] verdict, the evidence 
would not likely have been strong 
enough to win at trial, since Penske 
simply leased the truck to GAF, who 
retained DLS to drive it. 

Professional Tree Service, a third-
party defendant, may have been liable 
for failing to post proper warning 
signs and its alleged negligence may 
have caused the accident, but its 
liability was less than reasonably 
certain. At that time, it was not clear 
how much insurance coverage 
Professional Tree Service had, but 
Zurich could quickly have determined 
that it held $ 1 million in primary 
coverage. 

On November 19, 2003, Fuell, Zurich's 
Complex Director in the case, declared at the 
conference call with defense counsel and AIGDC's 
Satriano that she did not have the authority herself 
to tender the $ 2 million policy limits but she was 
going to seek that authority. While Fuell did not 
orally inform Satriano at AIGDC that she had 
obtained the necessary authority and was tendering 
the full policy limits until her telephone call of 
January 23, 2004, it is plain that MGDC understood 
from the time of the November 19, 2003 conference 
call that Zurich was going to tender its policy limits 
and acted accordingly. At the meeting, Satriano 
asked [*54] for all relevant documents so that he 
could become fully informed regarding the claim 
and evaluate the $ 5 million settlement offer  

recommended by GAFs attorney. He also declared 
his intention to add an attorney representing 
AIGDC's interests to the GAF defense team in the 
litigation. 

The Rhodeses contend that Zurich's delay in 
tendering its policy limits violated its statutory 
obligation to "effectuate prompt . . . settlements of 
claimS in which liability has become reasonably 
clear." G.L.c. 176D, §3(9)0. Before considering 
what °prompt" means under this statute, this Court 
needs first to determine when Zurich actually 
tendered its policy limits. As noted earlier, Fuell 
verbally tendered to AIGDC the full policy limits in 
her telephone call to Satriano on January 23, 2004, 
but Satriano rejected the tender on two grounds: (1) 
he wanted it in writing; and (2) he wanted the 
writing to address whether Zurich was also 
tendering its defense obligation. It was the latter 
ground that delayed the written confirmation of 
Zurich's tender, since Fuell needed to determine 
from the policy language whether Zurich was going 
to continue to pay for the defense of the case. On 
February 13, 2004, she [*55] provided Satriano 
with written email confirmation that Zurich had 
tendered its policy limits and that AIGDC can rely 
upon that tender in making a settlement offer to the 
Rhodes, but the email also indicated that Fuell had 
not resolved whether the tender meant that Zurich 
no longer intended to pay for the insureds' defense 
of the case. Fuell did not send the formal letter of 
tender until March 29, 2004 and AIGDC rejected 
the tender because it disclaimed any continued 
obligation to pay for defense costs. Although this 
Court is not aware of any written correspondence 
from AIGDC accepting Zurich's tender after Zurich 
agreed on April 2, 2004 to continue to pay all 
defense costs, it is plain that AIGDC's acceptance 
of the tender commenced upon its receipt of 
Zurich's April 2 letter. 

This Court finds that, for all practical purposes 
regarding settlement of a civil action, Zurich 
effectively tendered its policy limits to AIGDC on 
January 23, 2004 with Fuell's verbal tender. From 
that telephone call, AIGDC knew that it effectively 
had Zurich's $ 2 million policy limits in its pocket 
to include in any settlement offer and that, from that 
moment, the obligation to make a settlement offer 
had shifted [*56] to AIGDC. It was reasonable for 
AIGDC to insist that Zurich clarify whether it was 
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seeking also to tender the defense obligation to 
AIGDC but AIGDC could not reasonably reject 
Zurich's tender of policy limits because of that 
ambiguity. If it could, the insurers' settlement 
obligation could stagnate in legal limbo, with the 
primary insurer trying to tender policy limits and 
the excess insurer rejecting the tender, leaving no 
insurer to make a reasonable settlement offer to the 
plaintiffs. Rather, AIGDC was obliged to accept the 
tender of policy limits and resolve separately the 
question of which insurer now had the obligation to 
pay defense costs. As noted earlier, if one looks at 
what AIGDC did rather than what it said, it is clear 
that it had accepted the tender of policy limits well 
before Zurich agreed to continue to pay defense 
costs on April 2, 2004, because it did not even 
invite Zurich to the meeting at GAF headquarters 
on March 4, 2004 to discuss legal strategy and 
settlement offers. 

The question then is whether Zurich's tender on 
January 23, 2004 was "prompt" within the meaning 
of G.L.c. 176D, §3(9)60. To be sure, Zurich had 
effectively completed its due diligence by the 
November [*57] 19, 2003 meeting and Fuell knew 
then that she was going to recommend that Zurich 
tender its full limits. However, in order to obtain 
authority for so large a tender, Fuell had to prepare 
a detailed BI Claim Report, which she did not 
complete until December 19, 2003. That Report 
then had to be reviewed by the approving officer 
and authorization given, which did not happen until 
January 22, 2004, in part because the person to 
whom the Report was addressed left Zurich at the 
end of December 2003. 

This Court notes that, in Hopkins, the Supreme 
Judicial Court effectively defined "prompt" to mean 
30 days after the plaintiff on December 29, 1994 
had sent the Chapter 93A letter demanding a 
settlement offer as required by G.L.c. 176D, 
§3(9)(1), even though the plaintiff had on October 
14, 1994 sent a settlement demand letter and 
liability was reasonably clear by the end of October 
1994. 434 Mass. at 559-60, 568. See G.L.c. 93A, 
§9(3) (requiring a plaintiff to make a written 
demand for relief at least 30 days before filing a 
Chapter 93A action). Here, Rhodes's attorney chose 
not to characterize their settlement demand on 
August 13, 2003 as a demand for a settlement offer 
under G.L.c. 176D, §3(9)09; [*58] indeed, no 

settlement offer was demanded under Chapter 93A 
until after the jury's verdict. Therefore, Fuell was 
under no statutory deadline when she sought 
approval of the tender and, as a result, Zurich 
lacked the urgency that would have been stimulated 
by such a deadline. 

To be sure, an insurer may breach its obligation 
to effectuate a prompt settlement of a claim without 
a Chapter 93A demand letter, but the absence of 
such a demand may affect the determination of 
whether the obligation of promptness was breached. 
For all practical purposes, the meaning of "prompt" 
must be understood in its context, since the failure 
to be "prompt" under G.L.c. 176D, §3(9)69 is itself 
an unfair act in violation of Chapter 93A. Viewed in 
that context, this Court does not find that Zurich's 
delay from November 19, 2003 to January 23, 2004 
violated its obligation to make a "prompt" tender. It 
is reasonable for an insurance company to require a 
tender as large as $ 2 million to be authorized at a 
high level in the company and it is equally 
reasonable to require that such a request be 
accompanied by a detailed written justification such 
as the BI Claim Report. It is reasonable to expect 
that suCh a written [*59] justification will require a 
signifieant amount of time to prepare and for the 
authorizing officer to consider, and it is reasonable 
to expect that the time needed will be greater when 
this work is being performed during the busy 
holiday season between Thanksgiving and New 
Year's Day. While this Court has no doubt that 
Zurich could have and should have provided the 
required authorization for the tender earlier than 
January 22, 2004, it does not find it to be an unfair 
act to have failed to do so. Therefore, this Court 
finds that Zurich acted with the promptness 
required under G.L.c. 176D, §3(9)(r) when it 
provided AIGDC with its verbal tender of policy 
limits qn January 23, 2004. 

This Court further finds that, even if Zurich had 
violated its duty to provide a prompt tender and was 
obliged to have furnished it within days of the 
November 19, 2003 conference call, the earlier 
tender would not in any way have affected either 
the timing or the amount of AIGDC's subsequent 
settlement offer. There is literally nothing that 
AIGDC would have done differently had Zurich's 
formal tender been provided during the November 
19, 2003 conference call. By the end of that 
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•onference call, Satriano understood [*60] that he 
was going to obtain Zurich's full $ 2 million tender, 
gathered all the documents he needed to take over 
the case, and announced his intention to bring in 
associate counsel. This Court recognizes that 
AIGDC had no "reason to examine or determine the 
extent of its liability" until Zurich, the primary 
insurer, "was prepared to address the possibility that 
the [plaintiffs] were entitled to its policy limits," 
Clegg, 424 Mass. at 421-22 n.8, but AIGDC 
certainly understood from the November 19 
conference call that it needed urgently to determine 
the reasonable extent of its liability. This Court also 
recognizes that AIGDC, as the excess insurer, had 
"no obligation or incentive to make an explicit 
commitment until the primary insurer has acted," id. 
at 422 n.8, and that Zurich did not furnish its 
authorized tender until January 23, 2004. AIGDC, 
however, after it received Zurich's tender, saw no 
urgency to make a settlement offer, and ultimately 
decided not to make a settlement offer until the 
mediation in August 2004. This Court is certain, 
based on the strategic posture AIGDC took in this 
action, that AIGDC would not have made a 
settlement offer prior to the mediation even if 
Zurich [*61] had made its tender on November 19 
itself. " 

11 The Rhodeses argue that, if they prove 
that Zurich failed to make a prompt tender of 
its policy limits, they are entitled to Chapter 
93A damages even if they failed to prove 
that Zurich's delay in furnishing its tender 
had any consequence on AIGDC's settlement 
conduct, citing Clegg. 

• In Clegg, the primary insurer failed to 
respond to the plaintiffs' various settlement 
offers, the earliest coming in September 
1991, until July 1992, and that settlement 
offer, which was less than policy limits, was 
found to be unreasonably low because it was 
reasonably clear that damages well exceeded 
the policy limits. 424 Mass. at 414-23. The 
primary insurer only offered its policy limits 
at the mediation in May 1994, just before the 
scheduled trial, and the excess insurer 
quickly agreed to add $ 425,000, allowing 
the case to settle at or around mediation for $ 

675,000. Id. at 416. The Supreme Judicial 
Court held that the plaintiffs were entitled to 
damages equal to "the interest lost on the 
money wrongfully , withheld by the insurer." 
Id. at 423. Justice O'Connor, in dissent, 
observed that the plaintiffs had failed to 
prove that they had been deprived of [*62] 
the use of settlement money for any period of 
time because they would not have been pa.id 
the tender of policy limits to the excess 
insurer and there was no evidence that the 
excess insurer would have settled the case 
earlier than the mediation if the primary 
insurer had tendered earlier. Id. at 428-29 
(Dissent, O'Connor, J.). The majority 
responded to Justice O'Connor's dissent with 
two separate and distinct arguments. First, 
the Court essentially declared that the 
plaintiff was not required to prove that the 
primary insurer's delay in providing a full 
tender delayed the ultimate settlement of the 
case. The Court wrote: 

If we were to follow the 
position taken by the dissent, 
when a primary insurer and an 
excess insurer both cover a 
claim, a primary insurer who 
subjects a party to improper 
delay would never be liable for 
the injuries caused by • such 
behavior, because there would 
always be some uncertainty as 
to what the excess insurer 
would have done if the primary 
insurer had behaved 
differently. We do not believe 
such a result comports with the 
language or intent of G.L.c. 
176D, §3(9), or G.L.c. 93A. 
The evidence regarding the 
excess insurer's readiness to 
pay, both as to timing and 
[*63] amount, must 
necessarily be indirect and 
inferential in a case such as 
this, since the excess insurer 
has no obligation or incentive 
to make an explicit 
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insurer's delay thereby caused the plaintiff 
the loss of use of the tendered money. 

This Court need not resolve whether the 
former or the latter holding was intended by 
the Supreme Judicial Court in Clegg because 
the Supreme Judicial Court subsequently 
made it clear in Hershenow v. Enterprise 
Rent-A-Car Company of Boston, Inc., that, to 
establish liability in a Chapter 93A action, 
the plaintiff must not only prove an unfair 
and deceptive act or practice but must also 
prove that the unfair act or practice "caused a 
loss." 445 Mass. 790, 798, 840 N.E.2d 526 
(2006). Therefore, even if the Supreme 
Judicial Court intended the former holding in 
Clegg, it repudiated that holding in 
Hershenow, and required the plaintiff [*65] 
to prove its loss, not merely assume it. 
Hershenow at 801-02 (finding that there is 
no per se injury under Chapter 93A). 

Therefore, this Court finds that Zurich did not 
violate its obligation under G.L.c. 176D, §3(9) to 
make a prompt tender of its full policy limits and, if 
it did, its delay did not cause the Rhodeses to suffer 
any injury or loss because the delay did not affect 
either the amount or timing of AIGDC's settlement 
offers. As a result, judgment shall enter for Zurich 
in this action. 

Did AIGDC Breach its Obligations as an 
Excess Insurer under G.L.c. 176D, §3(9)0? 

Before the November 19, 2003 conference call, 
as this Court earlier noted, AIGDC had no duty to 
"examine or determine the extent of its liability" 
because Zurich, the primary insurer, had not yet 
indicated that it was prepared to tender its policy 
limits. See Clegg, 424 Mass. at 421-22 n.8. Despite 
the absence of such a duty, AIGDC had recognized 
shortly after it received notice of the claim that, in 
view of the catastrophic injuries suffered by Ms. 
Rhodes, the tender would likely occur and AIGDC 
would then assume responsibility for the claim. 
Cognizant of that likelihood, it monitored the claim 
and reviewed the [*66] transmittals it received 
from Crawford. 

Once Fuell informed Satriano during that 
November 19, 2003 conference call that she 

commitment until the primary 
insurer has acted. If, as the 
dissent suggests, such evidence 
is insufficient, the injured party 
would never be able to recover 
damages in respect to the delay 
in receiving payment from 
either the excess insurer or the 
primary insurer. Primary 
insurers cannot avoid liability 
for their unfair settlement 
practices under G.L.c. 176D, 
§3(9), by pointing to the 
uncertainty surrounding a claim 
against an excess insurer, when 
that uncertainty stems from the 
primary insurer's own behavior 
and delay. 

Id. at 422 n.8. 

Second, the Court essentially declared 
that the trial judge had found that the priniary 
insurer's delay had caused the excess insurer 
to delay its final settlement offer, and thereby 
delayed the effectuation of the settlement. 
The Court noted, "The promptness of [the 
excess insurer's] settlement also supports the 
judge's inference that had [the primary 
insurer] offered its policy limits earlier, [the 
excess insurer] would have settled earlier 
too." Id. 

Therefore, it is not clear from ' Clegg 
whether the Supreme [*64] Judicial Court 
held that a plaintiff in a G.L.c. 176D action is 
entitled to the interest on the amount the 
primary insurer should have tendered from 
the date the tender should have occurred, 
even if there is no evidence that the plaintiff 
would have received the use of the tendered 
money if it had been timely tendered or 
whether it simply held that the trial judge had 
found that the excess insurer would have 
settled far earlier had the primary insurer 
promptly tendered, and that the primary 
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intended to seek Zurich's authorization to tender the 
policy limits, AIGDC was placed on notice that the 
tender was imminent and that it would soon assume 
responsibility for the Rhodeses' claim. Satriano 
acted appropriately during the conference call by 
asking for all the relevant documents regarding the 
claim so that he could knowledgeably examine the 
extent of A1GDC's liability regarding this claim. He 
also acted appropriately in retaining Conroy as 
associate counsel to ensure that there was an 
attorney on the GAF defense team whose judgment 
he respected and who would reliably protect 
AIGDC's interest in the litigation. 

As earlier noted, until Satriano obtained 
Zurich's verbal tender on January 23, 2004, 
AIGDC, as the excess insurer, had no duty to make 
any settlement offer to the Rhodeses. Id. However, 
once that tender was made, AIGDC assumed 
responsibility for and control over the Rhodes 
claim, including the responsibility to make a prompt 
and fair settlement offer. 

The evaluation regarding a fair settlement offer 
that AIGDC, as the excess insurer, needed to [*67] 
make was somewhat different from the evaluation 
of Zurich, the primary insurer. Since its policy 
limits were $ 2 million, Zurich simply needed to 
make four determinations: 

1. Was it reasonably clear that at least one of its 
insureds would be found liable? 

2. Did any of its insureds have other primary 
insurance that covered this loss? 

3. How much, if any, could the third-party 
defendant, Professional Tree Service, or its insurer 
be expected to contribute towards any settlement? 

4. Was it reasonably clear that the damages 
suffered by Ms. Rhodes, her husband, and her 
daughter exceeded the $ 2 million policy limits, 
plus any reasonably expected contribution from 
Professional Tree Service or its insurer? 

At the time Fuell made these determinations, it 
was nearly certain that Zalewski and DLS would be 
found negligent, and there was no evidence that 
these additional insureds had any other primary 
insurance. Fuell recognized that Professional Tree 
Service could be found liable for failing to provide  

adequate signage and, at the time, believed that it 
held $ 3 million in liability insurance (in fact, it 
held only $ 1 million in liability insurance). Fuell 
had no difficulty finding that, even with [*68] a 
reasonable contribution from Professional Tree 
Service, the Rhodes's reasonably clear damages far 
exceeded Zurich's $ 2 million policy limits. 

AIGDC, as the excess insurer, also needed to 
make four determinations regarding a fair 
settlement offer, but they differed slightly from 
Zurich's determinations: 

1. Was it reasonably clear that at least one of its 
insureds would be found liable? 

2. Did any of its insureds have other primary or 
excess insurance that covered this loss? 

3. How much, if any, could the third-party 
defendant, Professional Tree Service, or its insurer 
be expected to contribute towards any settlement? 

4. What amount of damages was relatively 
clear? 

By the time Zurich verbally tendered its limits 
on January 23, 2004, AIGDC had more than two 
months to evaluate the case. By this time, AIGDC 
should have known that no ME had yet been 
requested of Ms. Rhodes and that neither Ms. 
Rhodes nor Rebecca Rhodes had yet been deposed. 
Discovery in the case had closed on September 30, 
2003, but Pritzker earlier had orally agreed with 
GAF's attorney to make Ms. Rhodes and Rebecca 
Rhodes available for deposition after the discovery 
deadline if the defendants insisted upon their being 
deposed. [*69] This Court finds (as did the 
Rhodeses' expert at trial) that, as part of A1GDC's 
due diligence in determining whether damages were 
reasonably clear, it was appropriate for AIGDC to 
insist that Ms. Rhodes submit to an IME and that 
Ms. Rhodes and Rebecca Rhodes be deposed. An 
excess insurer, until the primary insurer tenders its 
policy limits, does not have the authority to 
influence the strategic decisions regarding 
discovery made by the insured's defense counsel. 
Therefore, upon Zurich's tender, it was appropriate 
for AIGDC to revisit those decisions and determine 
whether there was additional discovery that it 
believed necessary to determine whether liability 
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(here, the extent of damages) were reasonable clear. 
However, AIGDC could not delay its arrangements 
for the IME or these depositions in order to delay its 
obligation to make a prompt settlement offer, 
especially since discovery in the case had closed 
and it was scheduled for trial in September 2004. 

It appears that AIGDC had determined, at least 
by the March 4, 2004 meeting at GAF's 
headquarters, that it wished an IIVIE, because 
Conroy before the meeting had looked for and 
found a physiatrist to conduct that IME. Yet, 
AIGDC demonstrated [*70] no apparent urgency 
to schedule the IME; it was not conducted until July 
20, 2004, nearly the latest possible time for the ME 
to be conducted and for defense counsel to have the 
benefit of the 1ME report before the mediation on 
August 11. It is equally ,  clear that AIGDC had not 
determined by that meeting that the depositions of 
Ms. Rhodes and Rebecca Rhodes were necessary to 
determine whether damages were relatively clear 
because, although the matter was discussed, no 
decision was made at that meeting as to whether to 
depose them. The fact that AIGDC did not know 
whether it wished to depose these two parties even 
though more than three months had passed since it 
knew it would assume responsibility for this 
catastrophic claim demonstrates that AIGDC did 
not believe that their depositions were necessary to 
determine whether liability was reasonably clear. 
Rather, the reason to depose them was simply to 
gauge how credible they would be at trial, arid this 
reason was offset by the fear that deposing them 
would harden the plaintiffs' already tough position 
as to settlement. Indeed, AIGDC proceeded to 
mediation without having ever deposed Rebecca 
Rhodes. 

AIGDC also insisted that its attorneys [*711 
seek discovery of Ms. Rhodes's psychological 
records, which AIGDC argued was imperative 
before it could determine whether liability was 
relatively clear. This Court disagrees. G.L.c. I76D, 
§3(9) provides that a settlement offer need not be 
made until liability becomes "reasonably clear," it 
does not permit a settlement offer to be postponed 
until everything that may be relevant to damages 
has been uncovered. If a settlement offer is allowed 
to await the completion of any possible discovery 
that may be admissible at trial on the issue of 
damages based on the premise that liability is not  

reasonably clear until every bit of possible evidence 
has been located and scrutinized, then the obligation 
to give a prompt settlement offer would be rendered 
toothless. It was reasonably clear that Ms. Rhodes 
had been permanently rendered a paraplegic by the 
accident, that her life had been forever transformed, 
and that she was often depressed by how limited her 
life had become. While it may be relevant at trial 
that she had previously been treated by a 
psychologist for depression, such information could 
not materially change the extent of the pain and 
suffering arising from the accident. 

The fact [*721 of the matter is that AIGDC did 
not delay its settlement offer in order to conduct the 
IME or to depose Ms. Rhodes or to obtain Ms. 
Rhodes's psychological records; it delayed its 
settlement offer because it did not want to make any 
offer until mediation and it wanted, for strategic 
purposes, to wait until nearly the eve of trial to 
mediate the case. As a result, AIGDC did not make 
any settlement offer in this case until the mediation 
on August 11, 2004, almost exactly one year from 
the date that the Rhodeses made their settlement 
demand. The issue, then, is whether delaying the 
settlement offer this long satisfied AIGDC's duty 
under G.L.c. I76D, §3(9) to make a "prompt" 
settlement offer. 

This Court fmds that liability, including the 
extent of damages, in this case was reasonably clear 
by December 5, 2003, when the final version of the 
defense life care plan had been prepared by 
Mattson. By then, discovery had closed, all medical 
records had been produced, the plaintiffs had 
presented their detailed settlement demand, and the 
defense had their own life care plan to compare 
with that presented by the Rhodeses' life care plan 
expert. To be sure, more would be learned after that 
date regarding [*73] the progress of Ms. Rhodes's 
recovery, but that is always the case in a 
catastrophic injury that does not result in death. If 
an insurance company is entitled to find that 
liability is not reasonably clear until an end point 
has been reached regarding the defendant's 
recovery, then the obligation to make a prompt 
settlement offer would have no practical 
consequence in a catastrophic injury case because 
that end point is rarely reached before trial (unless 
the defendant dies before trial). 12  Therefore, 
liability was reasonably clear when Zurich tendered 
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its policy limits to AIGDC on January 23 ., 2004. As 
noted earlier, this Court would permit AIGDC to 
delay its settlement offer if, upon tender, it believed 
in good faith that an IME and the deposition of all 
plaintiffs was necessary for liability to be 
reasonably clear, but only if AIGDC made best 
efforts to -ensure that this additional discovery Was 
completed promptly. As also noted, it is plain that 
AIGDC made no such effort. 

12 	Indeed, because of a variety of 
complications that Ms. Rhodes suffered in 
2003 as a result of the accident that left her 
bedridden until October 2003 (bed sores and 
a broken leg), Ms. Rhodes did not begin her 
[*74] rehabilitation until at or around the 
time of the mediation. Therefore, there was 
no possibility of any end result from that 
rehabilitation becoming known until long 
after the trial had ended. Moreover, as a 
result of those complications, Ms. Rhodes's 
medical bills increased and, if anything, her 
long-term prognosis grew worse. Therefore, 
the passage of time in no way should have 
diminished AIGDC's estimation of Ms. 
Rhodes's damages. 

AIGDC, however, contends that the time was 
not yet ripe to make a settlement offer because there 
remained coverage issues that had yet to be 
resolved, including the extent of Professional Tree 
Service's policy limits. Pragmatically, it should not 
have taken long for AIGDC to ascertain from 
Professional Tree Service that its policy limits were 
only $ 1 million rather than the $ 3 million that 
Zurich understood. This Court finds that, while it 
was reasonable for AIGDC to examine these 
coverage issues before making a settlement offer, 
these efforts, too, need to be made with reasonable 
promptness, given that discovery had closed and 
that a substantial amount of time had passed since 
the plaintiffs' settlement offer. This Court finds that 
AIGDC made no reasonable [*75] effort to resolve 
promptly the outstanding coverage issues. 

This Court concludes that, even allowing a 
generous amount of time for AIGDC to become 
familiar with the claim, to obtain additional 
discovery it thought necessary to make liability  

reasonably clear, to resolve coverage dssues, and to 
obtain internal approval within AIGDC, AIGDC 
violated its duty to make a prompt settlement offer 
once liability was reasonably clear by failing to 
make a settlement offer by May 1, 2004. May 1 was 
roughly eight months after the plaintiffs' settlement 
demand, seven months after discovery had closed, 
more than five months after AIGDC knew that 
Zurich was to tender its policy limits, more than 
three months after Zurich's verbal tender of limits, 
two months after the meeting at GAF headquarters 
where GAF pressed for a settlement offer, one and a 
half months after GAF's coVerage attorney warned 
AIGDC that its failure to commence settlement 
negotiations constituted a breach of its obligations 
under G.L.c. 176D, §3(9), one month after the 
formal written tender and the pretrial conference, 
and a few weeks after Pritzker agreed to mediation 
based only on Zurich's settlement offer of policy 
limits. 

AIGDC's [*76] delay in making a prompt 
settlement offer cannot be justified by the 
magnitude of plaintiffs' settlement demand, which 
at that time was $ 19.5 million. "An insurer's 
statutory duty to make a prompt and fair settlement 
offer does not depend on the willingness of a 
claimant to accept such an offer." Hopkins, 434 
Mass. at 567. Nor can it be justified by Pritzker's 
supposed demand for a $ 5 million offer before 
entering into mediation. Not only did Pritzker never 
make such a demand, but AIGDC never even 
explored with Pritzker whether he would enter into 
mediation prior to a settlement demand, which he 
effectively did based upon Zurich's tender to him of 
its settlement limits. An insurer may delay its 
settlement offer until mediation only if it promptly 
arranges for mediation, so that the settlement offer 
made during mediation satisfies its obligation of 
promptness. 

Haying found that AIGDC breached its duty to 
make a prompt settlement offer once liability was 
reasonably clear, this Court now turns to the 
question of whether the settlement offer it 
ultimately made at mediation--$ 3.5 million--was a 
reasonable settlement offer to effectuate a fair 
settlement. This Court finds it was at the [*77] low 
end of the reasonable range of settlement offers. 
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AIGDC's Kelly provided Nitti with settlement 
authority to offer $ 3.75 million, which included 
Zurich's $ 2 million and assumed that Professional 
Tree Service would offer its policy limits of $ 1 
million. This Court finds the latter assumption 
reasonable, even though Professional Tree Service 
ultimately settled for only $ 550,000. While 
Professional Tree certainly had a triable case as to 
liability, in sharp contrast with Zalewski, DLS, and 
(with the amendment adding the claim under the 
federal motor carrier statute) GAF, it faced the 
likelihood of a judgment well above policy limits if 
it were found liable. AIGDC reasonably expected 
that Professional Tree Service, to avoid that 
possibility, would have pressured its insurer to 
furnish its policy limits if it needed to do so to settle 
the action. 

Nitti only offered $ 3.5 million of that $ 3.75 
million in authority, and this Court must evaluate 
the reasonableness of the offer in light of the 
amount actually offered, not the amount authorized 
to be offered. "The statute [G.L.c. 176D, §3 (9)] 
does not call for [a] defendant's final offer, but only 
one within the scope of reasonableness." [*781 
Bobick v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 439 
Mass. 652, 662, 790 NE.2d 653 (2003), quoting 
Forcucci v. United States Fid. & Guar. Co., 11 
F.3d 1, 2 (1st Cir.1993). 

In determining the reasonableness of that offer, 
this Court is mindful that it is truly determining 
whether the offer was so low that it constituted an 
unfair act under Chapter 93A. That is a difficult 
task when, as here, most of the damages are 
intangible, compensating Ms. Rhodes for her pain 
and suffering and her husband and daughter for 
their loss of consortium. In conducting this analysis, 
this Court must look to all the circumstances, 
including the reasonableness of the offer in relation 
to the injuries suffered by the plaintiffs and the 
reasonableness of the plaintiffs' demand. See Kohl 
v. Silver Lake Motors, Inc., 369 Mass. 795, 799- 
801, 343 N.E.2d 375 (1976) (settlement offer must 
consider injuries actually suffered by plaintiffs); 
Bobick 439 Mass. at 662 ("excessive demands on 
the part of a claimant . . . may be considered as part 
of the over-all circumstances affecting the amount 
that would qualify as a reasonable offer in 
response"). See also Clegg, 424 Mass. at 420 ("Our 
standard for examining the adequacy of an insurer's  

response to a demand [*79] for relief under G.L.c. 
93A, §9(3), is 'whether, in the circumstances, and in 
light of the complainant's demands, the offer is 
reasonable' "), quoting Calimlim v. Foreign Car 
Ctr., Inc., 392 Mass. 228, 234, 467 NE.2d 443 
(1984). 

This Court examines the reasonableness of 
AIGDC's final offer at mediation from two separate 
angles. First, the Court looks to the amount of 
special damages that would clearly be established at 
trial even if the jury credited the defense experts 
rather than the plaintiffs' experts. At the time of the 
mediation, relying on the outdated calculation of 
past medical expenses set forth in Rhodes's August 
13, 2003 settlement demand, Ms. Rhodes had 
incurred at least $ 413,977.68 in medical bills. The 
defense life care planner's final estimate of the cost 
of Ms. Rhodes's life care plan was $ 1,239,763. The 
defense had not challenged the settlement demand's 
estimate of $ 292,379 for the loss in household 
services or the out-of-pocket expenses incurred of $ 
83,984. Therefore, if the case had proceeded to trial 
as planned in September 2004, the defense could 
not reasonably have disputed that Ms. Rhodes's 
special damages were at least $ 2.03 million. 
AIGDC appears to have come to the [*80] same 
conclusion; AIGDC's Kelly, who set the offer, 
estimated the special damages to be $ 2 million. If 
the jury awarded only those special damages and 
did not pay a penny for pain and suffering or loss of 
consortium, those special damages alone, with 
common interest of 12 percent per annum from July 
12, 2002 (the date the complaint was filed), would 
have yielded a verdict of roughly $ 2.56 million. 
For that judgment to have reached the settlement 
offer of $ 4.5 million (including the $ 1 million 
anticipated contribution from Professional Tree 
Service), the jury would have had to award 
damages for pain and suffering and loss of 
consortium of roughly $ 1.54 million (which, with 
interest, would total $ 1.94 million). 

This Court then asks whether, if the jury had 
awarded the plaintiffs at trial $ 1.54 million in pain 
and suffering and loss of consortium damages, the 
trial judge would likely have found that award to be 
so unreasonably low that the plaintiffs were entitled 
to additur. While such an award would certainly be 
stingy, even in a county like Norfolk County which 
is generally viewed as a favorable venue by defense 
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counsel, this Court cannot say with confidence that 
a motion for [*811 additur in those circumstances 
would be more likely than not to prevail. Since this 
Court cannot conclude that such a verdict would be 
found so unreasonably low as to demand an additur, 
this Court cannot conclude that a settlement offer of 
this amount is so low as to be unreasonable. 

Alternatively, this Court considers the evidence 
offered by the insurance experts at trial who 
testified as to whether this offer fell within the 
reasonable range of settlement offers. This Court 
concurs with the defense expert, former Superior 
Court Judge Owen Todd, who testified that the 
AIGDC's settlement offer of $ 3.5 million was 
within the reasonable range, albeit at the low end of 
that range. In adopting his opinion, this Court 
considered the entirety of the circumstances, 
including the plaintiffs' unreasonably high 
settlement demands, the fact that a life care plan 
may be purchased at less net cost through a 
structured settlement with an annuity, and the 
historically low jury awards in Norfolk County. 

13 Having so found, this Court also finds 
that AIGDC's offer at the close of evidence 
at trial of $ 6 million which, with 
Professional Tree's $ 550,000, would have 
provided the Rhodeses with a total [*82] of 
$ 6.55 million was also within the range of 
reasonable offers. 

The issue the Court must now confront is 
whether AIGDC's breach of its duty to provide a 
prompt settlement offer by failing to make any 
settlement offer until August 11, 2004 caused the 
plaintiffs to suffer any damages. It is plain to this 
Court that the delay did not cause the plaintiffs any 
actual compensable damages. Mr. Rhodes testified 
that he and his family would not have accepted any 
offer less than $ 8 million, which is more than the $ 
6 million their own expert opined would have 
constituted the low range of a reasonable offer. 
Therefore, this Court is certain that, had AIGDC 
made a prompt reasonable settlement offer on or 
before May 1, 2004, even an offer that their own 
expert testified would have been reasonable, the 
Rhodeses would have rejected that offer. While all 
three members of the Rhodes family testified to the  

emotional distress they suffered from the prolonged 
litigation and Mr. and Ms. Rhodes testified to their 
anger at the defendants for failing to make a timely, 
reasonable offer, it is plain to this Court that their 
emotional distress would not have materially 
diminished had the defendants earlier [*83] made 
a settlement offer that their attorney would 
promptly have rejected. Nor would the costs they 
incurred from the litigation have been diminished if 
an earlier offer had been presented and turned 
down. Nor would the fmancial problems that the 
Rhodes family suffered from their savings having 
been depleted to pay the substantial costs of 
renovating their home to accommodate Ms. 
Rhodes's paraplegia and to pay the costs of the 
litigation in any way have been lessened from an 
earlier settlement offer that they would have 
rejected. In short, all of these problems--the 
emotional distress arising from the frustrations of 
litigation, the substantial costs of litigation, even in 
a contingent fee case, and the fear of financial ruin-- 
arose from the fact that the minimum settlement 
they were prepared to accept was well above the 
settlement that the defendants were prepared to 
offer or were required by Chapter 176D to offer. 

The plaintiffs respond that they need not prove 
that they would have accepted the settlement offer 
to prove that the failure to make a prompt 
settlement offer caused them damages, citing 
Hopkins. In Hopkins, the Supreme Judicial Court 
declared: 

The defendant argues that [*84] 
the judge erred in concluding that the 
plaintiff met her burden of proving 
that its unlawful conduct caused her to 
sustain any damages. The defendant 
points to the absence of any testimony 
or evidence from the plaintiff that she 
would have accepted an offer of $ 
400,000 in January 1995, combined 
with her rejection of subsequent offers 
in the same amount. These events, the 
defendant argues, demonstrate that 
there is "no causal nexus between [the 
defendant's] failure to make the $ 
400,000 offer. in January of 1995 and 
any interest which may have been lost 
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as a result of that failure." The 
defendant concludes that, "[w]ithout 
such a nexus, [the plaintiff] may only 
recover (at most) nominal damages." 
We disagree. 

General Laws c. 176D, §3(9)(1), 
and G.L.c. 93A, §9, together require 
an insurer such as the defendant 
promptly to put a fair and reasonable 
offer on the table when liability and 
damages become clear, either within 
the thirty-day period set forth in 
G.L.c. 93A, §9(3), or as soon 
thereafter as liability and damages 
make themselves apparent. The 
defendant concedes on appeal that its 
failure to effectuate a prompt and fair 
settlement of the plaintiffs claim 
violated G.L.c. 176D, §3(9)(/ 9. [*85] 
The defendant's violation caused 
injury to the plaintiff, see Leardi v. 
Brown, 394 Mass. 151, 159, 474 
N.E.2d 1094 (1985), quoting 
Restatement (Second) of Torts §7 
(1965) (injury in context of consumer 
protection legislation, such as G.L.c. 
93A, is the "invasion of any legally 
protected interest of another"), and, 
under G.L.c. 93A, §9, the plaintiff is 
"entitled to recover for all losses 
which were the foreseeable 
consequences of the defendant's unfair 
or deceptive act or practice." DiMarzo 
v. American Mut. Ins. Co., 389 Mass. 
85, 101, 449 N.E.2d 1189 (1983). 

We reject the defendant's 
contention that the plaintiff has not 
shown that she was adversely affected 
or injured by its conduct. The 
defendant's deliberate failure to take 
steps, as required by law, to effectuate 
a prompt and fair settlement in 
January 1995, when the liability of its 
insureds was clear, forced the plaintiff 
to institute litigation, and, in so doing, 
to incur the inevitable "costs and 
frustrations that are encountered when 
litigation must be instituted and no 
settlement is reached." Clegg v. 

Butler, 424 Mass. 413, 419, 676 
NE.2d 1134 (1997). An insurer's 
statutory duty to make a prompt and 
fair settlement offer does not depend 
on the willingness of a claimant to 
[*86] accept such an offer. See 
Metropolitan Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. 
Choukas, 47 Mass.App.Ct. 196, 200, 
711 N.E.2d 933 (1999). Accordingly, 
quantifying the damages for the injury 
incurred by the plaintiff as a result of 
the defendant's failure under G.L.c. 
176D, §3(9)0, does not turn on 
whether the plaintiff can show that 
she would have taken advantage of an 
earlier settlement opportunity. The so-
called causation factor entitles a 
plaintiff, like the plaintiff here, to 
recover interest on the loss of use of 
money that should have been, but was 
not, offered in accordance with G.L.c. 
176D, §3(9)0, if that sum is in fact 
included in the sum finally paid to the 
plaintiff by the insurer. It is this 
amount of money that has been 
wrongfully withheld from the 
plaintiff, and it is this sum on which 
the defendant must pay interest to 
remedy its wrongdoing. "This is 
precisely the type of damage we have 
described as appropriate[ ] . . . in an 
action . . . under XII c. 93A." Clegg 
v. Butler, supra, quoting Schwartz v. 
Rose, 418 Mass. 41, 48, 634 N.E.2d 
105 (1994). 

"The statutes at issue were 
enacted to encourage settlement of 
insurance claims . . . and discourage 
insurers from forcing claimants into 
unnecessary litigation to [*87] obtain 
relief' (citation omitted). Clegg v. 
Butler, supra. An insurer should not 
be permitted to benefit from its own 
bad faith, where, as occurred here, it 
violated G.L.c. 176D, §3(9)0, by 
intentionally failing to make a prompt, 
fair offer of settlement. The defendant 
could have avoided the imposition of 
damages by making a prompt and fair 
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offer of settlement that complied with 
G.L.c. I76D, §3(9)09, within thirty 
days of receiving the plaintiffs G.L.c. 
93A demand letter, as provided by 
G.L.c. 93A, §9(3) e[a]ny person 
receiving [a written demand for relief] 
who, within thirty days . . . makes a 
written tender of settlement which is 
rejected by the claimant may, in any 
subsequent action, file the written 
tender and an affidavit concerning its 
rejection and thereby limit any 
recovery to the relief tendered if the 
court finds that the relief tendered was 
reasonable in relation to the injury 
actually suffered by the petitioner"). 
Had such an offer been made, and 
rejected by the plaintiff, the burden 
would have been on the defendant to 
prove that the offer was reasonable. 
See Kohl v. Silver Lake Motors, Inc., 
369 Mass. 795, 799, 343 N.E.2d 375 
(1976). In circumstances such as this, 
when the defendant [*881 failed to 
make any offer at all, the plaintiff 
should not be required to show that 
she would have accepted a 
hypothetical settlement offer, had one 
been forthcoming. See Metropolitan 
Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Choukas, 
supra at 200. We considered a similar 
argument when deciding the Clegg 
case and rejected it. See Clegg v. 
Butler, supra at 428-429 (O'Connor, 

dissenting) (arguing that actual 
damages had not been proved, 
because, even though primary insurer 
[defendant] had unlawfiilly failed to 
offer prompt and fair settlement, 
plaintiffs had not shown that excess 
insurer subsequently would have 
made offer that was acceptable to 
them). 

We reject the defendant's 
contention that the plaintiff has not 
shown that she was adversely affected 
or injured by its conduct. The 
defendant's deliberate failure to take 
steps, as required by law, to effectuate  

a prompt and fair settlement in 
January 1995, when the liability of its 
insureds was clear, forced the plaintiff 
to institute litigation, and, in so doing, 
to incur the inevitable costs and 
frustrations that are encountered when 
litigation must be instituted and no 
settlement is reach 

Hopkins, 434 Mass. at 565-69 (footnotes omitted). 

While one [*89] can certainly see why the 
plaintiffs claim that Hopkins is determinative, this 
Court finds that it is not, for two reasons. First, the 
facts in Hopkins were materially different from 
those in the instant case. The Supreme Judicial 
Court in Hopkins, on those facts, appears to have 
found that the insurer's conduct caused actual 
damages because the Court recognized what it 
characterized as "the obvious rule that, in order to 
recover actual damages under G.L.c. 93A, §9, there 
must be a causal relationship between the alleged 
act and the claimed loss." Id. at. 567-68, n.17. In 
Hopkins, after having made her initial settlement 
offer but before filing suit, the plaintiff sent a 
Chapter 93A letter to the insurer demanding a 
settlement offer, and filed suit only after the insurer 
responded to that demand letter without making an 
offer of settlement. 434 Mass. at 559. When the 
insurer, belatedly but prior to trial, made a 
settlement offer of $ 400,000, the offer was 
accepted by the plaintiff. Id. 434 Mass. at 559-60. 
In finding that "[t]he defendant's deliberate failure 
to take steps, as required by law, to effectuate a 
prompt and fair settlement in January 1995, when 
the liability of its insureds [*90] was clear, forced 
the plaintiff to institute litigation, and, in so doing, 
to inair the inevitable costs and frustrations that are 
encountered when litigation must be instituted and 
no settlement is reached," id. at 567, quoting Clegg, 
424 Mass. at 419, the Supreme Judicial Court 
appears to have found that, if this reasonable offer 
had been made within 30 days of the Chapter 93A 
letter, as required, the plaintiff would have settled 
the case without filing suit. That is why the costs of 
the litigation can be said to have been caused by the 
insurer's failure to make a prompt settlement offer. 



Page 28 

24 Mass. L. Rep. 142; 2008 Mass. Super. LEXIS 169, * 

That is also why the Court found that the plaintiff 
had suffered damages in the form of lost interest--if 
the settlement offer had been made promptly after 
receipt of the Chapter 93A demand letter, the 
plaintiff would have accepted the offer and enjoyed 
the use of the $ 400,000 promptly thereafter, rather 
than having to wait, as she did, until the eve of trial 
to have use of that $ 400,000. See Hopkins at 567 
(interest was wrongfully withheld from plaintiff). 
Indeed, the Supreme Judicial Court expressly noted 
in Hopkins, "We need not decide in this case 
whether the same measure of damages would [*91] 
apply in a case where an insurer, having initially 
violated G.L.c. 176D, §3(9)( and G.L.c. 93A, §ss 2 
and 9, thereafter makes a fair and reasonable (but 
nevertheless tardy) offer of settlement, which is 
refused by a claimant." Id. at 567, n.16. The factual 
scenario expressly reserved by the Court in Hopkins 
is precisely the scenario presented to this Court. 14  

14 	This Court also recognizes that the 
Supreme Judicial Court in Bobick v. United 
States Fid. & Guar. Co. held that it was error 
for a Superior Court judge to grant summary 
judgment in a Chapter 176D/93A case based 
on the plaintiffs failure to prove that he 
would have been willing to accept a 
reasonable settlement offer at any time 
before trial. 439 Mass. at 662-63. The Bobick 
Court, however, simply cited Hopkins for its 
ruling, and did not provide any analysis of 
causation beyond that in Hopkins. Id. at 663. 
Moreover, this finding of error was dictum 
because the Court found that the settlement 
offer was reasonable as a matter of law, and 
therefore did not need to address the question 
of causation. Id. 

Second, to the extent that Hopkins can be 
understood to hold that a plaintiff is entitled to 
recover damages from an insurer [*92] for its 
failure to make a prompt settlement offer without 
proving that the plaintiff suffered any loss arising 
from that unfair act (because the plaintiff would 
have rejected the offer had it been timely made), 
Hopkins was effectively overruled by the Supreme 
Court's subsequent decision in Hershenow v. 
Enterprise Rent-A-Car Company of Boston, Inc., 
445 Mass. 790, 840 N.E.2d 526 (2006). As 

observed in note 11 supra, the Supreme Judicial 
Court in Hershenow held that, to establish liability 
in a Chapter 93A action, the plaintiff must not only 
prove an unfair and deceptive act or practice but 
must also prove that the unfair act or practice 
"caused a loss." 445 Mass. at 798 (2006) . The 
Court made clear that there is no such thing as a 
"per se injury" under Chapter 93A; "a plaintiff 
seeking a remedy under G.L.c. 93A, §9, must 
demonstrate that even a per se deception caused a 
loss." Id. Since there is a "required causal 
connection between the deceptive act and an 
adverse consequence or loss," id. at 800, and since 
there can be no adverse consequence or loss from 
the failure of an insurer to make a prompt and 
reasonable settlement offer if the plaintiff would 
have rejected that offer, Hershenow, although 
[*93] not an insurance case, must stand for the 
proposition that a plaintiff, to prevail on a Chapter 
93A/Chapter 176D claim, must prove not only that 
the insurer failed to make a prompt or reasonable 
settlement offer but also that, if it had, the plaintiff 
would have accepted that offer and settled the 
actual or threatened litigation. 

The instant case illustrates how foolish it would 
be to interpret Hopkins as permitting a finding of 
actual damages for an insurer's failure to make a 
prompt or reasonable settlement offer when the 
evidence decisively demonstrates that the plaintiff 
would not have accepted a reasonable settlement 
offer regardless of when it was offered. Under such 
an interpretation, the plaintiffs would be able to 
establish some actual damages even though they 
suffered none. Those modest actual damages, 
however, would be only the tip of the iceberg of 
what the insurer would be required to pay in the 
Chapter 93A action. In 1989, the Legislature 
amended G.L.c. 93A, §9(3) to add the italicized 
language quoted below: 

[I]f the court finds for the petitioner, 
recovery shall be in the amount of 
actual damages or twenty-five dollars, 
whichever is greater; or up to three 
but not less [*94] than two times 
such amount if the court finds that the 
use or employment of the act or 
practice was a willful or knowing 



Page 29 

24 Mass. L. Rep. 142; 2008 Mass. Super. LEXIS 169, * 

violation of said section two . . . For 
the purposes of this chapter, the 
amount of actual damages to be 
multiplied by the court shall be the 
amount of the judgment on all claims 
arising out of the same and 
underlying transaction or occurrence, 
regardless of the existence or 
nonexistence of insurance coverage 
available in payment of the claim. 

d.L.c. 93A, §9(3) (italics added). The Supreme 
Judicial Court and the Appeals Court have 
interpreted this amendment to mean that, if the 
plaintiff went to trial in the underlying case and 
obtained a judgment,% and if the plaintiff proves 
some actual damages arising from the insurer's 
violation of Chapter 176D and establishes that the 
violation was willful or knowing, the amount of 
damages to be doubled or trebled is not the actual 
damages but the amount of the underlying 
judgment. See, e.g., Clegg v. Butler, 424 Mass. at 
424; Kapp v. Arbella Mut. Ins. Co., 426 Mass. 683, 
685-86, 689 NE.2d 1347 (1998); Yeagle v. Aetna 
Cas. & Sur. Co., 42 Mass.App.Ct. 650, 655, 679 
NE.2d 248 (1997) (the 1989 amendment 
"threatened a bad faith defendant with 
multiplication of [*95] the amount of the judgment 
secured by the plaintiff on his basic claim--a total 
that might be many times over the interest factor" 
and that "exceeded the injury caused by the c. 93A 
violation"). As the Supreme Court declared in 
Clegg: 

The italicized portion of this statute 
was inserted by St. 1989, c. 580, §1, 
which was apparently enacted in 
response to cases such as Bertassi v. 
Allstate Ins. Co., 402 Mass. 366, 522 
N.E.2d 949 (1988); Trempe v. Aetna 
Cas. & Sur. Co., 20 Mass.App.Ct. 
448, 480 N.E.2d 670 (1985); and 
Wallace v. American Mfrs. Mut. Ins. 
Co., 22 Mass.App.Ct. 938, 494 N.E.2d 
35 (1986), which limited those 
damages subject to multiplication 
under c. 93A to loss of use damages,  

measured by the interest lost on the 
amount the insurer wrongfully failed 
to provide the claimant . . . This 
amendment greatly increased the 
potential liability of an insurer who 
wilfully, knowingly or in bad faith 
engages in unfair business practices. 

424 Mass. at 424. Therefore, in this case, if this 
Court, under Hopkins, were required to find that the 
plaintiffs suffered even nominal damages from 
being denied a prompt settlement offer that they 
certainly would have rejected, and if this Court 
were to find the violation willful or knowing (which 
[*96] it does) the plaintiffs would be entitled to 
receive, not merely those nominal damages and the 
reasonable attorneys fees they incurred in prevailing 
upon their Chapter 93A/176D claim, but also 
double or triple the amount of the judgment they 
received in the underlying personal injury case--that 
is, $ 22.6 million or $ 33.9 million. 

15 	This Court does find that AIGDC's 
failure to provide a prompt settlement offer 
was willful and knowing. AIGDC had been 
warned for months before May 1, 2004, by 
GAF, GAF's defense counsel, and GAF's 
coverage counsel, that it should make a 
settlement offer in response to the plaintiffs' 
August 13, 2003 settlement demand, but 
AIGDC failed to heed these warnings and 
decided to make no settlement offer until the 
mediation was conducted one month before 
trial. In short, as this Court earlier found, 
AIGDC did not delay its settlement offer to 
conduct the investigation needed to make 
liability reasonably clear; it delayed it 
because it thought it would be in a better 
strategic posture if the offer were postponed 
until the mediation and it did not wish the 
mediation to occur until trial was nearly 
imminent. 

The Legislature made clear, however, that these 
extraordinarily [*97] punitive damages were 
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limited to cases where there was, not only willful or 
knowing conduct, but also some actual damages. 
See Kapp, 426 Mass. at 685-86 (1998); Yeagle, 42 
Mass.App.Ct. at 652-56. The Legislature could have 
declared that the underlying judgment should be 
treated as actual damages, but it did not; it required 
proof of actual damages and used the amount of the 
underlying judgment only to calculate punitive 
damages. See id. 16  Since the plaintiff would suffer 
actual damages from lost interest only if the 
plaintiff would have accepted the earlier, reasonable 
settlement offer, the Legislature effectively limited 
both actual and the far greater punitive damages to 
those cases that would have settled (or settled 
earlier) had the insurer performed its duty to 
provide a prompt and reasonable settlement offer. 
See Kapp, 426 Mass. at 686 (1989 amendment 
"was aimed at the situation where a defendant 
insurer, acting in bad faith, failed to settle a claim 
reasonably, obliging the plaintiff to litigate 
unnecessarily"). In those cases where the plaintiff 
would have rejected even a reasonable settlement 
offer, then the insurer's failure to make a prompt 
and reasonable offer is not the [*981 reason why 
the case proceeded to trial. 

16 	In Kapp and Yeagle, the Supreme 
Judicial Court and the Appeals Court 
understood that the actual damages would 
generally be loss of use damages, that is, lost 
interest. In fact, if the case did not settle 
because of the absence of a reasonable 
settlement offer and proceeded to judgment, 
the plaintiff would have suffered loss of use 
damages only if the reasonable settlement 
offer should have been provided before the 
complaint was filed because the plaintiff 
would receive 12 percent per annum 
common interest on the amount of the 
judgment from the date the complaint was 
filed. The more likely form of actual 
damages would be "the 'costs and frustrations 
that are encountered when litigation must be 
instituted and no settlement is reached," 
including any attorneys fees or costs incurred 
by the plaintiff from having to proceed to 
trial. Clegg, 424 Mass. at 419. 

To allow a plaintiff to obtain actual and 
punitive damages when it would not have settled 
the case even with a reasonable settlement offer 
would actually discourage plaintiffs to settle, which 
was the opposite of what the Legislaturb intended 
when it enacted the 1989 amendment. The Supreme 
Judicial [*99] Court in Clegg observed: 

The multiple damages provided 
under c. 93A are punitive damages 
intended to penalize insurers who 
unreasonably and unfairly force 
claimants into litigation by wrongfully 
withholding insurance proceeds. As 
part of a statutory scheme meant to 
encourage out-of-court resolutions, 
the statute does not punish settling 
insurers by placing the entire 
settlement award at risk of 
multiplication. 

424 Mass. at 425. Just as it takes "two to tango," it 
also takes two to settle a case. The punitive damage 
provision is plainly meant to pressure insurers to 
make reasonable settlement offers, lest the plaintiff 
be forced into a trial that he otherwise would have 
settled. If the plaintiff, however, could win punitive 
damages regardless of whether he would have 
accepted a reasonable offer, then a smart plaintiff 
(or a plaintiff intelligently represented), once he 
recognized that the insurer had failed to make a 
prompt or reasonable offer, would choose not to 
settle the case and proceed to trial, even if the 
insurer later made a reasonable settlement offer, 
because the plaintiff could obtain punitive damages 
of double or treble the underlying judgment only if 
he proceeded to judgment [*100] and did not settle 
or arbitrate the case. See Clegg, 424 Mass. at 424- 
25 (punitive damages of double or treble the 
underlying judgment are available only when 
underlying case proceeds to judgment, not if it is 
resolved through settlement or arbitration). 

Therefore, this Court finds that, since it is plain 
that the Rhodeses would not have settled this case 
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before trial even if AIGDC had made a prompt and 
reasonable settlement offer (even the offer its own 
expert declared reasonable), the Rhodeses have 
failed to prove the required element of causation-- 
that AIGDC's failure to make a prompt settlement 
offer before trial caused them any actual damages. 
Since the Rhodeses have suffered no actual 
damages from AIGDC's breach of G.L.c. 176D, 
§3(9)0, they are not entitled to an award of either 
actual or punitive damages. 

The final issue this Court must address is 
whether AIGDC breached its obligation to provide 
a reasonable settlement offer after trial. As noted 
earlier, the total amount due under the September 
28, 2004 judgment was roughly $ 11.3 million, and 
that amount was increasing at a rate of 12 percent 
per year as a result of post-judgment interest. An 
insurer's duty to settle a case [*101] does not end 
with the judgment, unless the insurer promptly pays 
the judgment. When the insurer, as here, causes a 
notice of appeal to be filed, the insurer continues to 
have a duty to settle what is now the appellate 
litigation. While the standard under G.L.c. 176D, 
§3(9)(f) remains the same after judgment--the 
insurer must still provide a prompt and fair offer of 
settlement once liability has become reasonably 
clear--the existence of the judgment should change 
the insurer's evaluation of what constitutes a fair 
offer. Pragmatically, assuming the policy limits are 
sufficient, the insurer will be obliged to pay the 
judgment, with post-judgment interest, unless the 
insured defendant prevails in overturning the 
verdict on appeal. Therefore, the questions that 
need to be considered in evaluating the fairness of 
the insurer's offer include: 

What is the likelihood that the appeal will 
succeed? 

If it does succeed, is the result likely 
to be a new trial, dismissal of the 
claim, or a reduction in the amount of 
the judgment? 

If the appeal obtains a new trial, 
what is the likelihood that the 
defendant will prevail at this new 
trial? If the plaintiff were to prevail,  

what is the likelihood that [*102] the 
damages found by the jury will differ 
greatly from those found by the jury at 
the first trial? 

If AIGDC asked itself these questions, which it 
should have, it would have been apparent that none 
of the answers bode well for AIGDC. The appeal 
rested on unusually feeble arguments--the trial 
court's denial of the defendants' motion for 
remittitur and its denial of the defendants' motion 
for discovery of Ms. Rhodes's psychological 
records. In light of Ms. Rhodes's paraplegia and the 
extent to which it irrevocably diminished her life 
and that of her husband and daughter, the likelihood 
that an appellate court would find that the trial 
judge abused her discretion by denying the 
defendants' motion for remittitur is microscopic. 
The likelihood that an appellate court would find 
that the trial judge abused her discretion by denying 
the defendants' motions for disclosure of Ms. 
Rhodes's psychological records is less fanciful than 
with the denial of the remittitur but reasonably 
should still be recognized as minimal. The 
defendants' motion for disclosure of these records 
was filed long after discovery had closed. For that 
reason alone, its denial was well within the 
discretion of the trial [*103] judge. Moreover, the 
plaintiffs argued that Ms. Rhodes intended to testify 
only to "garden variety" emotional distress, and did 
not intend to offer psychological testimony that the 
accident caused Ms. Rhodes to suffer from a 
psychiatric disorder. It was well within the Court's 
discretion to deny the privileged records based on 
this representation. AIGDC, according to Nitti's 
internal request for AIGDC approval to prosecute 
an appeal, apparently believed that Ms. Rhodes's 
testimony at trial about her pre-existing bipolar 
disorder required disclosure of these records. It is 
not clear from this record whether defense counsel 
objected to this testimony or argued at trial that it 
opened the door to disclosure of her psychological 
records but, assuming the defendants preserved 
their rights on appeal, there is no reason to believe 
that this testimony unfairly prejudiced the jury in 
any way that would have affected its verdict. Nitti 
acknowledged that this testimony was to her pre- 
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existing bipolar disorder; he does not contend that 
she testified that the accident caused her bipolar 
disorder. 

Moreover, even if the Appeals Court were to 
have found that the trial judge abused her discretion 
by [*104] denying discovery of Ms. Rhodes's 
psychological records, the best that AIGDC could 
do is obtain a new trial as to damages, since the 
AIGDC-insured defendants had already stipulated 
to liability. Apart from selecting a different juiy, 
there was no reason for AIGDC to believe that a 
second trial would go any better for it than the first. 
However, what is certain is that the prejudgment 
interest on any verdict would be considerably 
greater. It would likely take at least two years for 
the appeals process to conclude and a new trial to 
be conducted, so the judgment would likely be 
increased by 50 percent to account for prejudgment 
interest rather than the roughly 25 percent increase 
for prejudgment interest in the original judgment. 

In view of all these factors, AIGDC's offer of $ 
7.0 million on December 17, 2004 in response to 
the plaintiffs' Chapter 93A demand letter, which 
included Zurich's $ 2 million and was roughly 60 
percent of the amount then owed under the 
judgment, was not only unreasonable, but insulting. 
' 7 No reasonable insurer could have concluded that a 
40 percent discount of the judgment was reasonable 
in view of AIGDC's meager chance of prevailing on 
appeal. When one considers [*105] that AIGDC 
also required release of the plaintiffs' claims under 
Chapters 93A and 176D, the offer becomes even 
more ridiculous. This Court fmds that AIGDC did 
precisely what Chapter 176D was intended to 
prevent--attempt to bully the plaintiffs into 
accepting an unreasonably low settlement rather 
than wait the roughly two years for their appeal to 
conclude and the judgment to be paid. See R.W. 
Granger & Sons, Inc. v. J&S Insulation, Inc., 435 
Mass. 66, 77, 754 N.E.2d 668 (2001) (G.L.c. 176D, 
§3(9)(g) "expresses a legislative purpose to penalize 
the practice of 'low balling,' i.e. offering much less 
than a case is worth in a situation where liability is 
either clear or highly likely"), quoting Guity v. 
Commerce Ins. Co., 36 Mass.App.Ct. 339, 343, 631 
N.E.2d 75 (1994). 

17 The roughly $ 11.3 million judgment 
issued on September 28, 2004 increased by 
one percent per month as a result of post-
judgment common interest. Therefore, with 2 
1/2 months having passed since the 
judgment, the amount due under the 
judgment by December 17, 2004 was 
roughly $ 11.6 million. 

In contrast with AIGDC's failure before trial to 
provide a prompt offer of settlement, it is plain from 
the facts of this case that, if a reasonable offer of 
settlement [*106] had been made on December 17, 
2004, it would have resulted in settlement of the 
case and the voluntary dismissal of the appeal 
because the case did settle in June 2005 once a 
reasonable settlement was proffered. At that time, 
AIGDC finally agreed to pay the Rhodeses $ 8.965 
million, in three installments, not including the 
roughly $ 2.32 million that Zurich had already paid 
to the Rhodeses on December 22, 2004 and not 
including any release of the plaintiffs' right to file 
the instant lawsuit. Since a prompt, reasonable post-
judgment offer would have resulted in a settlement, 
the plaintiffs are able to prove so-called "loss of 
use" damages arising from AIGDC's post-judgment 
breach of its obligation under G.L.c. 176D, 
§3(9)(g), that is, the interest the plaintiffs would 
have earned on this money had the settlement been 
reached in December 2004 rather than June 2005. 
See Hopkins, 434 Mass. at 567 ("The so-called 
causation factor entitles a plaintiff . . . to recover 
interest on the loss of use of money that should 
have been, but was not, offered in accordance with 
G.L.c. 176D, §3(9)0, if that sum is in fact included 
in the sum finally paid to the plaintiff by the 
insurer"). This Court [*107] finds that, if the 
reasonable offer ultimately made by AIGDC on or 
about June 2, 2005 had been made on December 17, 
2004, it is more likely than not that a settlement 
would have been reached by January 2, 2005 rather 
than June 2, 2005, and the first of three installment 
payments would have been paid five months 
earlier--on February 5, 2005 rather than July 5. 
Measuring loss of use damages at the post-
judgment rate of interest of one percent per month, 
A.IGDC's unreasonable delay in making a 
reasonable settlement offer cost the Rhodeses $ 
448,250. '" 
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18 This Court calculated the interest by 
multiplying the amount AIGDC ultimately 
offered ($ 8.965 million) by .05. This Court 
did not include the amount paid by Zurich on 
December 22, 2004 in this calculation, which 
included all post-judgment interest through 
that date. 

This Court does not find that the plaintiffs, on 
this record, have established any damages beyond 
"loss of use" damages. There is not sufficient 
evidence of emotional distress arising from these 
unreasonably low post-judgment offers to award 
emotional distress damages. The Supreme Judicial 
Court requires that a plaintiff satisfy the elements of 
an intentional infliction of [*108] emotional 
distress claim in . order to establish emotional 
distress damages in a Chapter 93A case. Haddad v. 
Gonzalez 410 Mass. 855, 576 N.E.2d 658 (1991). 
This Court, while it finds AIGDC's conduct to be 
knowing and willful, does not find it be "extreme 
and outrageous." See id. at 871. Nor does this Court 
find the defendants' emotional distress to be 
sufficiently "severe" during the post-judgment 
period to warrant damages, if only because Zurich's 
payment of $ 2.32 million on December 22, 2004 
alleviated the plaintiffs' immediate financial 
distress. See id. 

The Rhodeses argue that, when an insurer 
breaches its obligation to make a prompt and 
reasonable offer of settlement, the Supreme Judicial 
Court has suggested that a plaintiff is entitled to 
compensation for the "costs and frustrations that are 
encountered when litigation must be instituted and 
no settlement is reached." Clegg, 424 Mass. at 419. 
See also Hopkins, 434 Mass. at 567 (insurer, by 
forcing the plaintiff to institute litigation, forced the 
plaintiffs "to incur the inevitable 'costs and 
frustrations that are encountered when litigation 
must be instituted and no settlement is reached' "), 
quoting Clegg, 424 Mass. at 419. This Court agrees 
[*109] that the financial costs of litigation that the 
plaintiff was forced to incur by the insurer's failure 
to comply with its obligations under G.L.c. 176D 
are compensable under Chapter 93A. However, the 
plaintiffs did not offer any evidence as to any costs 
of litigation the Rhodeses incurred after December 
2004, so this Court will not award any damages for 
such costs. This Court does not agree that the 
emotional costs of litigation--the so-called  

"frustrations" of litigation--are compensable unless 
those frustrations rise to the level required for 
recovery of damages under an intentional infliction 
of emotional distress claim. While the Supreme 
Judicial Court in Clegg and Hopkins certainly 
acknowledged that litigation carries "frustrations" 
with it, the damages in both cases were limited to 
"loss of use" damages, not emotional distress 
damages. Clegg, 424 Mass. at 425; Hopkins, 434 
Mass. at 560, 567. 

This Court further finds that AIGDC's $ 7.0 
million settlement offer, including Zurich's $ 2 
million and including a release of the plaintiffs' 
claims under Chapters 176D and 93A, made on 
December 17, 2004 and repeated in writing on 
March 18, 2005, was not only unreasonably low but 
also constituted [*110] a willful and knowing 
violation of G.L.c. 176D, §3(9)(g). This Court finds 
that double, rather than treble, damages are 
appropriate here only because AIGDC later came to 
its senses and made a reasonable post-judgment 
offer before the appellate litigation began in earnest. 

The fmal issue this Court needs to confront in 
this legal odyssey is whether the amount doubled is 
the actual damages or the amount of the judgment. 
This Court finds that the appropriate amount 
doubled is the actual damages. This Court 
understands why the Legislature in enacting the 
1989 Amendment to G.L.c. 93A, §9(3) would wish 
to punish an insurer who, by its willful or knowing 
failure to make a prompt and fair settlement offer, 
forces a litigant to proceed to trial to obtain a 
reasonable judgment. In such cases, the Legislature 
authorized the doubling or trebling of the 
underlying judgment to deter insurers from 
engaging in such unfair conduct. However, when 
the insurer's failure to make a prompt and fair 
settlement offer occurs after the issuance of the 
judgment, it makes no sense to multiply the 
judgment because the insurer's conduct did not 
force the trial that yielded that judgment. It may 
arguably be appropriate [*111] to multiply the 
post-appeal judgment if the insurer's failure to make 
a prompt and fair post-judgment settlement offer 
forces the litigant to litigate the ftill appellate 
process but that did not happen here--AIGDC made 
a fair settlement offer and the case settled before 
any appellate briefs .were filed. Consequently, this 
post-judgment violation of Chapter 176D is 



Page 34 

24 Mass. L. Rep. 142; 2008 Mass. Super. LEXIS 169, * 

comparable to the pre-trial violation of Chapter 
176D in which the insurer belatedly makes a fair 
settlement offer and the case settles before trial 
(albeit later than it should have). In such cases, the 
Supreme Judicial Court has declared that the 1989 
Amendment to G.L.c. 93A, § 9(3) does not apply, 
because it applies only to cases in which the 
insurer's conduct forces the plaintiff to proceed to 
trial to obtain a judgment, not to cases resolved by 
settlement or arbitration. See Clegg, 424 Mass. 424- 

25. 

Consequently, this Court finds that AIGDC is 
liable only for double the actual "loss of use" 
damages of $ 448,250, which totals $ 896,500, plus 
the Rhodeses' reasonable attorneys fees and costs 
incurred in prosecuting this Chapter 93A action. 

ORDER 

For the reasons detailed above, this Court 
ORDERS that: 

1. This Court finds that [*112] Zurich did not 
violate its duty as the primary insurer under G.L.c. 
I76D, §3(9)(0 "to effectuate prompt, fair and 
equitable settlements of claims in which liability 
has become reasonably clear." G.L.c. 176D, 
§3(9)(0. When final judgment ultimately enters in 
this case, judgment shall enter in favor of the 
defendant Zurich, with statutory costs only. 

2. This Court finds that National Union and 
AIGDC, prior to the issuance of the final judgment, 
violated their duty as the excess insurer under 
G.L.c. I76D, §3(9)(O "to effectuate prompt . . . 
settlements of claims in which liability has become 
reasonably clear," G.L.c. I76D, §3(9)0), but their 
violation did not cause the plaintiffs to suffer any 
actual damages. 

3. This Court finds that National Union and 
AIGDC, after the issuance of the final judgment,  

violated their duty as the excess insurer under 
G.L.c. 176D, §3(9)69 "to effectuate prompt, fair and 
equitable settlements of claims in which liability 
has become reasonably clear." G.L.c. 176D, 
§3(9)(9. This Court finds that the actual damages 
caused 'by this violation are limited to "loss of use" 
damages in the amount of $ 448,250. 

4. This Court finds that the violation found in 
paragraph [*113] 3 supra was willful and 
knowing, and that doubling the amount of actual 
damages is an appropriate punitive award for such 
violation. Therefore, this Court orders that National 
Union and AIGDC, jointly and severally, shall pay 
the plaintiffs $ 896,500 in actual and punitive 
damages. 

5. This Court finds, under G.L.c. 93A, §9(4), 
that National Union and AIGDC shall also pay to 
the plaintiffs the reasonable attorneys fees and costs 
incurred in prosecuting this action against National 
Union and AIGDC. No later than June 27, 2008, the 
plaintiffs shall serve their application for reasonable 
attorneys fees and costs, supported by appropriate 
affidavits and documentation. No later than July 25, 
2008, National Union and AIGDC shall serve any 
opposition to the plaintiffs' application, and the 
application and opposition will be filed forthwith. A 
hearing regarding the application for attorneys fees 
shall be conducted on July 30, 2008 at 2:00 p.m. ' 9  

19 This Court will change this hearing date 
if it interferes with any counsel's trial or 
vacation schedule. 

Ralph D. Gants 

Justice of the Superior Court 

DATED: June 3, 2008 
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